UNIFIED THEORY ON V-STATES STRUCTURES FOR ACTIVE SCALAR EQUATIONS

TAOUFIK HMIDI, LIUTANG XUE, AND ZHILONG XUE

ABSTRACT. This paper revolves around the existence of time-periodic solutions close to Rankine vortices for nonlinear transport equations with completely monotone kernels. This allows to unify various results on this topic related to geophysical flows. A key ingredient is a new factorization formula for the spectrum using a universal function. Many properties of this function will be explored and used to track the spectrum distribution, which is needed in part to implement the bifurcation theory. As a by-product we get global in time solutions with singular kernels near the radial equilibrium.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Time periodic patches and linearization	7
2.1. Boundary equation	7
2.2. Linearization	8
2.3. Spectrum factorization	9
3. Analysis of the universal function ϕ_n	10
3.1. Comparison theorem	10
3.2. Positivity and monotonicity of ϕ_n	11
3.3. Asymptotic structure of ϕ_n	12
3.4. The decay rate of $\phi_n - \phi_{n+1}$	15
3.5. Spectrum convexity	19
4. Proof of the main theorems	20
4.1. Strong regularity	21
4.2. Spectral study	28
5. Applications to geophyscial flows	31
5.1. 2D Euler equation in the whole space	31
5.2. gSQG equation in the whole space	32
5.3. QGSW equation in the whole space	34
5.4. Euler- α equation in the whole space	36
5.5. 2D Euler equation in the unit disc	36
5.6. gSQG equation in the unit disc	37
5.7. QGSW equation in the unit disc	38
6. Tools	39
6.1. Completely monotone functions	40
6.2. Boundedness property of some operators on the torus	42
6.3. Bessel functions and Hankel transform	44
6.4. Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem	45
References	46

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 35Q35, 35Q86, 76U05, 35B32, 35P30.

Key words and phrases. V-states, active scalar equations, geophysical flows, completely monotone kernels, bifurcation theory.

The authors have been partially supported by National Key Research and Development Program of China (No. 2020YFA0712900). T. Hmidi has been supported by Tamkeen under the NYU Abu Dhabi Research Institute grant. L. Xue has been supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 12271045, 11771043).

1. INTRODUCTION

In this paper we consider the Cauchy problem of the following two-dimensional (abbr. 2D) active scalar equation

(1.1)
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \omega + (v \cdot \nabla)\omega = 0, & (t, \mathbf{x}) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbf{D}, \\ v = \nabla^{\perp} \psi, & (t, \mathbf{x}) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbf{D}, \\ \omega(0, \mathbf{x}) = \omega_0(\mathbf{x}), & \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{D}, \end{cases}$$

where **D** is either the whole space \mathbb{R}^2 or the unit disc \mathbb{D} , $\nabla^{\perp} = (\partial_2, -\partial_1)$, $v = (v_1, v_2)$ refers to the velocity field, ω is a scalar field understood as vorticity or temperature or buoyancy of the fluid, and the stream function ψ is prescribed through the following relation

(1.2)
$$\psi(\mathbf{x}) = \int_{\mathbf{D}} K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \omega(\mathbf{y}) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{y}.$$

Hereafter we identify the complex plane \mathbb{C} with \mathbb{R}^2 . We also assume some symmetry conditions on the kernel K, through

(1.3)
$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}), \quad K(\bar{\mathbf{x}}, \bar{\mathbf{y}}) = K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}),$$

with $\bar{\mathbf{x}} \triangleq (x_1, -x_2)$ the reflection of $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2)$, and

(1.4)
$$K(e^{i\theta}\mathbf{x}, e^{i\theta}\mathbf{y}) = K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}), \quad \theta \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then $\omega_0(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{1}_{b\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{x}), b > 0$ ($b\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbf{D}$) is a stationary solution for the equation (1.1)-(1.2). By taking different forms of the kernel K, the equation (1.1)-(1.2) includes several important hydrodynamic models as special cases.

 \triangleright Case $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{R}^2$,

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|, \text{ that is, } \psi(\mathbf{x}) = (-\Delta)^{-1} \omega(\mathbf{x}),$$

(1.1)-(1.2) becomes the 2D Euler equation in the vorticity form, which describes the motion of a 2D inviscid incompressible fluid and is a fundamental model in fluid dynamics.

 \triangleright Case $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{R}^2$,

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = c_{\beta} |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|^{-\beta}, \ \beta \in (0, 2), \text{ that is, } \psi(\mathbf{x}) = (-\Delta)^{-1 + \frac{\beta}{2}} \omega(\mathbf{x}),$$

with $c_{\beta} \triangleq \frac{\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2})}{\pi 2^{2-\beta}\Gamma(1-\frac{\beta}{2})}$, (1.1)-(1.2) is the inviscid generalized surface quasi-geostrophic (abbr. gSQG) equation. In particular, for $\beta = 1$, it is the surface quasi-geostrophic (abbr. SQG) equation which is a simplified model to track the atmospheric circulation near the the tropopause [50] and the ocean dynamics in the upper layers [68]. This model in the range $0 < \beta < 1$ was introduced in [17] as an interpolation between the 2D Euler equation and the SQG equation. \triangleright Case $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{R}^2$,

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \mathbf{K}_0(\varepsilon |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|), \ \varepsilon > 0, \quad \text{that is,} \quad \psi(\mathbf{x}) = (-\Delta + \varepsilon^2)^{-1} \omega(\mathbf{x}),$$

with \mathbf{K}_0 the modified Bessel function (see Subsection 6.3), (1.1)-(1.2) is the quasi-geostrophic shallow water (abbr. QGSW) equation. This model is derived asymptotically from the rotating shallow water equations in the limit of fast rotation and small variation of free surface [86]. The parameter ε is known as the inverse 'Rossby deformation length', and small ε physically corresponds to a nearly-rigid free surface.

 \triangleright Case $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{D}$, consider the kernel

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log \left(\frac{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|}{\left| 1 - \overline{\mathbf{x}} \mathbf{y} \right|} \right),$$

which describes the Green function associated with the spectral Laplace operator $-\Delta$ in the unit disc \mathbb{D} with Dirichlet boundary condition, and (1.1)-(1.2) becomes the 2D Euler equation (in vorticity form) in the unit disc.

Besides these examples, we refer to Section 5 for more active scalar equations (1.1)-(1.2).

Owing to their substantial physical relevance and formal simplicity, active scalar equations (1.1)-(1.2) have garnered considerable attention over the past decades. Significant progress has been achieved across multiple fronts. The global well-posedness of classical solutions for 2D Euler equation in the whole space \mathbb{R}^2 or in any smooth bounded domain **D** is well-known for a long time, see for instance [74], while it is still an open problem for the gSQG equation with $\beta \in (0, 2)$. As to the local well-posedness issue in the framework of Sobolev spaces, it was explored in [13] for the whole space and in [15] for smooth bounded domains. On the other hand, the L^2 -weak solutions for gSQG equation are known to exist globally in time, see [80, 73, 69] for \mathbb{R}^2 and [16, 76] for smooth bounded domains. Recently, their non-uniqueness aspect in the plane has been investigated in [8, 59].

Another significant class of solutions extensively studied in the literature involves the *patch* solutions, which are solutions to (1.1)-(1.2) with initial data in the form of the characteristic function of a bounded domain D, that is, $\omega_0(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{1}_D(\mathbf{x})$. According to Yudovich [88], the vorticity patch solution for 2D Euler equation in whole space is globally well-defined keeping during the motion the form of the patch structure. The patch problem initiated in 1980s revolves around the regularity persistence of the boundary. It aims to determine whether the initial regularity, for instance of type $C^{k,\gamma}$ with $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $0 < \gamma < 1$, can persist for all time. This problem was successfully tackled by Chemin [14], see also Bertozzi and Constantin [6] for another proof. Similar results in half plane or within smooth bounded domain were also obtained in [26, 62, 61]. The situation turns out to be more involved for gSQG equation with $\beta \in (0, 2)$. Here, only local-in-time persistence in Sobolev spaces has been established as proved in [13, 29, 81]. In this case, some numerical experiments show strong evidence for the finite-time singularity formation, see [17, 84, 85]. Finite-time singularity results with multi-signed patches in half plane in various range of β has been accomplished by Kiselev et al [62, 63] and also [30]. Very recently, ill-posedness results in various Hölder and Sobolev spaces, associated with the boundary patches or to the initial data, have been established in [18, 19, 64, 65].

The main goal of this paper is to construct time periodic solutions in the patch form for active scalar equations (1.1)-(1.2) with a general kernel form K that will cover most of the equations arising in geophysical flows. This type of patch solutions are commonly known as *V*-states, or relative equilibria or rotating patches. Their shape is not altered during the motion and can be described through a rigid body transformation. By identifying \mathbb{R}^2 with the complex plane \mathbb{C} and assuming that the center of rotation is the origin, the V-states take the form $\omega(\mathbf{x}, t) = 1_{D_t}(\mathbf{x})$, with $D_t = e^{i\Omega t}D$, where $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is a bounded domain. The real number Ω is called the *angular* velocity of the rotating domain and will play the role of a bifurcation parameter.

The V-states study for active scalar equations (1.1)-(1.2) has a long history and it is still an active area with intensive research. Over the last few decades, significant contributions at both analytical and numerical levels have shaped this field. The first example of rotating patches for Euler equations dates back to Kirchhoff [60], who proved that any ellipse with semi-axis a and b rotates uniformly with the angular velocity $\Omega = \frac{ab}{a^2+b^2}$, see also [66, p. 232]. About one century later, Deem and Zabusky [24] conducted numerical computations showcasing the existence of implicit V-states with m-fold symmetry. This was analytically justified by Burbea [7] using the bifurcation theory and conformal parametrization. Actually, the bifurcation from the Rankine vortices (radial case) occurs at the angular velocities $\Omega = \frac{m-1}{2m}$ ($m \ge 2$). Later, Hmidi, Mateu and Verdera [54] revisited this construction and show the C^{∞} boundary regularity and convexity of the bifurcated V-states close to Rankine vortices. The analyticity of the boundary has been recently explored by Castro, Córdoba and Gómez-Serrano in [12], and its global version has been discussed by Hassainia, Masmoudi and Wheeler in [46].

The V-states for the gSQG model in the whole plane was first investigated by Hassainia and Hmidi in [44] and confirmed a similar result to Burbea for all $\beta \in (0, 1)$. Later, Castro, Córdoba and Gómez-Serrano [11] extended the construction for the range $\beta \in [1, 2)$ and proved the C^{∞} boundary regularity; see also [12] for the real analyticity of the V-states boundary.

Similar rigid time periodic solutions for the QGSW equation was studied by Dritschel, Hmidi,

and Renault [27]. The topic of V-states in radial domains with rigid boundary was initiated by De la Hoz, Hassainia, Hmidi and Mateu for 2D Euler equation in [23] and by the authors of this paper to gSQG equation [56].

Besides the above results, there are abundant papers in recent literature on the mathematical study of V-states for the active scalar equation (1.1)-(1.2) from various aspects. For instance, a second family of countable branches bifurcate from Kirchhoff's ellipses was proved in [12, 51]; the existence of doubly connected V-states close to the annulus was established in [25, 52, 22, 39, 83]; concentrated multi vortices centered at regular n-gons or distributed according to suitable periodic spatial patterns are analyzed in [10, 31, 32, 33, 49, 53]. Very recently, the exploration of time quasi-periodic vortex patches for some active scalar equations (1.1)-(1.2) has been conducted by employing advanced tools from the KAM theory, we refer to [4, 5, 41, 45, 47, 48, 55, 83]. For other connected topics one can see [2, 11, 22, 34, 35, 36, 40, 43, 53] and the references therein.

In this paper we intend to develop a unified approach on the construction of V-states for the active scalar equation (1.1)-(1.2) near Rankine vortices. More precisely, we shall apply the local bifurcation theory to construct time periodic patch solutions around the Rankine vortices of type $\mathbf{1}_{b\mathbb{D}}$, with b > 0 and $b\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbf{D}$, for the system (1.1)-(1.2) by imposing general assumptions on the kernel K, which include all the aforementioned important models as special examples. It should be emphasized that the explicit expression of K plays a crucial role to the analysis in the previous works, especially along the spectrum study where we need the monotinicity of the spectrum sequence.

Before describing our primary contributions, we need to introduce the equations that govern rotating simply connected patches. As we will see in Section 2, we find it more convenient to parametrize the boundary of the V-states close to the stationary solution $\mathbf{1}_{b\mathbb{D}}$ in terms of polar coordinates $\theta \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto \sqrt{b^2 + 2r(\theta)}e^{i\theta}$ with b > 0, such that $b\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbf{D}$. The contour dynamics equation can be formulated as a nonlinear integro-differential equation $F(\Omega, r) = 0$ with

(1.5)
$$F(\Omega, r) \triangleq \Omega r'(\theta) + \partial_{\theta} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{R(\eta)} K(R(\theta)e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta})\rho d\rho d\eta \right), \quad R(\theta) \triangleq \sqrt{b^{2} + 2r(\theta)}$$
$$\triangleq \Omega r'(\theta) + F_{1}(r).$$

One can easily show that $F(\Omega, 0) = 0$ for all $\Omega \in \mathbb{R}$ and therefore the next task is to check that the local bifurcation tools such as Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem (see Theorem 6.2 below) applies in this framework.

The first main result concerns the stream function ψ associated with a convolution kernel

(1.6)
$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|), \quad \forall \, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{D},$$

where the function $t \in (0, \infty) \mapsto K_0(t)$ satisfies the following assumptions,

(A1) Complete monotonicity: the function $-K'_0$ is a nonzero completely monotone function (see Definition 6.1), equivalently, there exists a non-negative measure μ on $[0, \infty)$ such that

(1.7)
$$-K'_{0}(t) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-tx} \mathrm{d}\mu(x), \quad \forall t > 0.$$

(A2) Integrability assumption: there exists a constant $a_0 > 0$ and some $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ such that

(1.8)
$$\int_0^{a_0} |K_0(t)| t^{-\alpha + \alpha^2} \mathrm{d}t < \infty.$$

Note that the assumptions (A1)-(A2) encompass as special examples the classical equations: Euler equations, gSQG and QGSW equations, see Section 5 for more discussion. Our first main result reads as follows. **Theorem 1.1.** Assume (1.6), with K_0 satisfying the conditions (A1)-(A2). Then for any $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$, there exists a family of m-fold symmetric V-states for the active scalar equation (1.1)-(1.2) bifurcating from the Rankine vortices $\mathbf{1}_{b\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{x})$, provided that $b\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbf{D}$, at the angular velocity

(1.9)
$$\Omega_{m,b}^{0} = \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0\left(|2b\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|\right) \cos\eta \,\mathrm{d}\eta - \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0\left(|2b\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|\right) \cos(m\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta.$$

Motivated by the papers [23, 56] on the V-states in radial domains, our second main result considers the perturbative case where the kernel involved in the stream function takes a more general form

(1.10)
$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) + K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}),$$

where K_0 satisfies (A1)-(A2), whereas K_1 satisfies

- (A3) Regularity assumption: $K_1 \in C^k_{\text{loc}}(\mathbf{D}^2)$ for some $k \ge 4$.
- (A4) Symmetry assumption: we assume that for any $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{D}$,

$$K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_1(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}), K_1(\bar{\mathbf{x}}, \bar{\mathbf{y}}) = K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}), K_1(e^{i\theta}\mathbf{x}, e^{i\theta}\mathbf{y}) = K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}), \forall \theta \in \mathbb{R},$$

where $\bar{\mathbf{x}} = (x_1, -x_2)$ is the reflection of $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2)$.

Theorem 1.2. Consider the general case (1.10) with the assumptions (\mathbf{A}_1) – (\mathbf{A}_4) . Then there exists a sufficiently large number $m_0 \in \mathbb{N}^*$, such that for any $m \ge m_0$, the equation (1.1)-(1.2) admits a family of m-fold symmetric V-states bifurcating from the trivial solution $\mathbf{1}_{b\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{x})$, provided that $b\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbf{D}$, at some angular velocity $\Omega_{m,b}$.

Remark 1.1. The angular velocity $\Omega_{m,b}$ in Theorem 1.2 can be explicitly linked to the kernel as follows

$$\Omega_{m,b} = -b^{-1} \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^b \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K(be^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta}) \cdot e^{i\theta} \right) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta - \int_0^{2\pi} K(b, be^{i\eta}) e^{im\eta} \mathrm{d}\eta.$$

In particular, with the notation $G_1(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta) \triangleq K_1(\rho_1 e^{i\theta}, \rho_2 e^{i\eta})$, we also have

(1.11)
$$\Omega_{m,b} = \Omega_{m,b}^0 - b^{-1} \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^b \partial_{\rho_1} G_1(b,0,\rho,\eta) \rho d\rho d\eta - \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_1(b,be^{i\eta}) \cos(m\eta) d\eta.$$

In the proof of Theorem 1.1, our primary challenge lies in exploring the spectrum distribution of the linearized operator to the functional F_1 defined in (1.5) at the equilibrium state. One of the crucial ingredient is the strict monotonicity of the spectrum $(\Omega^0_{m,b})_{m\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ with respect to m, needed to get a one-dimensional kernel, which is a requisite condition stipulated in Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem, see Theorem 6.2.

Note that $\Omega_{m,b}^0$ has the expression (1.9) according to the analysis implemented in Subsection 2.2. Given this representation involving oscillating trigonometric functions, it is not at all obvious whether this sequence exhibits a monotonic behavior with general kernel function K_0 . A crucial discovery is that when K_0 satisfies the assumption (A1), then we find an interesting factorization of the spectrum as follows, see Lemma 2.1,

$$\Omega_{m,b}^{0} = 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\phi_{1}(bx) - \phi_{m}(bx) \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(x)}{x} \quad \text{with} \quad \phi_{m}(x) \triangleq \int_{0}^{\pi} e^{-2\sin(\eta)x} e^{i2m\eta} \mathrm{d}\eta,$$

where μ is a nonnegative Borel measure. In this factorization, we make appeal to the universal function ϕ_m which is completely independent of the model and will encode the key feature of the spectral distribution. Especially, we show in Proposition 3.1 that for each x > 0, $\phi_m(x)$ is positive and the sequence $m \in \mathbb{N}^* \mapsto \phi_m(x)$ is strictly decreasing, which yields in turn to the monotonicity of the spectrum. These properties on ϕ_m are not obvious and do not directly result from the definition of ϕ_m because the integrand undergoes oscillations with changes in sign. The crucial point here is that ϕ_m solves a second order linear differential equation with variable coefficients given by (3.3). Then applying an *ad hoc* comparison theorem result outlined in Lemma 3.1 allows to show that ϕ_m is positive and strictly decreasing in m. Another serious difficulty lies on the proof of the strong regularity properties of $F(\Omega, r)$ needed in Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem. Since we only impose an integrability condition on K_0 through the assumption (A2), the boundedness results in [27, 44, 54, 56] related to singular kernel integrals with pointwise assumptions on the kernels can not be directly used. To circumvent this difficulty we establish suitable results, see Lemma 6.4 and Lemma 6.3, dealing with integral operators (6.7) on the torus and use some persistence regularity estimates employed several times to infer the required regularity for $F(\Omega, r)$ as detailed in Subsection 4.1. The third delicate point in the proof is to check that $\partial_r F(\Omega_{m,b}^0, 0)$ is of co-dimension one. To this end, we shall use a Mikhlin type multiplier theorem stated in Lemma 6.5 on the periodic framework, as described in Proposition 4.2. Another interesting result is summarized in Proposition 3.2 and Corollary 3.1 where we derive the following spectrum expansion: for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $n \ge 1$,

$$\Omega_{n,b}^{0} = 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} \phi_{1}(bx) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(x)}{x} - 2 \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{1}{n^{2k+1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \Psi_{k}(\frac{bx}{n}) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(x)}{x} + \varepsilon_{n,N},$$

where

$$\Psi_0(x) = \frac{x}{1+x^2}, \quad \Psi_{k+1}(x) = \frac{x^2}{4(1+x^2)} \Big(\Psi_k''(x) + \frac{1}{x} \Psi_k'(x) \Big), \quad \forall k \ge 0,$$

and

$$|\varepsilon_{n,N}| \leqslant \frac{C_{N,\delta}}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}}} \int_0^\infty \frac{x^{\delta-1}}{1+\frac{bx}{n}} \mathrm{d}\mu(x), \quad \forall \delta \in [0, \frac{1}{3}).$$

This holds significant consequences in classical analysis, illustrated in Section 5 through several examples stemming from geophysical flows, see Section 5. The proof of the foregoing expansion results on a rescaling argument coupled with an application of the Hankel transform.

As to the proof of Theorem 1.2, the main challenge is still to show the monotonicity of the spectrum sequence $(\Omega_{m,b})_{m\in\mathbb{N}^*}$, which takes the form (1.11) as shown in Subsection 2.2. The idea is to perform perturbative arguments where from the regularity assumption on K_1 defined in (1.10) we derive that the last term $\int_{\mathbb{T}} K_1(b, be^{i\eta}) \cos(m\eta) d\eta$ involved in (1.11) decays in m as $O(m^{-k})$ with some $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ that can be chosen large enough. Thus, to derive the monotonicity property of the sequence $(\Omega_{m,b})_{m\geq 1}$, it is enough to analyze the spectrum repartition and show an algebraic lower bound decay for $\Omega_{m+1,b}^0 - \Omega_{m,b}^0$. To this end, we need a more careful quantitative study of the sequence $(\phi_m(x))_{m\geq 1}$. In Proposition 3.22 we show that for every $m \geq 1$ and x > 0,

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{(2m+1)x}{(m^2+x^2)\big((m+1)^2+x^2\big)} \le \phi_m(x) - \phi_{m+1}(x) \le 4\frac{(2m+1)x}{(m^2+x^2)\big((m+1)^2+x^2\big)}$$

From this, we find according to (4.54) a constant $c_* > 0$ such that

$$\Omega^0_{m+1,b} - \Omega^0_{m,b} \geqslant \frac{c_*}{m^3}.$$

This is the key point to get the spectrum monotonicity for large modes. Notice that as a by-product of the spectral analysis, we also present a discussion in Section 3.5 concerning the convexity of the spectrum $(\Omega^0_{m,b})_{m \ge 1}$.

In the section 5, we will delve into some applications of Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.2. The 2D Euler equations, gSQG and QGSW equations in the whole space align seamlessly with Theorem 1.1. We point out that the spectral study of the gSQG and QGSW equations as detailed in [27, 44] involves intricate analysis on special functions. Nevertheless, with our approach those results are easily derived yielding new identities and estimates such as (5.7), (5.11), (5.13), (5.14), (5.16). The V-states for 2D Euler, gSQG and QGSW equations within the unit disc \mathbb{D} with rigid boundary condition fall under the scope of Theorem 1.2 allowing to get the results outlined in [23, 56]. Notably, the application to QGSW equation in \mathbb{D} with rigid boundary condition.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. In the next section, we introduce the boundary equation modeling the V-states, consider the linearization around the equilibrium state, and give an important factorization formula of the spectrum in terms of the universal function ϕ_n . In Section 3, we focus on the analysis of some crucial properties of ϕ_n . We first prove a useful comparison theorem in Subsection 3.1 allowing to derive the positivity and monotonicity of ϕ_n and its asymptotic behavior, see Subsections 3.2 - 3.3 respectively. This approach offers suitable tools in Subsections 3.4 - 3.5 to track the decay rate of $\phi_n - \phi_{n+1}$ and the convexity of the spectrum. In Section 4, we give the detailed proofs for Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.2 by checking the required conditions of Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem. In Section 5, we present various examples that follow from Theorems 1.1 and 1.2, and naturally deduce some interesting properties of the associated spectrum (most are new). In Section 6, we compile the tools used in the paper: completely monotone functions, Bessel functions and Hankel transform, boundedness property of some integral operators on the torus, and Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem.

Notation. Throughout this paper, the following notation and convention will be used.

- The symbol C denotes a positive constant that may change its value from line to line.
- We denote the unit disc by \mathbb{D} . The unit circle is denoted by \mathbb{T} .
- The set $\mathbb{N} = \{0, 1, 2, \dots\}$ is composed of nonnegative integers, and $\mathbb{N}^* = \{1, 2, \dots\}$ only includes positive integers.
- Let **X** and **Y** be two Banach spaces. We denote by $\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Y})$ the space of all continuous linear maps $T : \mathbf{X} \to \mathbf{Y}$ endowed with its usual strong topology.

2. Time periodic patches and linearization

We have multiple goals in this section. First, we will describe in the context of the vortex patches the contour dynamics in polar coordinates. Then, we will describe the linearized operator around Rankine vortices, which are radial equilibrium states. This operator takes the form of a Fourier multiplier, and its spectrum within the framework of completely monotone kernels will be factorized based on a Bessel-type universal function.

2.1. Boundary equation. Our primary focus lies in the motion of vortex patches concerning the active scalar equation (1.1)-(1.2). Specifically, the solution takes the form $\omega(t, \mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{1}_{D_t}(\mathbf{x})$, where the domain $D_t \subset \mathbf{D}$ is a smooth perturbation of the disc $b \mathbb{D}$, with b > 0. Note that when the domain $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{D}$ is the unit disc, then we impose 0 < b < 1 as in [23, 56].

Our analysis will be centered on a specific patch solution within rotating domains, defined by

$$D_t = e^{it\Omega}D$$

with some angular velocity $\Omega \in \mathbb{R}$. Clearly, this generates a time periodic solution with a period $T = \frac{2\pi}{\Omega}$. In this section, the kernel K involved in the stream function (1.2) satisfies the properties (1.3) and (1.4). Now, we will parameterize the boundary ∂D_t using the polar coordinates, as follows

(2.1)
$$\mathbf{z}(t,\cdot): \mathbb{T} \mapsto \partial D_t, \\ \theta \mapsto e^{it\Omega} \mathbf{z}(\theta) \triangleq e^{it\Omega} \sqrt{b^2 + 2r(\theta)} e^{i\theta},$$

where $\mathbf{z}(\theta) \in \partial D$. Denote by $\mathbf{n}(t, \mathbf{z}(t, \theta)) \triangleq i \partial_{\theta} \mathbf{z}(t, \theta)$ an inward normal vector to the boundary ∂D_t at the point $\mathbf{z}(t, \theta)$. According to [54, p. 174], the vortex patch equation writes

$$\partial_t \mathbf{z}(t, \theta) \cdot \mathbf{n} = u(t, \mathbf{z}(t, \theta)) \cdot \mathbf{n}$$

= $-\partial_{\theta} [\psi(t, \mathbf{z}(t, \theta))],$

where ψ is the stream function defined by (1.2). Then making a change of variables and using the symmetry property (1.4), we deduce that

$$\psi(t, \mathbf{z}(t, \theta)) = \int_D K(e^{it\Omega} \mathbf{z}(\theta), e^{it\Omega} \mathbf{y}) d\mathbf{y}$$
$$= \int_D K(\mathbf{z}(\theta), \mathbf{y}) d\mathbf{y}.$$

In addition,

$$\partial_t \mathbf{z}(t,\theta) = i\Omega \mathbf{z}(t,\theta) = i\Omega e^{it\Omega} \sqrt{b^2 + 2r(\theta)} e^{i\theta}$$

and

$$\partial_t \mathbf{z}(t,\theta) \cdot \mathbf{n}(t,\mathbf{z}(t,\theta)) = \operatorname{Im}\left(\partial_t \mathbf{z}(t,\theta) \,\overline{\partial_\theta \mathbf{z}(t,\theta)}\right)$$
$$\stackrel{(2.1)}{=} \Omega \, r'(\theta).$$

Thus we obtain the equation characterizing the boundary ∂D ,

(2.2)
$$\Omega r'(\theta) = -\partial_{\theta} \left(\int_{D} K(\mathbf{z}(\theta), \mathbf{y}) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{y} \right).$$

Using the polar coordinates gives

(2.3)
$$\int_{D} K(z(\theta), \mathbf{y}) d\mathbf{y} = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{R(\eta)} K(R(\theta)e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta})\rho d\rho d\eta$$
$$\triangleq F_{0}[r](\theta), \quad \text{with} \quad R(\theta) \triangleq \sqrt{b^{2} + 2r(\theta)},$$

thus we arrive at

(2.4)
$$F(\Omega, r) \triangleq \Omega r'(\theta) + \partial_{\theta} F_0[r](\theta) = 0$$

Notice that Rankine vortices $\mathbf{1}_{b\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{x})$ are stationary solutions of the equation (2.4), that is,

$$F(\Omega, 0) \equiv 0, \quad \forall \, \Omega \in \mathbb{R}.$$

This property follows easily from the fact that F[0] is rotationally invariant according to (1.4).

2.2. Linearization. In this section the kernel K in (1.2) satisfies (1.10) together with the properties (A3) and (A4). Linearizing the rotating patch equation (2.4), we obtain

(2.5)

$$\partial_{r}F(\Omega,r)h(\theta) = \Omega h'(\theta) + \partial_{\theta} \left[\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{R(\eta)} \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K \left(R(\theta) e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta} \right) \cdot e^{i\theta} \right) \rho \, \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta \right] \\
+ \partial_{\theta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}} K \left(R(\theta) e^{i\theta}, R(\eta) e^{i\eta} \right) h(\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta \right) \\
\triangleq \partial_{\theta} \left(\left(\Omega + V[r](\theta) \right) h(\theta) + \mathcal{L}[r](h)(\theta) \right).$$

From (1.6) we infer

$$\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) = -\nabla_{\mathbf{y}} K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|),$$

which implies that

$$V[r](\theta) = \frac{1}{R(\theta)} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{R(\eta)} \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_0 \left(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - \rho e^{i\eta}| \right) \cdot e^{i\theta} \right) \rho \, \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta + V_1[r](\theta)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{R(\theta)} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{R(\eta)} \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{y}} K_0 \left(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - \rho e^{i\eta}| \right) \cdot e^{i\theta} \right) \rho \, \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta + V_1[r](\theta)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{R(\theta)} \iint_{D} \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{y}} K_0 \left(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - \mathbf{y}| \right) \cdot e^{i\theta} \right) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{y} + V_1[r](\theta),$$

with

$$V_1[r](\theta) \triangleq \frac{1}{R(\theta)} \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{R(\eta)} \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_1(R(\theta)e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta}) \cdot e^{i\theta} \right) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta.$$

By using the Gauss-Green theorem, we rewrite $V[r](\theta)$ as

(2.6)
$$V[r](\theta) = -\frac{1}{R(\theta)} \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0 \left(\left| R(\theta) e^{i\theta} - R(\eta) e^{i\eta} \right| \right) \left(-i\partial_\eta (R(\eta) e^{i\eta}) \right) \cdot e^{i\theta} d\eta + V_1[r](\theta)$$
$$\triangleq V_0[r](\theta) + V_1[r](\theta).$$

Hence, by setting $G_1(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta) \triangleq K_1(\rho_1 e^{i\theta}, \rho_2 e^{i\eta})$ and using (1.4), (2.6), (4.2), (4.5), at the equilibrium state r = 0 one has V[0] is a constant independent of θ and

$$V[0](\theta) = b^{-1} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{b} \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K \left(b e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta} \right) \cdot e^{i\theta} \right) \rho \, \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta$$

$$= -\int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0 \left(|be^{i\theta} - be^{i\eta}| \right) \left(e^{i\eta} \cdot e^{i\theta} \right) \mathrm{d}\eta + b^{-1} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{b} \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_1 \left(b e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta} \right) \cdot e^{i\theta} \right) \rho \, \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta$$

$$= -\int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0 \left(|b - b e^{i\eta}| \right) \cos(\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta + b^{-1} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{b} \partial_{\rho_1} G_1(b, \theta, \rho, \eta) \rho \, \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta$$

$$(2.7) \qquad = -\int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0 \left(|b - b e^{i\eta}| \right) e^{i\eta} \mathrm{d}\eta + b^{-1} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{b} \partial_{\rho_1} G_1(b, 0, \rho, \eta) \rho \, \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta.$$

In addition, we get by virtue of assumption $(\mathbf{A}4)$,

(2.8)
$$\mathcal{L}[0](h)(\theta) = \int_{\mathbb{T}} K(be^{i\theta}, be^{i\eta})h(\eta)d\eta = \int_{\mathbb{T}} K(b, be^{i\eta})h(\theta + \eta)d\eta.$$

It is easy to check that the operator $\mathcal{L}[0]$ is a Fourier multiplier. Actually, for every smooth function $h(\theta) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} h_n e^{in\theta}$,

(2.9)
$$\mathcal{L}[0](h)(\theta) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Lambda_{n,b} h_n e^{in\theta}, \qquad \Lambda_{n,b} \triangleq \int_{\mathbb{T}} K(b, b e^{i\eta}) e^{in\eta} \mathrm{d}\eta.$$

Notice that $\Lambda_{n,b} = \Lambda_{-n,b}$ (owing to (1.3)) and the spectrum of $\mathcal{L}[0]$ is discrete and given by

$$\operatorname{sp}(\mathcal{L}[0]) = \{\Lambda_{n,b}, n \in \mathbb{N}\}.$$

Denoting that

$$d_{r}\mathcal{L}[r](h,w) \triangleq \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}\mathcal{L}[r+sw](h)\right)\Big|_{s=0} = \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{x}}K\left(R(\theta)e^{i\theta}, R(\eta)e^{i\eta}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{w(\theta)e^{i\theta}}{R(\theta)}\right) + \nabla_{\mathbf{y}}K\left(R(\theta)e^{i\theta}, R(\eta)e^{i\eta}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{w(\eta)e^{i\eta}}{R(\eta)}\right)\right) \mathrm{d}\eta,$$

and using the chain rule, we find

(2.10)
$$\partial_{\theta} \Big(\mathcal{L}[r](h)(\theta) \Big) \Big|_{r=0} = \Big(d_r \mathcal{L}[r](h, r')(\theta) \Big) \Big|_{r=0} + \partial_{\theta} \Big(\mathcal{L}[0](h)(\theta) \Big) \\ = d_r \mathcal{L}[0](h, 0)(\theta) + \mathcal{L}[0](h')(\theta) = \mathcal{L}[0](h')(\theta).$$

Similarly, we obtain

(2.11)
$$\partial_{\theta} \Big(V[r](\theta)h(\theta) \Big) \Big|_{r=0} = \Big(d_r V[r](\theta)r'(\theta)h(\theta) \Big) \Big|_{r=0} + \partial_{\theta} \Big(V[0](\theta)h(\theta) \Big) = V[0]h'(\theta).$$

Consequently, provided that $(\Lambda_{n,b})_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ is strictly monotone with respect to n, the kernel of $\partial_r F(\Omega, 0)$ is nontrivial if and only if (see Subsection 4.2 for more discussion)

(2.12)
$$\Omega \in \Big\{ -V[0] - \Lambda_{n,b}, n \in \mathbb{N}^* \Big\}.$$

In the particular case where $K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|)$, one gets

(2.13)
$$\Lambda_{n,b} = \lambda_{n,b} \triangleq \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0(|b - be^{i\eta}|)e^{in\eta} d\eta = 2 \int_0^{\pi} K_0(2b\sin\eta)e^{i2n\eta} d\eta.$$

2.3. Spectrum factorization. The main goal is to factorize the spectrum $\lambda_{n,b}$ given by (2.13) using a universal function when the kernel $-K'_0$ is completely monotone as in the assumption (A1). More precisely, we have the following key result.

Lemma 2.1. Assume that $K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|)$ with the assumption (A1) being satisfied. Then for every $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $\lambda_{n,b}$ given by (2.13) satisfies

(2.14)
$$\lambda_{n,b} = 2 \int_0^\infty \phi_n(bx) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(x)}{x}$$

with

(2.15)
$$\phi_n(x) \triangleq \int_0^\pi e^{-2x\sin(\eta)} e^{i2n\eta} \mathrm{d}\eta$$

Proof of Lemma 2.1. Under the assumption (A1), and according to Theorem 6.1, we infer the existence of a Borel measure μ on $[0, \infty)$ such that

(2.16)
$$-K'_0(t) = \int_0^\infty e^{-tx} \mathrm{d}\mu(x), \quad \forall t > 0.$$

Integrating (2.16) with respect to t-variable, and using Fubini's theorem we obtain

(2.17)

$$K_{0}(t) = K_{0}(2b) - \int_{2b}^{t} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\tau x} d\mu(x) d\tau$$

$$= K_{0}(2b) - \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{2b}^{t} e^{-\tau x} d\tau d\mu(x)$$

$$= K_{0}(2b) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-tx} - e^{-2bx}}{x} d\mu(x).$$

By virtue of Fubini's theorem and (2.13), we can rewrite the spectrum $\lambda_{n,b}$ as

$$\lambda_{n,b} = 2 \int_0^\pi \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{e^{-2bx} \sin \eta - e^{-2bx}}{x} d\mu(x) \right) e^{i2n\eta} d\eta$$
$$= 2 \int_0^\infty \int_0^\pi \left(e^{-2bx} \sin \eta - e^{-2bx} \right) e^{i2n\eta} d\eta \frac{d\mu(x)}{x}$$
$$= 2 \int_0^\infty \phi_n(bx) \frac{d\mu(x)}{x}.$$

This achieves the proof of the desired result.

3. Analysis of the universal function ϕ_n

In this section, we shall study various properties of the real-valued function ϕ_n , which is defined by (2.15). In (2.14), we encountered the universal function ϕ_n which naturally emerges in the analysis of the spectrum $\lambda_{n,b}$ of the linearized operator $\partial_r F(\Omega, 0)$. The positivity and monotonicity of ϕ_n , together with its asymptotic behavior and the rate of decay of $\phi_n - \phi_{n+1}$ are pivotal elements in the spectral study. We plan to explore these aspects along the Subsections 3.2 - 3.4. Additionally, we leverage some of the properties of ϕ_n to introduce a lemma regarding the convexity of $(\lambda_{n,b})_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ in Subsection 3.5. This lemma pertains to a specific class of nonnegative measures.

Defining ϕ_n as in (2.15) through an integral featuring oscillating trigonometric functions in the integrand makes it challenging to establish the aforementioned properties, such as positivity or the monotonity. Fortunately, we discover that ϕ_n obeys an ordinary differential equation (3.3), which significantly helps us in establishing the desired properties of ϕ_n . We basically employ suitable comparison principles to (3.3) as it will be stated in Subsection 3.1.

3.1. Comparison theorem. We intend to detail a comparison principle that serves as the cornerstone for establishing several qualitative and quantitative properties of ϕ_n .

Lemma 3.1. Let $a, b: (0, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$ be two given continuous functions and $f \in C^2((0, \infty))$ be a solution to

$$\begin{cases} f''(x) + a(x)f'(x) - b(x)f(x) \leq 0, \quad \forall x > 0, \\ f(0) \ge 0, \quad \lim_{x \to \infty} f(x) \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

Then f is non-negative on $(0,\infty)$, that is, $f(x) \ge 0$. In addition, if f satisfies

$$f''(x) + a(x)f'(x) - b(x)f < 0, \quad \forall x > 0,$$

then f is strictly positive on $(0, \infty)$.

10

Proof of Lemma 3.1. We will start with proving the first statement. For this aim, we shall argue by contradiction. Assume that f takes strictly negative values at some points of $(0, \infty)$. Then in light of the assumptions $f(0) \ge 0$ and $\lim_{x\to\infty} f(x) \ge 0$, one can find some $x_0 > 0$ such that

$$\inf_{x>0} f(x) = f(x_0) < 0.$$

Hence,

(3.1)
$$f'(x_0) = 0, \quad f''(x_0) \ge 0.$$

Coming back to the differential inequality we find

$$f''(x_0) \le b(x_0)f(x_0) < 0,$$

which is a contradiction.

For the second assertion, we assume that f takes non-positive values at some points of $(0, \infty)$, then there exists some $x_0 > 0$ so that $\inf_{x>0} f(x) = f(x_0) \leq 0$ which satisfies (3.1), but using the strict differential inequality gives $f''(x_0) < b(x_0)f(x_0) \leq 0$, and it yields a contradiction. This concludes the proof of the desired result.

3.2. Positivity and monotonicity of ϕ_n . This subsection is dedicated to exploring the application of the comparison theorem in establishing some qualitative properties of ϕ_n introduced in (2.15). We shall show the following result.

Proposition 3.1. For every $n \ge 1$ and x > 0, $\phi_n(x) > 0$ and the map $n \mapsto \phi_n(x)$ is strictly decreasing.

Proof of Proposition 3.1. For $\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{C}$, define

$$\Phi_n(\mathbf{z}) \triangleq \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} e^{i(-\mathbf{z}\sin\eta + 2n\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta.$$

Recall the Anger and Weber functions defined successively by, see 8.580 in [42],

$$\mathbf{J}_{\nu}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} \cos(\nu\eta - \mathbf{z}\sin\eta) d\eta \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{E}_{\nu}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} \sin(\nu\eta - \mathbf{z}\sin\eta) d\eta.$$

Then we find

$$\Phi_n(\mathbf{z}) = \mathbf{J}_{2n}(\mathbf{z}) + i\mathbf{E}_{2n}(\mathbf{z})$$

and

(3.2)
$$\phi_n(x) = \pi \Phi(-2ix)$$

Now, it is a classical fact that the functions $\mathbf{J}_{2n}(\mathbf{z})$ and $\mathbf{E}_{2n}(\mathbf{z})$ satisfy the following ODEs, for instance see 8.584 in [42],

$$\mathbf{J}_{2n}^{\prime\prime}(\mathbf{z}) + \mathbf{z}^{-1}\mathbf{J}_{2n}^{\prime}(\mathbf{z}) + \left(1 - \frac{4n^2}{\mathbf{z}^2}\right)\mathbf{J}_{2n}(\mathbf{z}) = 0$$

and

$$\mathbf{E}_{2n}^{\prime\prime}(\mathbf{z}) + \mathbf{z}^{-1}\mathbf{E}_{2n}^{\prime}(\mathbf{z}) + \left(1 - \frac{4n^2}{\mathbf{z}^2}\right)\mathbf{E}_{2n}(\mathbf{z}) = -\frac{2}{\pi\mathbf{z}}$$

It follows that

$$\Phi_n''(\mathbf{z}) + \mathbf{z}^{-1}\Phi_n'(\mathbf{z}) + \left(1 - \frac{4n^2}{\mathbf{z}^2}\right)\Phi_n(\mathbf{z}) = -\frac{2i}{\pi \mathbf{z}}.$$

This implies by virtue of (3.2) that

(3.3)
$$\phi_n''(x) + x^{-1}\phi_n'(x) - 4\left(1 + \frac{n^2}{x^2}\right)\phi_n(x) = -\frac{4}{x}, \quad x > 0.$$

On the other hand, one may get from Riemann-Lebesgue's lemma applied with (2.15) that

(3.4)
$$\forall n \ge 1, \quad \phi_n(0) = 0, \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{x \to \infty} \phi_n(x) = 0.$$

Hence, Lemma 3.1 guarantees that

$$(3.5) \qquad \forall x > 0, \quad \phi_n(x) > 0.$$

Now we show that for any x > 0 the sequence $n \mapsto \phi_n(x)$ is strictly decreasing. For this aim, we define

$$\chi_n(x) \triangleq \phi_n(x) - \phi_{n+1}(x).$$

Then using the equation (3.3) we find

(3.6)
$$\chi_n''(x) + x^{-1}\chi_n'(x) - 4\left(1 + \frac{n^2}{x^2}\right)\chi_n(x) = -4\frac{2n+1}{x^2}(x)\phi_{n+1}(x), \quad x > 0,$$

with

$$\chi_n(0) = 0, \quad \lim_{x \to \infty} \chi_n(x) = 0.$$

Thus, (3.5) and Lemma 3.1 ensure that

$$\forall x > 0, \quad \chi_n(x) > 0,$$

which implies the strict monotonicity of ϕ_n . This concludes the proof of the desired results. \Box

3.3. Asymptotic structure of ϕ_n . The next goal is to explore the asymptotic behavior of ϕ_n with respect to n. This will be the crucial step in describing the asymptotic behavior of the spectrum given through (2.14). For this purpose, we shall rescale the function ϕ_n as follows,

(3.7)
$$\phi_n(x) \triangleq \frac{1}{n} \varphi_n(\frac{x}{n}).$$

Then from (3.3) we easily find that

(3.8)
$$\frac{1}{n^2} \left(\varphi_n''(x) + \frac{1}{x} \varphi_n'(x) \right) - 4 \left(1 + \frac{1}{x^2} \right) \varphi_n(x) = -\frac{4}{x}, \quad x > 0.$$

In the following, we plan to provide an expansion formula of $\varphi_n(x)$ in terms of $\frac{1}{n}$.

Proposition 3.2. For every x > 0, $n \ge 1$, $N \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

(3.9)
$$\varphi_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^N \frac{1}{n^{2k}} \Psi_k(x) + g_{n,N}(x),$$

with

(3.10)
$$\Psi_0(x) = \frac{x}{1+x^2}$$

(3.11)
$$\Psi_{k+1}(x) = \frac{x^2}{4(1+x^2)} \Big(\Psi_k''(x) + \frac{1}{x} \Psi_k'(x) \Big), \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N},$$

and

(3.12)
$$|g_{n,N}(x)| \leq \frac{C}{n^{2N+\frac{2}{3}-\delta}} \frac{x^{\delta}}{1+x}, \quad \forall \delta \in [0, \frac{1}{3})$$

where $C = C(N, \delta) > 0$ is independent of n and x.

Proof of Proposition 3.2. We define the second order differential operators

(3.13)
$$\mathbf{L}_0 f(x) \triangleq f''(x) + \frac{1}{x} f'(x),$$

and

(3.14)
$$\mathbf{L}f(x) \triangleq \frac{1}{n^2} \left(f''(x) + \frac{1}{x} f'(x) \right) - 4 \left(1 + \frac{1}{x^2} \right) f(x).$$

Putting this ansatz (3.9) into the equation (3.8), we obtain that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{1}{n^{2k+2}} \mathbf{L}_0 \Psi_k(x) - \frac{4(x^2+1)}{x^2} \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{1}{n^{2k}} \Psi_k(x) + \mathbf{L}g_{n,N}(x) = -\frac{4}{x},$$

that is,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \frac{1}{n^{2k+2}} \Big(\mathbf{L}_0 \Psi_k(x) - \frac{4(x^2+1)}{x^2} \Psi_{k+1}(x) \Big) + \frac{\mathbf{L}_0 \Psi_N(x)}{n^{2N+2}} + \mathbf{L}g_{n,N}(x) \\ &= \frac{4(x^2+1)}{x^2} \Psi_0(x) - \frac{4}{x}. \end{split}$$

Taking advantage of the relations (3.10)-(3.11) gives the error equation

(3.15)
$$\mathbf{L}g_{n,N}(x) = -\frac{1}{n^{2N+2}}\mathbf{L}_0\Psi_N(x)$$

Now, let us consider

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{L}}_0 f(x) \triangleq \frac{x^2}{4(1+x^2)} \mathbf{L}_0 f(x),$$

then we write

$$\Psi_{k+1}(x) = \widetilde{\mathbf{L}}_0 \Psi_k(x), \text{ and } \mathbf{L}g_{n,N}(x) = -\frac{1}{n^{2N+2}} \mathbf{L}_0 \widetilde{\mathbf{L}}_0^N \Psi_0(x) \triangleq \frac{1}{n^{2N+2}} F_N(x)$$

By straightforward computations, using for instance an induction argument, we obtain

(3.16)
$$|\Psi_n(x)| \leq \frac{C_n |x|}{(1+x^2)^{n+1}}, \text{ and } |F_N(x)| \leq \frac{C_N}{|x|(1+x^2)^{N+1}}.$$

Concerning the equation of $g_{n,N}$, it can be written in the form

(3.17)
$$g_{n,N}''(x) + \frac{1}{x}g_{n,N}'(x) - \frac{4n^2}{x^2}g_{n,N}(x) - 4n^2g_{n,N}(x) = \frac{1}{n^{2N}}F_N(x)$$

In view of (3.9) and the relation $\varphi_n(x) = n \phi_n(nx)$, we claim that

$$\lim_{x \to 0} g_{n,N}(x) = 0, \quad \lim_{x \to \infty} x^{\frac{1}{2}}(|g_{n,N}(x)| + |g'_{n,N}(x)|) = 0, \quad \forall n, N \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Indeed, this can be directly justified by the dominated convergence theorem, noticing that for every x > 0,

$$|\phi_n(x)| + |\phi'_n(x)| \le 3 \int_0^{\pi} e^{-2\sin(\eta)x} \mathrm{d}\eta \le 6 \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} e^{-\frac{4}{\pi}\eta x} \mathrm{d}\eta \le \min\left\{3\pi, \frac{6}{x}\right\},$$

and

$$\forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \quad \lim_{x \to 0} \Psi_k(x) = 0, \quad \lim_{x \to \infty} x^{\frac{1}{2}}(|\Psi_k(x)| + |\Psi'_k(x)|) = 0.$$

To estimate this error function, we find it convenient to use the Hankel transform, for more details see Subsection 6.3. Then applying the Hankel transform \mathcal{H}_{2n} to the equation (3.17) and using (6.26), we get

$$(-r^2 - 4n^2)(\mathcal{H}_{2n} g_{n,N})(r) = \frac{1}{n^{2N}} \mathcal{H}_{2n} F_N(r)$$

In light of the inverse formula (6.27) we deduce that

(3.18)
$$\forall x > 0, \quad g_{n,N}(x) = -\frac{1}{n^{2N}} \int_0^\infty \frac{r}{r^2 + 4n^2} (\mathcal{H}_{2n} F_N)(r) J_{2n}(xr) \mathrm{d}r.$$

Via a change of variable and integration by parts, we find that

$$g_{n,N}(x) = -\frac{1}{n^{2N}} \int_0^\infty \frac{r}{r^2 + 4n^2 x^2} (\mathcal{H}_{2n} F_N) \left(\frac{r}{x}\right) J_{2n}(r) dr$$

$$= \frac{1}{n^{2N}} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{r^{-2n}}{r^2 + 4n^2 x^2} (\mathcal{H}_{2n} F_N) \left(\frac{r}{x}\right)\right)' r^{2n+1} J_{2n+1}(r) dr$$

$$= -\frac{1}{n^{2N}} \int_0^\infty \frac{2n (\mathcal{H}_{2n} F_N) \left(\frac{r}{x}\right)}{r^2 + 4n^2 x^2} J_{2n+1}(r) dr - \frac{1}{n^{2N}} \int_0^\infty \frac{2r^2 (\mathcal{H}_{2n} F_N) \left(\frac{r}{x}\right)}{(r^2 + 4n^2 x^2)^2} J_{2n+1}(r) dr$$

$$(3.19) \qquad \qquad + \frac{1}{n^{2N}} \int_0^\infty \frac{r(\mathcal{H}_{2n}F_N)'(\frac{r}{x})}{(r^2 + 4n^2x^2)x} J_{2n+1}(r) \mathrm{d}r$$

where in the second line we have used the classical identity $r^{2n+1}J_{2n}(r) = (r^{2n+1}J_{2n+1}(r))'$. We point out that in [67, 77], it was proved the existence of an absolute constant $C_0 > 0$ independent of n, x so that

$$|J_n(x)| \le C_0 \min\left\{n^{-\frac{1}{3}}, x^{-\frac{1}{3}}\right\}, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, x > 0.$$

Combining this estimate with the definition (6.24) and (3.16) yields

$$\begin{aligned} |(\mathcal{H}_{2n}F_N)(r)| &\leq \int_0^\infty x |F_N(x)| |J_{2n+1}(xr)| \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_0 \min\left\{r^{-\frac{1}{3}} \int_0^\infty x^{\frac{2}{3}} |F_N(x)| \mathrm{d}x, \ n^{-\frac{1}{3}} \int_0^\infty x |F_N(x)| \mathrm{d}x\right\} \\ &\leq C_N \min\left\{r^{-\frac{1}{3}} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{x^{\frac{1}{3}}(1+x^2)^{N+1}} \mathrm{d}r, \ n^{-\frac{1}{3}} \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{(1+x^2)^{N+1}} \mathrm{d}x\right\} \\ (3.20) &\leq C_N \min\left\{r^{-\frac{1}{3}}, n^{-\frac{1}{3}}\right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, using the relation (6.13) allows to get

$$\begin{aligned} |(\mathcal{H}_{2n}F_N)'(r)| &\leq \int_0^\infty x^2 |F_N(x)| |J'_{2n}(xr)| \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \int_0^\infty x^2 |F_N(x)| \Big(|J_{2n+1}(xr)| + |J_{2n-1}(xr)| \Big) \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_N r^{-\frac{1}{3}}. \end{aligned}$$

Using the interpolation inequality and (6.13)

(3.21)
$$|J_n(x)| \leq |J_n(x)|^{1-\delta} |J_n(x) - J_n(0)|^{\delta} \leq C_0 n^{-\frac{1}{3}} x^{\delta}, \quad \delta \in [0, 1], n \ge 1,$$

together with a change of variables, we infer that for every $\delta \in [0, \frac{1}{3})$,

$$|\mathbf{I}| \leqslant C_N \frac{n^{1-\frac{1}{3}}}{n^{2N}} \int_0^\infty \frac{x^{\frac{1}{3}}r^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta}}{r^2 + 4n^2 x^2} \mathrm{d}r$$
$$\leqslant \frac{C_N}{n^{2N+\frac{2}{3}-\delta}} \frac{1}{x^{1-\delta}} \int_0^\infty \frac{s^{\delta-\frac{1}{3}}}{1+s^2} \mathrm{d}s$$
$$\leqslant \frac{C_N}{n^{2N+\frac{2}{3}-\delta}} \frac{1}{x^{1-\delta}}.$$

Proceeding in the same way, we successively get

$$|\mathrm{II}| \leqslant C_N \frac{n^{-\frac{1}{3}}}{n^{2N}} \int_0^\infty \frac{x^{\frac{1}{3}} r^{-\frac{1}{3}+\delta}}{r^2 + 4n^2 x^2} \mathrm{d}r \leqslant \frac{C_N}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}-\delta}} \frac{1}{x^{1-\delta}}$$

and

$$|\mathrm{III}| \leqslant C_N \frac{1}{n^{2N}x} \int_0^\infty \frac{r^{1-\frac{1}{3}+\delta} x^{\frac{1}{3}}}{r^2 + 4n^2 x^2} n^{-\frac{1}{3}} \mathrm{d}r \leqslant \frac{C_{N,\delta}}{n^{2N+\frac{2}{3}-\delta}} \frac{1}{x^{1-\delta}}.$$

Combining these estimates with (3.19), we obtain

$$|g_{n,N}(x)| \leq \frac{C_{N,\delta}}{n^{2N+\frac{2}{3}-\delta}} \frac{1}{x^{1-\delta}}$$

In addition, using (3.18) and (3.21), we also have that for every $\delta \in [0, \frac{1}{3})$,

$$|g_{n,N}(x)| \leq \frac{1}{n^{2N}} \int_0^\infty \frac{r}{r^2 + 4n^2} |\mathcal{H}_{2n}F_N(r)| |J_{2n}(xr)| \mathrm{d}r$$

$$\leq \frac{C_N}{n^{2N}} \int_0^\infty \frac{r^{\frac{2}{3}} n^{-\frac{1}{3}} (xr)^{\delta}}{r^2 + 4n^2} dr$$
$$\leq C_N \frac{x^{\delta}}{n^{2N + \frac{2}{3} - \delta}} \int_0^\infty \frac{r^{\frac{2}{3} + \delta}}{r^2 + 1} dr$$
$$\leq C_{N,\delta} \frac{x^{\delta}}{n^{2N + \frac{2}{3} - \delta}} \cdot$$

Therefore, collecting the above two estimates yields to the last point of the proposition as desired. Hence, the proof is completed. $\hfill \Box$

As an immediate consequence of Proposition 3.2 and (3.7), (2.14), we have the following results on the asymptotic representation of the universal function ϕ_n and the spectrum.

Corollary 3.1. Let $b \in (0,1)$ and $\delta \in [0,\frac{1}{3})$. Then, for any $n \ge 1$ and $N \ge 0$, the following statements hold true.

(1) We have

$$\forall x > 0, \quad \phi_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^N \frac{1}{n^{2k+1}} \Psi_k(\frac{x}{n}) + \frac{1}{n} g_{n,N}(\frac{x}{n}),$$

with

$$\left|\frac{1}{n}g_{n,N}(\frac{x}{n})\right| \leqslant \frac{C_{N,\delta}}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}}}\frac{x^{\delta}}{1+\frac{x}{n}}.$$

(2) We have

$$\lambda_{n,b} = 2\sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{1}{n^{2k+1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \Psi_k(\frac{bx}{n}) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(x)}{x} + \varepsilon_{n,N},$$

with

$$|\varepsilon_{n,N}| \leqslant \frac{C_{N,\delta}}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}}} \int_0^\infty \frac{x^{\delta-1}}{1+\frac{bx}{n}} \mathrm{d}\mu(x).$$

3.4. The decay rate of $\phi_n - \phi_{n+1}$. Our main goal in this section is to provide an explicit lower/upper bound for $\chi_n \triangleq \phi_n - \phi_{n+1}$, which is useful in handling the perturbative argument employed in the proof of Theorem 1.2.

According to the differential equation (3.6), the function ϕ_{n+1} contributes on the source term, and thus we shall need some pointwise controls for ϕ_{n+1} or φ_{n+1} in order to estimate χ_n . We note that, by choosing N = 0 in Proposition 3.2, we obtain

$$\forall n \ge 1, x > 0, \quad \varphi_n(x) = \frac{x}{1+x^2} + g_{n,0}(x)$$

with $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||g_{n,0}||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+)} = 0$. Thus, for sufficiently large n, $\varphi_n(x)$ remains close to $\frac{x}{1+x^2}$. We will see that by analyzing carefully the differential equation governing $\varphi_n(x) - \frac{x}{1+x^2}$, we can show the following lower/upper bound of $\varphi_n(x)$, which gives a more precise version of that result.

Lemma 3.2. For every x > 0 and $n \ge 1$, the following inequalities hold true

$$\frac{4n^2}{4n^2+1}\frac{x}{1+x^2} \leqslant \varphi_n(x) \leqslant \frac{4n^2}{4n^2-1}\frac{x}{1+x^2}$$

and

$$\frac{4n^2}{4n^2+1}\frac{x}{n^2+x^2} \leqslant \phi_n(x) \leqslant \frac{4n^2}{4n^2-1}\frac{x}{n^2+x^2}$$

Remark 3.1. One may expect that there exist some constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that at least for sufficiently large n,

$$\frac{c_1}{n^2}\Psi_1(x) \leqslant \varphi_n(x) - \frac{x}{1+x^2} \leqslant \frac{c_2}{n^2}\Psi_1(x), \quad x > 0.$$

However, numerical experiments indicate that such inequalities do not hold even for very small c_1 or very large c_2 . On the other hand, if we define

$$w_n(x) \triangleq \varphi_n(x) - \frac{x}{1+x^2} - \frac{c}{n^2} \Psi_1(x), \quad c > 0,$$

we have

$$\frac{1}{n^2} \left(w_n''(x) + \frac{1}{x} w_n'(x) \right) - 4(1 + \frac{1}{x^2}) w_n(x) = \frac{c-1}{n^2} \frac{(x^2 - 3)^2 - 8}{(1 + x^2)^3 x} - \frac{c}{n^4} \left(\Psi_1''(x) + \frac{1}{x} \Psi_1'(x) \right).$$

The leading term on the right-hand side $\frac{c-1}{n^2} \frac{(x^2-3)^2-8}{(1+x^2)^3 x} = \frac{4(c-1)}{n^2} \left(1 + \frac{1}{x^2}\right) \Psi_1(x)$ does not have a definite sign, so that the comparison test seen in Lemma 3.1 does not apply in this context.

Proof of Lemma 3.2. Define

1

$$f_n(x) \triangleq \varphi_n(x) - \frac{c x}{1+x^2},$$

where c > 0 is a constant that will be chosen later according to n. From (3.8) and (3.4) we deduce by straightforward computations that

$$\frac{1}{n^2} \left(f_n''(x) + \frac{1}{x} f_n'(x) \right) - 4 \left(1 + \frac{1}{x^2} \right) f_n = -(1-c) \frac{4}{x} - \frac{c}{n^2} \frac{(x^2 - 3)^2 - 8}{(1+x^2)^3 x},$$

with

$$f_n(0) = 0$$
, and $\lim_{x \to \infty} f_n(x) = 0$.

Next, we shall use the following bounds

$$\forall x \ge 0, \qquad -1 \leqslant -6 \frac{x^2}{(1+x^2)^3} \leqslant \frac{(x^2-3)^2-8}{(1+x^2)^3} \leqslant \frac{x^4+1}{(1+x^2)^2} \leqslant 1$$

leading to

$$-\frac{c}{n^2}\frac{1}{x} \leqslant -\frac{c}{n^2}\frac{(x^2-3)^2-8}{(1+x^2)^3x} \leqslant \frac{c}{n^2}\frac{1}{x}$$

and

$$\left(c-1-\frac{c}{4n^2}\right)\frac{4}{x} \leqslant -(1-c)\frac{4}{x} - \frac{c}{n^2}\frac{(x^2-3)^2-8}{(1+x^2)^3x} \leqslant -\left(1-c-\frac{c}{4n^2}\right)\frac{4}{x}$$

Hence, by choosing $c = \frac{4n^2}{4n^2+1}$ and $c = \frac{4n^2}{4n^2-1}$ and applying Lemma 3.1, we obtain the lower and upper bounds for $\varphi_n(x)$, respectively. Combined with the relation (3.7), it gives the required lower/upper bounds for $\phi_n(x)$.

The next goal is to estimate the difference $\phi_n - \phi_{n+1}$ that will be used later to explore the spectrum distribution.

Proposition 3.3. For every x > 0 and $n \ge 1$, we have

(3.22)
$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{(2n+1)x}{(n^2+x^2)((n+1)^2+x^2)} \leq \phi_n(x) - \phi_{n+1}(x) \leq 4 \frac{(2n+1)x}{(n^2+x^2)((n+1)^2+x^2)}.$$

Proof of Proposition 3.3. We shall first prove the following result: for any x > 0, $n \ge 1$, we have

(3.23)
$$\frac{4(n+1)^2}{4(n+1)^2+1}r_n(x) \leqslant \phi_n(x) - \phi_{n+1}(x) \leqslant \frac{4(n+1)^2}{4(n+1)^2-1}r_n(x),$$

where $r_n(x)$ is a solution to the equation

(3.24)
$$r_n''(x) + \frac{1}{x}r_n'(x) - 4(1 + \frac{n^2}{x^2})r_n(x) = -\frac{4(2n+1)}{x\left((n+1)^2 + x^2\right)},$$

supplemented with the boundary conditions

(3.25)
$$r_n(0) = 0$$
, and $\lim_{x \to \infty} r_n(x) = 0$.

The construction of r_n can be done using Hankel transform. Indeed, applying (6.26) to (3.24) yields

$$-s^{2}\mathcal{H}_{2n}r_{n}(s) - 4\mathcal{H}_{2n}r_{n}(s) = -\mathcal{H}_{2n}\left(\frac{4(2n+1)}{x\left((n+1)^{2}+x^{2}\right)}\right).$$

Thus,

$$\mathcal{H}_{2n}r_n(s) = \frac{1}{s^2 + 4} \mathcal{H}_{2n}\Big(\frac{4(2n+1)}{x\big((n+1)^2 + x^2\big)}\Big)(s)$$

Then in view of (6.27), we find

(3.26)
$$r_n(x) = \mathcal{H}_{2n}\left(\frac{1}{s^2+4}\mathcal{H}_{2n}\left(\frac{4(2n+1)}{x\left((n+1)^2+x^2\right)}\right)(s)\right)(x).$$

By the definition of \mathcal{H}_{2n} in (6.24) and arguing as for getting the estimate (3.20) we get (3.25). Now we define $h_n(x) \triangleq \phi_n(x) - \phi_{n+1}(x) - \frac{4(n+1)^2}{4(n+1)^2+1}r_n(x)$ and

$$\mathbf{T}_n f(x) \triangleq f''(x) + \frac{1}{x} f'(x) - 4\left(1 + \frac{n^2}{x^2}\right) f(x).$$

Then thanks to (3.6), $h_n(x)$ satisfies

$$\mathbf{T}_n h_n(x) = -4\frac{2n+1}{x^2}\phi_{n+1}(x) - \frac{4(n+1)^2}{(n+1)^2+1}\mathbf{T}_n r_n(x),$$

with

$$h_n(0) = 0$$
, and $\lim_{x \to \infty} h_n(x) = 0$.

Lemma 3.2 ensures that

$$-4\frac{2n+1}{x^2}\phi_{n+1}(x) \leqslant -\frac{4(n+1)^2}{4(n+1)^2+1}\frac{4(2n+1)}{x((n+1)^2+x^2)}\cdot$$

Thus

$$-4\frac{2n+1}{x^2}\phi_{n+1}(x) - \frac{4(n+1)^2}{4(n+1)^2+1}\mathbf{T}_n r_n(x) \leq 0$$

Taking advantage of Lemma 3.1, we find that $h_n(x) \ge 0$ for every x > 0 and $n \ge 1$, which leads to the desired inequality

$$\phi_n(x) - \phi_{n+1}(x) \ge \frac{4(n+1)^2}{4(n+1)^2 + 1} r_n(x)$$

Performing a similar argument, that we shall omit here, one can prove the other inequality

$$\phi_n(x) - \phi_{n+1}(x) \leq \frac{4(n+1)^2}{4(n+1)^2 - 1} r_n(x).$$

This achieves the proof of (3.23).

Next we shall investigate some lower and upper bound for r_n . We shall first deal with the following rescaled function $R_n(x) \triangleq n r_n(nx)$, which satisfies the equation, see (3.14),

$$\mathbf{L}R_n(x) = \frac{1}{n^2} \left(R_n''(x) + \frac{1}{x} R_n'(x) \right) - 4 \left(1 + \frac{1}{x^2} \right) R_n(x) = -\frac{4(2n+1)}{x \left((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2 \right)}.$$

Our primary goal is to derive the pointwise lower/upper bound of $R_n(x)$. To this end, we define

$$H_n(x) \triangleq \frac{x}{1+x^2} \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2}$$

We plan to show the following result

(3.27)
$$\frac{16}{25}H_n(x) \leqslant R_n(x) \leqslant \frac{8}{3}H_n(x),$$

which implies in turn that

$$\frac{16}{25}\frac{x}{n^2+x^2}\frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2+x^2} \leqslant r_n(x) \leqslant \frac{8}{3}\frac{x}{n^2+x^2}\frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2+x^2} \cdot \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2+x^2} \cdot \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2+x^2} = \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2+x^2} \cdot \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2+x^2} = \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2+x^2} \cdot \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2$$

Then combining this estimate with (3.23) gives the desired result of Proposition 3.3. Now, let us move to the proof of (3.27). Set

$$\widetilde{f}_n(x) \triangleq R_n(x) - c H_n(x),$$

with some constant c > 0 that will be carefully chosen later. Then, direct computations, using the notation (3.13), imply

$$\mathbf{L}\widetilde{f}_n(x) = -(1-c)\frac{4(2n+1)}{x((n+1)^2 + n^2x^2)} - c\frac{1}{n^2}\mathbf{L}_0H_n(x),$$

and we note that

$$\widetilde{f}_n(0) = 0$$
, and $\lim_{x \to \infty} \widetilde{f}_n(x) = 0$.

According to Lemma 3.1, in order to obtain that $\tilde{f}_n(x) \ge 0$ or $\tilde{f}_n(x) \le 0$, we only need to let the right-hand side of above equation be non-positive or non-negative. Next, we plan to compute

$$\frac{1}{n^2}\mathbf{L}_0H_n(x) = \frac{1}{n^2} \left(H_n''(x) + \frac{1}{x}H_n'(x)\right)$$

From straightforward computations we get for every x > 0 and $n \ge 1$,

$$(3.28) \qquad \frac{1}{n^2}H'_n(x) = \frac{1}{n^2}\frac{1-x^2}{(1+x^2)^2}\frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2+n^2x^2} - \frac{x}{1+x^2}\frac{(2n+1)2x}{((n+1)^2+n^2x^2)^2} \\ \geqslant -\frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2+n^2x^2}\left(\frac{x^2}{(1+x^2)^2} + \frac{2x^2}{(1+x^2)}\frac{1}{(n+1)^2+n^2x^2}\right) \\ \geqslant -\frac{3}{4}\frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2+n^2x^2}.$$

Direct computations yield

$$(3.29) \qquad \frac{1}{n^2} H_n''(x) = \frac{1}{n^2} \frac{(-2x)(3-x^2)}{(1+x^2)^3} \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2} - \frac{1-x^2}{(1+x^2)^2} \frac{(2n+1)2x}{((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2)^2} \\ - \frac{x}{(1+x^2)^2} \frac{4(2n+1)}{((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2)^2} + \frac{x^3}{1+x^2} \frac{2(2n+1)4n^2}{((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2)^3}.$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{n^2} H_n''(x) &\ge -\frac{4(2n+1)}{x\left((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2\right)} \left(\frac{3x^2}{2n^2(1+x^2)^3} + \frac{3x^2}{2(1+x^2)^2} \frac{1}{(n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2}\right) \\ &\ge -\frac{3}{8} \frac{4(2n+1)}{x\left((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2\right)}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the inequalities $\frac{x^2}{(1+x^2)^2} \leq \frac{1}{4}$ and $\frac{x^2}{(1+x^2)^3} \leq \frac{4}{27}$. Hence we find

$$\mathbf{L}\widetilde{f}_n(x) \leqslant \frac{4(2n+1)}{x((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2)} \left(-(1-c) + \frac{9c}{16} \right),$$

and choosing $c = \frac{16}{25}$ gives $\mathbf{L}\tilde{f}_n \leq 0$. Then, Lemma 3.1 implies that $\tilde{f}_n(x) \ge 0$, that is,

$$\forall x \ge 0, \quad R_n(x) \ge \frac{16}{25} H_n(x).$$

Now, we move to the proof of the second estimate of (3.27). First, we observe from (3.28) that

$$\frac{1}{n^2}H'_n(x) \leqslant \frac{1}{4} \frac{4(2n+1)}{(n+1)^2 + n^2x^2}$$

In addition, we deduce from (3.29)

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{n^2} H_n''(x) &\leqslant \frac{4(2n+1)}{x\big((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2\big)} \bigg(\frac{x^4}{2n^2(1+x^2)^3} + \frac{x^4}{2(1+x^2)^2} \frac{1}{(n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2} \bigg) \\ &+ \frac{4(2n+1)}{x\big((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2\big)} \times \frac{2x^2}{1+x^2} \frac{n^2 x^2}{\big((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2\big)^2} \\ &\leqslant \frac{3}{8} \frac{4(2n+1)}{x\big((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2\big)}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the fact that $\frac{x^4}{(1+x^2)^3} \leq \frac{4}{27}$ and $\frac{n^2x^2}{((n+1)^2+n^2x^2)^2} \leq \frac{1}{16}$. Then we have

$$\mathbf{L}\widetilde{f}_n(x) \ge \frac{4(2n+1)}{x((n+1)^2 + n^2 x^2)} \left(-(1-c) - \frac{5c}{8} \right).$$

Choosing $c = \frac{8}{3}$ guarantees that $\mathbf{L}\tilde{f}_n \ge 0$. Therefore, we conclude in view of Lemma 3.1 that $\tilde{f}_n(x) \le 0$, that is,

$$R_n(x) \leqslant \frac{8}{3}H_n(x)$$

as stated in (3.27). This achieves the proof of Proposition 3.3.

3.5. Spectrum convexity. In the forthcoming lemma, we intend to discuss a result concerning the convexity of spectrum $(\lambda_{n,b})_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ associated with a class of measures μ with suitable densities. Our result reads as follows.

Lemma 3.3. Let $\lambda_{n,b}$ be given by (2.14) with $d\mu(x) = xf(x)dx$, $f(x) \ge 0$ and $f \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$. If there exists some constant C > 0 such that the following conditions hold (1) $\lim_{x \to 0} \sup_{x \to 0} |f(x)| + \lim_{x \to 0} \sup_{x \to 0} |f'(x)| \le C$

(1) $\limsup_{\substack{x \to 0^+ \\ x \to +\infty}} x|f(x)| + \limsup_{\substack{x \to 0^+ \\ x \to +\infty}} x^2|f'(x)| \leq C,$ (2) $\lim_{\substack{x \to +\infty \\ x \to +\infty}} f(x) = 0 \text{ and } \lim_{\substack{x \to +\infty \\ x \to +\infty}} xf'(x) = 0,$ (3) $\forall x > 0, \quad f''(x) \geq 0,$ then we have

$$\forall n \ge 2, \quad \lambda_{n+1,b} + \lambda_{n-1,b} - 2\lambda_{n,b} \ge 0.$$

Proof of Lemma 3.3. First, recalling that ϕ_n is defined by (2.15) and using the fact that

$$\forall \eta \in \mathbb{R}, \quad -e^{i2\eta} + 2 - e^{-i2\eta} = 4\sin^2\eta,$$

we get the following identity,

(3.30)
$$\forall n \ge 2, \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \phi_n(x)}{\mathrm{d}x^2} = -\phi_{n+1}(x) + 2\phi_n(x) - \phi_{n-1}(x).$$

Combining together (2.14) with (3.30) allows to get

$$\lambda_{n+1,b} + \lambda_{n-1,b} - 2\lambda_{n,b} = 2\int_0^\infty \left(\phi_{n+1}(bx) + \phi_{n-1}(bx) - 2\phi_n(bx)\right) f(x) dx$$

= $-2\int_0^\infty \phi_n''(bx) f(x) dx$
= $-\frac{2}{b^2}\int_0^\infty \left(\phi_n(bx) - \phi_n'(0)bx\right)'' f(x) dx.$

Integration by parts, using the above assumptions on f and the fact that $|\phi'_n(x)| \leq C$,

$$\forall n \ge 2, \quad \phi_n''(0) = \int_0^{\pi} 4(\sin\eta)^2 e^{i2n\eta} d\eta = 2 \int_0^{\pi} (1 - \cos 2\eta) \cos(2n\eta) d\eta = 0,$$

we obtain

$$\lambda_{n+1,b} + \lambda_{n-1,b} - 2\lambda_{n,b} = \frac{2}{b^2} \int_0^\infty \left(\phi_n(bx) - \phi'_n(0)bx \right)' f'(x) dx$$
$$= -\frac{2}{b^2} \int_0^\infty \left(\phi_n(bx) - \phi'_n(0)bx \right) f''(x) dx.$$

Now, define the function

$$\widetilde{h}_n(x) \triangleq \phi'_n(0)x - \phi_n(x) = \frac{4x}{4n^2 - 1} - \phi_n(x).$$

We intend to prove $\tilde{h}_n(x) \ge 0$ for any $x \ge 0$, which implies in turn the desired result of Lemma 3.3. By straightforward computations we find

$$\tilde{h}_{n}''(x) + \frac{1}{x}\tilde{h}_{n}'(x) - 4\left(1 + \frac{n^{2}}{x^{2}}\right)\tilde{h}_{n}(x) = -\frac{16x}{4n^{2}-1} \le 0,$$

and

$$\widetilde{h}_n(0) = \widetilde{h}'_n(0) = 0$$
, and $\lim_{x \to \infty} \widetilde{h}_n(x) = \infty$.

Applying Lemma 3.1 implies

$$\forall x \ge 0, \qquad \tilde{h}_n(x) \ge 0.$$

This concludes the proof of the positivity of $\tilde{h}_n(x)$ and achieves the desired result.

4. Proof of the main theorems

In this section, we will apply Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem to prove the existence of timeperiodic solution for the active scalar equation (1.1)-(1.2). We consider the kernel $K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) + K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$, and if $K_1 \equiv 0$, it corresponds to the case treated in Theorem 1.1, and if $K_1 \neq 0$, it is the case studied in Theorem 1.2. Below, we always identify the complex plane \mathbb{C} with \mathbb{R}^2 .

Before proceeding with the proofs, we collect some useful facts in polar coordinates. Denote by

(4.1)
$$G_1(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta) \triangleq K_1(\rho_1 e^{i\theta}, \rho_2 e^{i\eta}), \quad G(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta) \triangleq K(\rho_1 e^{i\theta}, \rho_2 e^{i\eta}),$$

then thanks to $(\mathbf{A}4)$ we have

(4.2)
$$G_1(\rho_1, -\theta, \rho_2, -\eta) = G_1(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta),$$
$$G_1(\rho_1, \theta + \theta', \rho_2, \eta + \theta') = G_1(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta), \quad \forall \theta' \in \mathbb{R}$$

Hence, we get in particular

(4.3)
$$G_1(\rho_1, 0, \rho_2, -\eta) = G_1(\rho_1, 0, \rho_2, \eta),$$

and differentiating at $\theta' = 0$ the second identity in (4.2) yields

(4.4)
$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\theta}G_1(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta) &= -\partial_{\eta}G_1(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta), \\ \partial_{\theta}G(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta) &= -\partial_{\eta}G(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta). \end{aligned}$$

By setting $\mathbf{x} = \rho_1 e^{i\theta}$ and $\mathbf{y} = \rho_2 e^{i\eta}$, we get from straightforward computations

(4.5)
$$\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{\rho_1} G \cos \theta - \partial_{\theta} G \frac{\sin \theta}{\rho_1} \\ \partial_{\rho_1} G \sin \theta + \partial_{\theta} G \frac{\cos \theta}{\rho_1} \end{pmatrix},$$

(4.6)
$$\nabla_{\mathbf{y}} K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{\rho_2} G \cos \eta - \partial_{\eta} G \frac{\sin \eta}{\rho_2} \\ \partial_{\rho_2} G \sin \eta + \partial_{\eta} G \frac{\cos \eta}{\rho_2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

We note that the above identities hold true when (K, G) is replaced by (K_1, G_1) .

Next, we shall introduce the function spaces that will be used in the bifurcation arguments. For $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, we define

(4.7)
$$\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{X}_m \triangleq \Big\{ f \in C^{2-\alpha}(\mathbb{T}) : f(\theta) = \sum_{n \ge 1} b_n \cos(nm\theta), b_n \in \mathbb{R}, \theta \in \mathbb{T} \Big\},$$

and

(4.8)
$$\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{Y}_m \triangleq \left\{ f \in C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T}) : f(\theta) = \sum_{n \ge 1} b_n \sin(nm\theta), b_n \in \mathbb{R}, \theta \in \mathbb{T} \right\},$$

equipped with the usual norms. For $\epsilon_0 > 0$, we denote by \mathbf{B}_{ϵ_0} the open ball of \mathbf{X}_m centered at 0 and of radius ϵ_0 , that is,

$$\mathbf{B}_{\epsilon_0} \triangleq \big\{ f \in \mathbf{X}_m : \|f\|_{\mathbf{X}_m} < \epsilon_0 \big\}.$$

4.1. Strong regularity. This aim of this part is to explore the strong regularity of the functional F described by (2.4). We have the following result.

Proposition 4.1. Let $m \ge 1$, $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and \mathbf{X}_m and \mathbf{Y}_m the spaces given by (4.7)-(4.8). There exists $\epsilon_0 > 0$ small enough such that the following statements hold true.

(1) $F : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbf{B}_{\epsilon_0} \to \mathbf{Y}_m$ is well-defined.

(2) $F : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbf{B}_{\epsilon_0} \to \mathbf{Y}_m$ is of class C^1 .

(3) The partial derivative $\partial_{\Omega}\partial_r F : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbf{B}_{\epsilon_0} \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{X}_m, \mathbf{Y}_m)$ exists and is continuous.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. (1) Using Gauss-Green theorem (similarly as deriving (2.6)), we can rewrite $\partial_{\theta} F_0[r]$ as

(4.9)
$$\partial_{\theta} F_0[r] = (F_{00}[r] + F_{01}[r]) \cdot \partial_{\theta} (R(\theta) e^{i\theta})$$

where

$$F_{00}[r](\theta) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{R(\eta)} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_0 (|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - \rho e^{i\eta}|) \rho \,\mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0 (|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}|) \partial_{\eta} (R(\eta)e^{i\eta}) \mathrm{d}\eta,$$

and

$$F_{01}[r](\theta) \triangleq \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{R(\eta)} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_1(R(\theta)e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta}) \rho \,\mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta$$

Since $\partial_{\theta}(R(\theta)e^{i\theta}) = \left(\frac{r'(\theta)}{R(\theta)}e^{i\theta} + R(\theta)ie^{i\theta}\right) \in C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$, then from (2.4) and (4.9) and in order to show $F(\Omega, r) \in C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$, we only need to check that

(4.10)
$$\theta \in \mathbb{T} \mapsto F_{00}[r], F_{01}[r] \in C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$$

Next we plan to prove (4.10). First, by letting $\epsilon_0 > 0$ small enough, we have that for every $r \in \mathbf{B}_{\epsilon_0}$ and for every $\theta, \eta \in \mathbb{R}$,

(4.11)
$$b\left|\sin\frac{\theta-\eta}{2}\right| \leq |R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}| \leq 3b\left|\sin\frac{\theta-\eta}{2}\right|$$

Indeed, this is quite similar to [56, Eq. (59)]: according to the following estimates

$$R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta} = be^{i\eta}\left(e^{i(\theta-\eta)} - 1\right) + \left(\left(R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - be^{i\theta}\right) - \left(R(\eta)e^{i\eta} - be^{i\eta}\right)\right),$$

and $|\partial_{\theta} (R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - be^{i\theta})| \leq \frac{2\epsilon_0}{\sqrt{b^2 - 2\epsilon_0}}$, and

(4.12)
$$\frac{2|\theta|}{\pi} \leqslant |e^{i\theta} - 1| = |2\sin\frac{\theta}{2}| \leqslant |\theta|, \quad \text{for } |\theta| \leqslant \pi$$

we can get (4.11) for every $|\theta - \eta| \leq \pi$ by letting $\epsilon_0 > 0$ sufficiently small; and the general case follows from the periodicity property. Now, define

$$\mathbf{k}_1(\theta,\eta) \triangleq K_0(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}|).$$

Using the monotonicity of $K_0(t)$ and (4.11), we deduce that

$$|\mathbf{k}_1(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \leq \max\left\{ \left| K_0(b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right|, \left| K_0(3b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right| \right\} \triangleq H_1\left(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|\right),$$

and from (1.8) (noting that (1.8) implies $\int_0^{a_0} |K_0(t)| dt < \infty$) and (4.12) we get

(4.13)
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} H_1\left(\left|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}\right|\right) \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant 2\max\left\{\int_0^{\pi} |K_0(\frac{b}{\pi}\eta)| \mathrm{d}\eta, \int_0^{\pi} |K_0(\frac{3b}{2}\eta)| \mathrm{d}\eta\right\}$$
$$\leqslant \frac{C_0}{b} \int_0^{\frac{3\pi}{2}b} |K_0(t)| \mathrm{d}t < \infty.$$

Noticing that $\partial_{\eta}(R(\eta)e^{i\eta}) = \left(\frac{r'(\eta)}{R(\eta)}e^{i\eta} + R(\eta)ie^{i\eta}\right) \in C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$, and the estimate

$$\left|\partial_{\theta} \left(R(\theta) e^{i\theta} - R(\theta + \eta) e^{i(\theta + \eta)} \right) \right| \leq C |\eta|^{1-\alpha} \leq C \pi^{1-\alpha} |\sin \frac{\eta}{2}|^{1-\alpha}, \quad \forall |\eta| \leq \pi,$$

combined with the periodic property of R leads to

(4.14)
$$\left|\partial_{\theta} \left(R(\theta) e^{i\theta} - R(\theta + \eta) e^{i(\theta + \eta)} \right) \right| \leq C \left| \sin \frac{\eta}{2} \right|^{1-\alpha}, \quad \forall \eta \in \mathbb{R}.$$
Then, we use (4.11) to deduce that

Then, we use (4.11) to deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \partial_{\theta} \big(\mathbf{k}_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \big) \big| &\leq C \big| K_{0}' \big(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\theta + \eta)e^{i(\theta + \eta)}| \big) \big| \Big| \partial_{\theta} \Big(R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\theta + \eta)e^{i(\theta + \eta)} \Big) \Big| \\ &\leq C \big| K_{0}' \big(b | \sin \frac{\eta}{2} | \big) \big| \big| \sin \frac{\eta}{2} \big|^{1-\alpha} \triangleq H_{2} \big(\big| \sin \frac{\eta}{2} \big| \big). \end{aligned}$$

In addition, in view of Lemma 6.3 (with $\beta = -\alpha(1-\alpha)$) and (1.8), (4.12), we have

(4.15)
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left(H_1(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right)^{\alpha} \left(H_2(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right)^{1-\alpha} \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant C \int_0^{\pi} |K_0(C_1\eta)|^{\alpha} |K_0'(b\eta)|^{1-\alpha} \eta^{(1-\alpha)^2} \mathrm{d}\eta \\ \leqslant C \int_0^{(\frac{3b}{2} \vee 1)\pi} |K_0(t)| t^{-\alpha+\alpha^2} \mathrm{d}t + C < \infty,$$

where C_1 equals either $\frac{b}{\pi}$ or $\frac{3b}{2}$. Hence, gathering (4.13), (4.15) with Lemma 6.4 implies (4.16) $\|F_{00}[r]\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leq C \|\partial_{\eta}(R(\eta)e^{i\eta})\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leq C.$

For the remaining result in (4.10), using the assumption (A3), one can easily show that

$$(4.17) \quad \|F_{01}[r]\|_{C^1(\mathbb{T})} \leqslant C \sup_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in B(0, b+\sqrt{2\epsilon_0})} \left(|\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| + |\nabla_{\mathbf{x}}^2 K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})| \|\partial_{\theta} (R(\theta) e^{i\theta})\|_{L^{\infty}} \right) \leqslant C,$$

which guarantees that $F_{01}[r]$ belongs to $C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$, as desired.

Now, we prove that $F(\Omega, r)$ given by (2.4) has the series expansion as in \mathbf{Y}_m . Indeed, noting that under the assumption (A4), the kernel K satisfies

$$K(\bar{\mathbf{x}}, \bar{\mathbf{y}}) = K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}), \quad K(e^{i\theta}\mathbf{x}, e^{i\theta}\mathbf{y}) = K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}), \quad \forall \theta \in \mathbb{R},$$

we can argue as in [56, p. 27] to deduce that

$$F_0[r](-\theta) = F_0[r](\theta), \quad F_0[r](\theta + \frac{2\pi}{m}) = F_0[r](\theta),$$

which leads to

$$F_0[r](\theta) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_{nm} \cos(nm\theta), \quad c_{nm} \in \mathbb{R},$$

and consequently, $F(\Omega, r)$ has the desired expansion formula. Therefore, by taking $\epsilon_0 > 0$ small enough we conclude that $F(\Omega, r) \in \mathbf{Y}_m$.

(2) It is obvious to see that $\partial_{\Omega} F(\Omega, r) = r'$ is a continuous mapping. So we only need to show that $\partial_r F(\Omega, r)$ is continuous with respect to r. In view of (2.5)-(2.6), we have

$$\partial_r F(\Omega, r) h(\theta) = \partial_\theta \Big(\big(\Omega + V[r](\theta)\big) h(\theta) + \mathcal{L}[r](h)(\theta) \Big) \\= \partial_\theta \Big(\big(\Omega + V_0[r](\theta) + V_1[r](\theta)\big) h(\theta) + \mathcal{L}[r](h)(\theta) \Big)$$

V-STATES FOR ACTIVE SCALAR EQUATIONS

(4.18)
$$= \Omega h'(\theta) + \partial_{\theta} \Big(\mathcal{I}_0[r](h) + \mathcal{I}_1[r](h) \Big),$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{0}[r](h)(\theta) &\triangleq \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_{0} \big(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}| \big) h(\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_{0} \big(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}| \big) \big(i\partial_{\eta} \big(R(\eta)e^{i\eta} \big) \big) \cdot \big(\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)}e^{i\theta} \big) \mathrm{d}\eta, \end{split}$$

and

(4.19)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{1}[r](h)(\theta) &\triangleq \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{R(\eta)} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_{1} \big(R(\theta) e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta} \big) \cdot \big(\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \big) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_{1}(R(\theta) e^{i\theta}, R(\eta) e^{i\eta}) h(\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta. \end{aligned}$$

For the term $\partial_{\theta} \mathcal{I}_0$, by using the notation $\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) = K'_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) \frac{\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}}{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|}$, we decompose it as follows

$$\partial_{\theta} \mathcal{I}_{0}[r](h)(\theta) = \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_{0} \left(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}| \right) \left(i\partial_{\eta} \left(R(\eta)e^{i\eta} \right) \right) \cdot \partial_{\theta} \left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)}e^{i\theta} \right) \mathrm{d}\eta \\ + \partial_{\theta} \left(R(\theta)e^{i\theta} \right) \cdot \int_{\mathbb{T}} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_{0} \left(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}| \right) \mathbf{w}(\theta,\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta \\ \triangleq \mathcal{I}_{00}[r](h)(\theta) + \mathcal{I}_{01}[r](h)(\theta),$$

(4.20) with

$$\mathbf{w}(\theta,\eta) = h(\eta) + \left(i\partial_{\eta}\left(R(\eta)e^{i\eta}\right)\right) \cdot \left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)}e^{i\theta}\right)$$
$$= h(\eta) + \frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)}\partial_{\eta}\left(R(\eta)\sin(\theta-\eta)\right)$$
$$= \underbrace{h(\eta) - \frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)}R(\eta)\cos(\theta-\eta)}_{\triangleq \mathbf{w}_{2}(\theta,\eta)} + \underbrace{\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)}\frac{r'(\eta)}{R(\eta)}\sin(\theta-\eta)}_{\triangleq \mathbf{w}_{3}(\theta,\eta)}.$$

The estimate of $\mathcal{I}_{00}[r](h)(\theta)$ is similar to that of $F_{00}[r]$ in (4.16). Actually, using the product laws in $C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$ we have

$$(4.21) \qquad \left\| \mathcal{I}_{00}[r](h) \right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \left\| \partial_{\eta}(R(\eta)e^{i\eta}) \right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \left\| \partial_{\theta}\left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)}e^{i\theta}\right) \right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}.$$

For $\mathcal{I}_{01}[r](h)$, since $\theta \in \mathbb{T} \mapsto \partial_{\theta} (R(\theta)e^{i\theta}) \in C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$, then using the product laws we get

(4.22)
$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{I}_{01}[r](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \| \underbrace{\int_{\mathbb{T}} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_0 \left(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}| \right) \mathbf{w}_2(\theta, \eta) \mathrm{d}\eta}_{\triangleq \mathcal{I}_{02}[r](h)} \\ + C \| \underbrace{\int_{\mathbb{T}} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_0 \left(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}| \right) \mathbf{w}_3(\theta, \eta) \mathrm{d}\eta}_{\triangleq \mathcal{I}_{03}[r](h)} \|_{C^{1-\alpha}}. \end{aligned}$$

We define

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{2}(\theta,\eta) &\triangleq \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_{0} \big(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}| \big) \mathbf{w}_{2}(\theta,\eta) \\ &= K_{0}' \big(|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}| \big) \frac{R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}}{|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}|} \mathbf{w}_{2}(\theta,\eta). \end{aligned}$$

Notice that

$$\mathbf{w}_2(\theta, \theta + \eta) = h(\theta + \eta) - h(\theta) + h(\theta) \frac{R(\theta) - R(\theta + \eta) \cos \eta}{R(\theta)},$$

and

$$\partial_{\theta} \left(\mathbf{w}_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \right) = h'(\theta + \eta) - h'(\theta) + \partial_{\theta} \left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)} \right) \left(R(\theta) - R(\theta + \eta) \cos \eta \right) \\ + \frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)} \left(\frac{r'(\theta)}{R(\theta)} - \frac{r'(\theta + \eta) \cos \eta}{R(\theta + \eta)} \right).$$

Arguing as for (4.14), we deduce that

$$(4.23) \qquad |\mathbf{w}_2(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \leq C ||h||_{C^1} |\sin \frac{\eta}{2}|$$

and

(4.24)
$$\left|\partial_{\theta} \left(\mathbf{w}_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta)\right)\right| \leq C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \left|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}\right|^{1-\alpha}$$

Thanks to the non-increasing property of $|K'_0|$ and (4.11), we deduce that

(4.25)
$$|\mathbf{k}_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \leq C |K_{0}'(\frac{b}{2}|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|)| |\sin\frac{\eta}{2}| ||h||_{C^{1}} \triangleq CH_{3}(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) ||h||_{C^{1}}.$$

Applying the estimates (6.6) and (6.2) allows to get

(4.26)
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} H_3\left(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|\right) \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant \int_0^\pi |K_0'(\frac{b}{2\pi}\eta)|\eta \,\mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant C \int_0^\pi |K_0(t)| \mathrm{d}t + C.$$

By using (4.11), (4.14), (4.23)-(4.24) and the non-increasing property of $|K'_0|$, $|K''_0|$, together with Lemma 6.1-(1), we infer that

Lemma 6.3, estimates (6.2), (6.6) and assumption (A2) ensure that

$$(4.28)$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left(H_3(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right)^{\alpha} \left(H_4(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right)^{1-\alpha} \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant C \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| K_0'(\frac{b}{2}|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right| |\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|^{\alpha+(1-\alpha)^2} \mathrm{d}\eta$$

$$\leqslant C \int_0^{\pi} \left| K_0'(\frac{b}{2\pi}\eta) \right| \eta^{1-\alpha+\alpha^2} \mathrm{d}\eta$$

$$\leqslant C \int_0^{\pi} |K_0(t)| t^{-\alpha+\alpha^2} \mathrm{d}t + C.$$

Hence according to (4.26), (4.28) and Lemma 6.4, we find

(4.29)
$$\left\| \mathcal{I}_{02}[r](h) \right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leq C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}$$

For $\mathcal{I}_{03}[r](h)$, we set

$$\mathbf{k}_{3}(\theta,\eta) \triangleq \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_{0} (|R(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R(\eta)e^{i\eta}|) \sin(\theta - \eta).$$

In a similar way as for deriving (4.25) and (4.27), we have

$$|\mathbf{k}_3(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \leqslant CH_3(|\sin \frac{\eta}{2}|), \quad |\partial_\theta(\mathbf{k}_3(\theta, \theta + \eta))| \leqslant CH_4(|\sin \frac{\eta}{2}|).$$

Lemma 6.4 and (4.26), (4.28) guarantee that

(4.30)
$$\left\|\int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathbf{k}_{3}(\theta,\eta) \frac{r'(\eta)}{R(\eta)} \mathrm{d}\eta\right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \left\|\frac{r'(\eta)}{R(\eta)}\right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C.$$

Hence, it follows from (4.22) and the product laws in $C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$ that

(4.31) $\|\mathcal{I}_{03}[r](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leq C \|h\|_{C^{1-\alpha}}.$

Putting together (4.29) and (4.31) yields

(4.32)
$$\left\| \partial_{\theta} \mathcal{I}_0[r] h \right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}.$$

Let us now move to the term \mathcal{I}_1 defined in (4.19). Then one gets

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\theta} \mathcal{I}_{1}[r]h(\theta) &= \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{R(\eta)} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_{1} \left(R(\theta) e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta} \right) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta \cdot \partial_{\theta} \left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \right) \\ &+ \partial_{\theta} \left(R(\theta) e^{i\theta} \right) \cdot \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{R(\eta)} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}}^{2} K_{1} \left(R(\theta) e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta} \right) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta \cdot \left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \right) \end{aligned}$$

(4.33)
$$+ \partial_{\theta} (R(\theta)e^{i\theta}) \cdot \int_{\mathbb{T}} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_1(R(\theta)e^{i\theta}, R(\eta)e^{i\eta})h(\eta) d\eta$$
$$\triangleq \mathcal{I}_{11}[r](h)(\theta) + \mathcal{I}_{12}[r](h)(\theta) + \mathcal{I}_{13}[r](h)(\theta).$$

Since $K_1 \in C^4_{\text{loc}}(\mathbf{D}^2)$, then arguing as for the estimate of $F_{01}[r]$ in (4.17), one can easily show that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{I}_{11}[r](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} &\leqslant C \Big\| \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{R(\eta)} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_1 \big(R(\theta) e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta} \big) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta \Big\|_{C^1} \Big\| \partial_{\theta} \big(\frac{h(\theta)}{R(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \big) \Big\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \\ &\leqslant C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}. \end{aligned}$$

In a similar way, we find

(4.34)
$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_{\theta} \mathcal{I}_{1}[r]h\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} &\leq \|\mathcal{I}_{11}[r](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} + \|\mathcal{I}_{12}[r](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} + \|\mathcal{I}_{13}[r](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \\ &\leq C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, by collecting (4.18)-(4.32) and (4.34) we infer

 $\|\partial_r F(\Omega, r)h\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}.$

The next goal is to prove that for given $\Omega \in \mathbb{R}$, the mapping $r \mapsto \partial_r F(\Omega, r) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{X}_m, \mathbf{Y}_m)$ is continuous. Thanks to (4.18), (4.20), (4.33), it suffices to show that, for every $r_1, r_2 \in \mathbf{B}_{\epsilon_0}$ as $\|r_1 - r_2\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \to 0$,

$$(4.35) \sup_{\|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \leq 1} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{1} \left\| \mathcal{I}_{0j}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{0j}[r_2](h) \right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} + \sum_{j=1}^{3} \left\| \mathcal{I}_{1j}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{1j}[r_2](h) \right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \right) \to 0.$$

Denote by $R_j(\theta) \triangleq \sqrt{b^2 + 2r_j(\theta)}, \ j = 1, 2$. For \mathcal{I}_{00} given by (4.20), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{I}_{00}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{00}[r_2](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} &\leq C \Big\| \int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathbf{k}_4(\theta, \eta) \partial_\eta \big(R_1(\eta) e^{i\eta} \big) \mathrm{d}\eta \Big\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \Big\| \partial_\theta \big(\frac{h(\theta)}{R_1(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \big) \Big\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \\ &+ C \Big\| \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0 \big(|X_2(\theta, \eta)| \big) \partial_\eta \big(\big(R_1(\eta) - R_2(\eta) \big) e^{i\eta} \big) \mathrm{d}\eta \Big\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \Big\| \partial_\theta \big(\frac{h(\theta)}{R_1(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \big) \Big\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \\ &+ C \Big\| \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0 \big(|X_2(\theta, \eta)| \big) \partial_\eta \big(R_2(\eta) e^{i\eta} \big) \mathrm{d}\eta \Big\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \Big\| \partial_\theta \big(\frac{h(\theta)}{R_1(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \big) - \partial_\theta \big(\frac{h(\theta)}{R_2(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \big) \Big\|_{C^{1-\alpha}}, \end{aligned}$$

where

(4.36)
$$X_j(\theta,\eta) \triangleq R_j(\theta)e^{i\theta} - R_j(\eta)e^{i\eta}, \quad j = 1, 2,$$

and

$$\mathbf{k}_{4}(\theta,\eta) \triangleq K_{0}(|X_{1}(\theta,\eta)|) - K_{0}(|X_{2}(\theta,\eta)|).$$

Hence, taking advantage of the estimates

$$||R_1(\eta) - R_2(\eta)||_{C^{2-\alpha}} \leq C ||r_1 - r_2||_{C^{2-\alpha}},$$

and

$$\left\|\partial_{\theta}\left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R_{1}(\theta)}e^{i\theta}\right) - \partial_{\theta}\left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R_{2}(\theta)}e^{i\theta}\right)\right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \|r_{1} - r_{2}\|_{C^{2-\alpha}},$$

together with (4.16) we deduce that

(4.37)
$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{I}_{00}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{00}[r_2](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \|r_1 - r_2\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \\ + C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \left\| \int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathbf{k}_4(\theta, \eta) \partial_\eta \left(R_1(\eta) e^{i\eta} \right) \mathrm{d}\eta \right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}}. \end{aligned}$$

The next goal is to estimate \mathbf{k}_4 and without loss of generality we can assume that $|X_1(\theta, \theta+\eta)| \leq |X_2(\theta, \theta+\eta)|$. Then, according to Lemma 6.1-(2) we deduce the inequality

$$|\mathbf{k}_4(\theta,\theta+\eta)| \leqslant \left(|X_1(\theta,\theta+\eta)| - |X_2(\theta,\theta+\eta)| \right) K_0'(|X_1(\theta,\theta+\eta)|).$$

Using the triangle inequality together with (4.11) yields

$$|\mathbf{k}_4(\theta,\theta+\eta)| \leqslant \left(|X_1(\theta,\theta+\eta) - X_2(\theta,\theta+\eta)|\right) |K_0'(b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|)|.$$

Applying Taylor's formula and using the 2π -periodicity, implying that we can assume $|\eta| \leq \pi$,

$$|X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta) - X_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta)| = \left| \int_{0}^{1} \partial_{\theta} \left(R_{1}(\theta + \tau\eta) e^{i(\theta + \tau\eta)} - R_{2}(\theta + \tau\eta) e^{i(\theta + \tau\eta)} \right) \cdot \eta d\tau \right|$$

$$(4.38) \qquad \leqslant C_{0} \|R_{1} - R_{2}\|_{C^{1}} |\eta| \leqslant C_{0} \|r_{1} - r_{2}\|_{C^{1}} |\sin \frac{\eta}{2}|.$$

Therefore we deduce that

(4.39)
$$|\mathbf{k}_4(\theta, \theta + \eta) \leqslant C ||r_1 - r_2||_{C^1} |K_0'(\frac{1}{2}b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|)| |\sin\frac{\eta}{2}| \triangleq C ||r_1 - r_2||_{C^1} H_3(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|).$$

Now, we shall estimate the derivative $\partial_{\theta} (\mathbf{k}_4(\theta, \theta + \eta))$ which takes the form

$$\partial_{\theta} \left(\mathbf{k}_{4}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \right) = \left(K_{0}' \left(|X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \right) - K_{0}' \left(|X_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \right) \right) \frac{X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta)}{|X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta)|} \cdot \partial_{\theta} \left(X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \right) \\ + K_{0}' \left(|X_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \right) \left(\frac{X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta)}{|X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta)|} - \frac{X_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta)}{|X_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta)|} \right) \cdot \partial_{\theta} \left(X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \right) \\ + K_{0}' \left(|X_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \right) \frac{X_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta)}{|X_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta)|} \cdot \left(\partial_{\theta} \left(X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \right) - \partial_{\theta} \left(X_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \right) \right)$$

As $R_1 \in C^{2-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$, then we deduce that for $|\eta| \leq \pi$,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \partial_{\theta} \big(X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \big) \right| &\leq \left| R_{1}'(\theta) e^{i\eta} - R_{1}'(\theta + \eta) e^{i(\theta + \eta)} \right| + \left| R_{1}(\theta) i e^{i\theta} - R_{1}(\theta + \eta) i e^{i(\theta + \eta)} \right| \\ &\leq C \big(\|R_{1}'\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} + \|R_{1}\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \big) |\eta|^{1-\alpha} \\ &\leq C \|r_{1}\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} |\sin \frac{\eta}{2}|^{1-\alpha}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\theta} \big(X_{1}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \big) &- \partial_{\theta} \big(X_{2}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \big) \big| \leq \big| \big(R_{1}'(\theta) - R_{2}'(\theta) \big) - \big(R_{1}'(\theta + \eta) - R_{2}'(\theta + \eta) \big) e^{i\eta} \big| \\ &+ \big| \big(R_{1}(\theta) - R_{2}(\theta) \big) - \big(R_{1}(\theta + \eta) - R_{2}(\theta + \eta) \big) e^{i\eta} \big| \\ &\leq C \big(\| R_{1}' - R_{2}' \|_{C^{1-\alpha}} + \| R_{1} - R_{2} \|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \big) |\eta|^{1-\alpha} \\ &\leq C \| r_{1} - r_{2} \|_{C^{2-\alpha}} |\sin \frac{\eta}{2}|^{1-\alpha}. \end{aligned}$$

We may assume $|X_1(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \leq |X_2(\theta, \theta + \eta)|$. Then, applying Lemma 6.1-(2) with the triangle inequality allows us to get,

$$\left|K_0'(|X_1(\theta,\theta+\eta)|) - K_0'(|X_2(\theta,\theta+\eta)|)\right| \leq \left(|X_1(\theta,\theta+\eta) - X_2(\theta,\theta+\eta)|\right) \left|K_0''(|X_1(\theta,\theta+\eta)|)\right|.$$

Thus, we obtain by virtue of (4.38), the monotonicity of $|K_0''|$ and (4.11),

$$\left|K_0'(|X_1(\theta, \theta + \eta)|) - K_0'(|X_2(\theta, \theta + \eta)|)\right| \leq C_0 \|r_1 - r_2\|_{C^1} |\sin\frac{\eta}{2}| \left|K_0''(b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|)\right|$$

Using Lemma 6.1-(1) gives

$$K_0'(|X_1(\theta, \theta + \eta)|) - K_0'(|X_2(\theta, \theta + \eta)|)| \leq C_0 ||r_1 - r_2||_{C^1} |K_0'(\frac{1}{2}b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|)|$$

Putting together the foregoing estimates we get by straightforward computations

(4.40)
$$\begin{aligned} \left| \partial_{\theta} \left(\mathbf{k}_{4}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \right) \right| &\leq C \|r_{1} - r_{2}\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \left| K_{0}'(\frac{1}{2}b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right| |\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|^{1-\alpha} \\ &\triangleq C \|r_{1} - r_{2}\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} H_{4}(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, (4.39), (4.40), (4.26), (4.28) and Lemma 6.4 ensure that

$$\left\| \int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathbf{k}_{4}(\theta, \eta) \partial_{\eta}(R_{1}(\eta)e^{i\eta}) \mathrm{d}\eta \right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leq C \|r_{1} - r_{2}\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \|\partial_{\eta}(R_{1}(\eta)e^{i\eta})\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leq C \|r_{1} - r_{2}\|_{C^{2-\alpha}},$$

and consequently,

(4.41)
$$\|\mathcal{I}_{00}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{00}[r_2](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leq C \|r_1 - r_2\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}.$$

For $\mathcal{I}_{01}[r](h)$ given by (4.20), using (4.29) and the estimates that $||R_i(\theta)e^{i\theta}||_{C^1(\mathbb{T})} \leq C$ and

$$\left\|\partial_{\theta}(R_1(\theta)e^{i\theta}) - \partial_{\theta}(R_2(\theta)e^{i\theta})\right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leq C \|r_1 - r_2\|_{C^{2-\alpha}},$$

we find in a similar way as for deriving (4.37)

(4.42)
$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{I}_{01}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{01}[r_2](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \|r_1 - r_2\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \\ + C \sum_{k=2}^3 \|\mathcal{I}_{0k}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{0k}[r_2](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}}. \end{aligned}$$

From (4.22), we denote

(4.43)
$$\|\mathcal{I}_{02}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{02}[r_2](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} = \left\|\int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathbf{k}_5(\theta, \eta) \mathrm{d}\eta\right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}},$$

where

$$\mathbf{w}_{2j}(\theta,\eta) \triangleq h(\eta) - \frac{R_j(\eta)\cos(\theta-\eta)}{R_j(\theta)}h(\theta), \quad j = 1, 2,$$

and

$$\mathbf{k}_{5}(\theta,\eta) \triangleq \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_{0} \big(X_{1}(\theta,\eta) \big) \mathbf{w}_{21}(\theta,\eta) - \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_{0} \big(X_{2}(\theta,\eta) \big) \mathbf{w}_{22}(\theta,\eta).$$

We rewrite $\mathbf{k}_5(\theta, \theta + \eta)$ as follows

$$\mathbf{k}_{5}(\theta,\theta+\eta) = \left(K_{0}'(|X_{1}(\theta,\theta+\eta)|) - K_{0}'(|X_{2}(\theta,\theta+\eta)|)\right) \frac{X_{1}(\theta,\theta+\eta)}{|X_{1}(\theta,\theta+\eta)|} \mathbf{w}_{21}(\theta,\theta+\eta) + K_{0}'(|X_{2}(\theta,\theta+\eta)|) \left(\frac{X_{1}(\theta,\theta+\eta)}{|X_{1}(\theta,\theta+\eta)|} - \frac{X_{2}(\theta,\theta+\eta)}{|X_{2}(\theta,\theta+\eta)|}\right) \mathbf{w}_{21}(\theta,\theta+\eta) + \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_{0} \left(|X_{2}(\theta,\theta+\eta)|\right) \left(\mathbf{w}_{21}(\theta,\theta+\eta) - \mathbf{w}_{22}(\theta,\theta+\eta)\right).$$

By the identity

$$\mathbf{w}_{21}(\theta,\theta+\eta) - \mathbf{w}_{22}(\theta,\theta+\eta) = h(\theta)\cos(\eta) \left(\frac{R_2(\theta+\eta)}{R_2(\theta)} - \frac{R_1(\theta+\eta)}{R_1(\theta)}\right)$$
$$= h(\theta)\cos(\eta) \frac{R_1(\theta) \left((R_2 - R_1)(\theta+\eta) - (R_2 - R_1)(\theta)\right) + \left(R_2(\theta) - R_1(\theta)\right) \left(R_1(\theta) - R_1(\theta+\eta)\right)}{R_1(\theta)R_2(\theta)}$$

we deduce that

(4.44)
$$|\mathbf{w}_{21}(\theta, \theta + \eta) - \mathbf{w}_{22}(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \leq C ||h||_{L^{\infty}} ||r_1 - r_2||_{C^1} |\sin \frac{\eta}{2}|,$$

and

(4.45)
$$\left|\partial_{\theta} \left(\mathbf{w}_{21}(\theta, \theta + \eta)\right) - \partial_{\theta} \left(\mathbf{w}_{22}(\theta, \theta + \eta)\right)\right| \leq C \|h\|_{C^1} \|r_1 - r_2\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \left|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}\right|^{1-\alpha}.$$

Arguing as in (4.25) and (4.40), and using (4.23), (4.44) and Lemma 6.1-(1), we infer that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{k}_{5}(\theta,\theta+\eta)| &\leq C ||r_{1}-r_{2}||_{C^{1}} ||h||_{C^{1}} \left(\left| K_{0}'(b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right| |\sin\frac{\eta}{2}| + \left| K_{0}''(b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right| |\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|^{2} \right) \\ &\leq C ||r_{1}-r_{2}||_{C^{1}} ||h||_{C^{1}} \left| K_{0}'(\frac{1}{2}b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right| |\sin\frac{\eta}{2}| \\ &= C ||r_{1}-r_{2}||_{C^{1}} ||h||_{C^{1}} H_{3}(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|). \end{aligned}$$

In a similar way to (4.27) and (4.40), and after some tedious computations, we arrive at

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \partial_{\theta} \left(\mathbf{k}_{5}(\theta, \theta + \eta) \right) \right| &\leq C \| r_{1} - r_{2} \|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \| h \|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{3} \left| K_{0}^{(j)}(b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right| |\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|^{j-\alpha} \right) \\ &\leq C \| r_{1} - r_{2} \|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \| h \|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \left| K_{0}^{\prime}(\frac{1}{2}b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \right| |\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|^{1-\alpha} \\ &= C \| r_{1} - r_{2} \|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \| h \|_{C^{2-\alpha}} H_{4}(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|). \end{aligned}$$

Hence, (4.26), (4.28) and Lemma 6.4 implies that

$$\left\|\int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathbf{k}_{5}(\theta,\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta\right\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \|r_{1} - r_{2}\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}.$$

Putting it together with (4.43) yields

(4.46)
$$\|\mathcal{I}_{02}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{02}[r_2](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leq C \|r_1 - r_2\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}.$$

The estimate of $\mathcal{I}_{03}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{03}[r_2](h)$ is quite similar to the preceding one, using in particular (4.30), and we shall just state the final result omitting the details,

(4.47)
$$\|\mathcal{I}_{03}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{03}[r_2](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leqslant C \|r_1 - r_2\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}.$$

Next, the estimation of $\mathcal{I}_{1j}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{1j}[r_2](h)$ (j = 1, 2, 3) is more straightforward, and one gets

(4.48)
$$\sum_{j=1,2,3} \|\mathcal{I}_{1j}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{1j}[r_2](h)\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \leq C \|r_1 - r_2\|_{C^{2-\alpha}} \|h\|_{C^{2-\alpha}}.$$

Below, we only give the proof of the estimate for \mathcal{I}_{11} , since the remaining terms are similar. Indeed, noting from (4.33) that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{11}[r_1](h)(\theta) - \mathcal{I}_{11}[r_2](h)(\theta) &= \int_0^{2\pi} \int_{R_2(\eta)}^{R_1(\eta)} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_1 \left(R_1(\theta) e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta} \right) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta \cdot \partial_{\theta} \left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R_1(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \right) \\ &+ \left(R_1(\theta) e^{i\theta} - R_2(\theta) e^{i\theta} \right) \cdot \Pi(\theta) \cdot \partial_{\theta} \left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R_1(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \right) \\ &+ \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{R_2(\eta)} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K_1 \left(R_2(\theta) e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta} \right) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta \cdot \left(\partial_{\theta} \left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R_1(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \right) - \partial_{\theta} \left(\frac{h(\theta)}{R_2(\theta)} e^{i\theta} \right) \right), \end{aligned}$$

with

$$\theta \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto \Pi(\theta) \triangleq \int_0^1 \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{R_2(\eta)} \nabla_{\mathbf{x}}^2 K_1 \big(sR_1(\theta)e^{i\theta} + (1-s)R_2(\theta)e^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta} \big) \rho \,\mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta \mathrm{d}s \in C^1(\mathbb{T}),$$

and using the C_{loc}^4 -smoothness of K_1 yields

$$|\mathcal{I}_{11}[r_1](h) - \mathcal{I}_{11}[r_2](h)||_{C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})} \leq C||r_1 - r_2||_{C^{2-\alpha}}||h||_{C^{2-\alpha}}$$

Therefore, gathering the above estimates we conclude (4.35), allowing to get the desired result on the the continuity of $\partial_r F(\Omega, r)$.

(3) Since $\partial_{\Omega}\partial_r F(\Omega, r)h(\theta) = h'(\theta)$, then the regularity result follows immediately.

4.2. Spectral study. In this subsection we focus on the spectral study of the linearized operator at zero, given by $\partial_r F(\Omega, 0)$. Consider

$$\theta \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto h(\theta) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \cos(nm\theta) \in \mathbf{X}_m, \ a_n \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then, according to (2.7) and (2.9)-(2.11), we have

$$\partial_r F(\Omega, 0) h(\theta) = (\Omega + V[0]) h'(\theta) + \mathcal{L}[0](h')(\theta)$$

(4.49)
$$= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n (\Omega - \Omega_{nm,b}) nm \sin(nm\theta),$$

where $\Omega_{n,b}$ $(n \in \mathbb{N}^{\star})$ satisfies

(4.50)
$$\Omega_{n,b} = \Omega_{n,b}^0 + \Omega_{n,b}^1,$$

with

(4.51)
$$\Omega_{n,b}^{0} \triangleq \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0(2b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|)\cos\eta \,\mathrm{d}\eta - \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0(2b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|)\cos(n\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta$$
$$= \lambda_{1,b} - \lambda_{n,b},$$

and

(4.52)
$$\Omega_{n,b}^{1} \triangleq -b^{-1} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{b} \partial_{\rho_{1}} G_{1}(b,0,\rho,\eta) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta - \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_{1}(b,be^{i\eta}) \cos(n\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta.$$

In particular, if $K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|)$, then $\Omega_{n,b} = \Omega_{n,b}^0 = \lambda_{1,b} - \lambda_{n,b}$ with $\lambda_{n,b}$ given by (2.13). Lemma 2.1 and the results in Section 3 imply the following crucial properties of $\Omega_{n,b}^0$. **Lemma 4.1.** Let K_0 be a smooth function satisfying the assumptions (A1)-(A2), see (1.7) and (1.8). Then the following statements hold true.

(1) For any $n \in \mathbb{N}^{\star}$, we have

$$\lambda_{1,b} - \frac{8n^2}{4n^2 - 1} \int_0^\infty \frac{b}{n^2 + (bx)^2} d\mu(x) \leqslant \Omega_{n,b}^0 \leqslant \lambda_{1,b} - \frac{8n^2}{4n^2 + 1} \int_0^\infty \frac{b}{n^2 + (bx)^2} d\mu(x),$$

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \Omega_{n,b}^0 = \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0(2b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \cos\eta \,\mathrm{d}\eta.$$

(2) The map $n \in \mathbb{N}^* \mapsto \Omega^0_{n,b}$ is strictly increasing and

$$\frac{1}{2}D_n \leqslant \Omega_{n+1,b}^0 - \Omega_{n,b}^0 \leqslant 4D_n,$$

with

$$D_n \triangleq \int_0^\infty \frac{b}{n^2 + (bx)^2} \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^2 + (bx)^2} \mathrm{d}\mu(x).$$

Proof of Lemma 4.1. In light of (4.51) and Lemma 2.1, we have a useful formula for $\Omega_{n,b}^0$ in terms of ϕ_n given by (2.15),

(4.53)
$$\Omega_{n,b}^0 = \lambda_{1,b} - \lambda_{n,b} = 2 \int_0^\infty \left(\phi_1(bx) - \phi_n(bx)\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(x)}{x}$$

Hence, the statement (1) follows directly from Lemma 3.2.

As to the estimate of the point (2), it can be deduced from (3.22) and (4.53). In addition, since μ is a nonnegative measure and is not zero measure, there exist some $0 < d < \infty$ and $c_* > 0$ such that $\mu([0,d]) \ge c_* > 0$. Then, we obtain the strict monotonicity of $(\Omega_{n,b}^0)_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$, that is,

(4.54)
$$\Omega_{n+1,b}^{0} - \Omega_{n,b}^{0} \ge \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{d} \frac{b}{n^{2} + (bx)^{2}} \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^{2} + (bx)^{2}} d\mu(x) \\ \ge \frac{c_{*}}{2} \frac{b}{n^{2} + (bd)^{2}} \frac{2n+1}{(n+1)^{2} + (bd)^{2}} \ge \frac{c_{*}}{n^{3}},$$

with $c'_* > 0$ depending only on c_* , d and b.

Next, we intend to show the monotonicity of the sequence $(\Omega_{n,b})$ for large modes.

Lemma 4.2. Consider the general case (1.10) with K_0 and K_1 satisfying the assumptions (A1)-(A4). Then there exist $m_0 \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and C > 0 such that for any $m \ge m_0$ and $n \ge 1$,

$$\Omega_{(n+1)m,b} - \Omega_{nm,b} \ge \frac{C}{(nm)^3}.$$

In addition,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \Omega_{nm,b} = \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_0(2b|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) \cos\eta \,\mathrm{d}\eta - b^{-1} \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^b \partial_{\rho_1} G_1(b,0,\rho,\eta) \,\rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta$$

Proof of Lemma 4.2. Since the kernel K_1 belongs to $C^3_{\text{loc}}(\mathbf{D}^2)$ and $\eta \mapsto K_1(b, be^{i\eta})$ to $C^3(\mathbb{T})$. Then, using integration by parts we infer

(4.55)
$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{T}} K_1(b, be^{i\eta}) \cos(nm\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta \right| = \left| \frac{1}{(nm)^3} \int_0^{2\pi} \partial_\eta^3 \left(K_1(b, be^{i\eta}) \right) \sin(nm\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta \right| \\ \leqslant \frac{C_2}{(nm)^3},$$

with some $C_2 > 0$. Hence, in view of (4.50), (4.52), (4.54) and (4.55), we find

$$\Omega_{(n+1)m,b} - \Omega_{nm,b} = \Omega^0_{(n+1)m,b} - \Omega^0_{nm,b} + \Omega^1_{(n+1)m,b} - \Omega^1_{nm,b}$$

$$\ge \sum_{k=nm}^{(n+1)m-1} \frac{c'_*}{k^3} - \frac{2C_2}{(nm)^3} \\ \ge \frac{c'_*}{(n+1)^3m^2} - \frac{C_2}{(nm)^3}.$$

Choosing some $m_0 > \frac{20C_2}{c'_*}$, we show the first result on the lower bound of $\Omega_{(n+1)m,b} - \Omega_{nm,b}$. Next, using Riemann-Lebesgue's lemma combined with Lemma 4.1 allow to get the convergence result. This ends the proof of the desired result.

Now, we are in a position to show the main result on the spectral study of $\partial_r F(\Omega, 0)$, by showing the validity of all the requirements in Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem. The function spaces that will be used below are described in (4.7) and (4.8).

Proposition 4.2. Assume that either the assumptions of Theorem 1.1 or those of Theorem 1.2 are satisfied. Then the following statements hold true.

- (1) The kernel of $\partial_r F(\Omega, 0) : \mathbf{X}_m \to \mathbf{Y}_m$ is non-trivial if and only if $\Omega = \Omega_{\ell m, b}$ for some $\ell \in \mathbb{N}^*$. In this case, it is a one-dimensional vector space generated by $\theta \mapsto \cos(\ell m \theta)$.
- (2) The range of $\partial_r F(\Omega_{\ell m,b}, 0)$ is closed and is of co-dimension one. It is given by

$$Range(\partial_r F(\Omega_{\ell m,b},0)) = \Big\{ r \in C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T}) : r(\theta) = \sum_{n \ge 1, n \ne \ell} a_n \sin(nm\theta), a_n \in \mathbb{R} \Big\}.$$

(3) Transversality condition:

$$\partial_{\Omega}\partial_r F(\Omega_{\ell m,b},0)(\cos(\ell m\theta)) \notin R(\partial_r F(\Omega_{\ell m,b},0))$$

Proof of Proposition 4.2. (1) The proof of statement (1) is a direct consequence of (4.49) and the strict monotonicity of $n \in \mathbb{N}^* \mapsto \Omega_{nm,b}$, seen in Lemmas 4.1. (2) From (4.49), it is obvious to see that

$$R(\partial_r F(\Omega_{\ell m,b},0)) \subset \Big\{ r \in C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T}) : r(\theta) = \sum_{n \ge 1, n \ne \ell} a_n \sin(nm\theta), a_n \in \mathbb{R} \Big\}.$$

Next we prove the converse inclusion relationship. For any $r \in C^{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$ satisfying

$$r(\theta) = \sum_{\substack{n \ge 1\\ n \neq \ell}} b_n \sin(nm\theta).$$

we have to find some $h \in \mathbf{X}_m$ such that $\partial_r F(\Omega_{\ell m,b}, 0)h = r$. In view of (4.49), we formally get

$$h(\theta) = \sum_{\substack{n \ge 1\\ n \neq \ell}} \frac{b_n}{(\Omega_{nm,b} - \Omega_{\ell m,b})nm} \cos(nm\theta),$$

and we need to prove that $h \in C^{2-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$. First, we write

(4.56)
$$h(\theta) = \sum_{\substack{k \ge 1 \\ k \ne \ell m}} \frac{1}{\Omega_{k,b} - \Omega_{\ell m,b}} \widetilde{b}_k \cos(k\theta),$$

where

$$\widetilde{b}_k \triangleq \begin{cases} \frac{b_{k/m}}{k}, & \text{for } k \in m \mathbb{N}^* \\ 0, & \text{for } k \notin m \mathbb{N}^*. \end{cases}$$

Notice that one easily gets that

$$\theta \mapsto \sum_{\substack{k \ge 1 \\ k \ne m\ell}} \widetilde{b}_k \cos(k\theta) \in C^{2-\alpha}(\mathbb{T}).$$

Since $(\Omega_{k,b})_{k\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ is strictly increasing with respect to k, we have

$$\sup_{k \neq m\ell} \frac{1}{|\Omega_{k,b} - \Omega_{\ell m,b}|} < \infty,$$

and

$$\sup_{\substack{k\neq m\ell\\k\neq m\ell-1}} \left| \frac{1}{(\Omega_{k+1,b} - \Omega_{\ell m,b})(\Omega_{k,b} - \Omega_{\ell m,b})} \right| < \infty$$

In order to show $h \in C^{2-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$, by applying Lemma 6.5, we only need to prove that

(4.57)
$$\sup_{k \ge 1} k |\Omega_{k+1,b} - \Omega_{k,b}| < \infty$$

Indeed, if the case (1.6) is considered, by virtue of (4.51), (2.13), the monotonicity property of $|K_0|$ and Lemma 6.2, we infer from integration by parts that

$$\begin{aligned} |\Omega_{k+1,b} - \Omega_{k,b}| &= 2 \Big| \int_0^{\pi} K_0(2b\sin\eta) e^{2ik\eta} (e^{2i\eta} - 1) \mathrm{d}\eta \Big| \\ &\leq \frac{4}{k} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} |K_0(2b\sin\eta)| \mathrm{d}\eta + \frac{4b}{k} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} |K_0'(2b\sin\eta)| \, |e^{2i\eta} - 1| \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &\leq \frac{4}{k} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} |K_0(\frac{4}{\pi}b\eta)| \mathrm{d}\eta + \frac{4b}{k} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} |K_0'(\frac{4}{\pi}b\eta)| \eta \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &\leq \frac{C}{k}, \end{aligned}$$

where in the last line, we have applied (1.8) and Lemma 6.1. For the general case (1.10), we combine (4.50), (4.55) and the above inequality, leading to (4.57). Hence, we conclude that $h \in C^{2-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$ and the proof of the range characterization follows immediately. (3) Due to the fact $\partial_{\Omega} \partial_r F(\Omega_{\ell m,b}, 0)h = h'$, we find

$$\partial_{\Omega}\partial_{r}F(\Omega_{\ell m,b},0)\cos(\ell m\theta) = -\ell m\sin(\ell m\theta)$$
$$\notin Range(\partial_{r}F(\Omega_{\ell m,b},0)),$$

as claimed. This ends the proof of Proposition 4.2.

5. Applications to geopghyscial flows

In this section, we will examine special cases of (1.1)-(1.2) covering crucial models encountered in geophysical flows. Through this exploration, we will observe that our comprehensive framework often leads to the known results on the construction of V-states in the simply connected cases. Furthermore, we will derive new identities on special functions as a byproduct of our asymptotic description of the spectrum seen in Corollary 3.1.

5.1. **2D Euler equation in the whole space.** Consider the 2D incompressible Euler equation in the whole plane. It corresponds to the equation (1.1) with $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\psi = (-\Delta)^{-1}\omega$. Equivalently, the stream function ψ satisfies (1.2) with

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|$$

Although $K_0(t) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log t$, t > 0 does not have a definite sign, the function $-K'_0(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{t}$ is completely monotone which has the following representation

$$-K_0'(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{t} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty e^{-tx} dx = \int_0^\infty e^{-tx} d\mu(x).$$

that is, the associated non-negative measure μ is given by $d\mu(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} dx$. Moreover, K_0 satisfies the assumption (1.8) with any $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. Thus the assumptions (A1)-(A2) are verified and Theorem 1.1 can be applied in this case. This gives Burbea result proved in [7]. On the other

hand, in view of (1.9) (or (4.53)) and through straightforward calculus, using for instance the identity [42, 4.384] we have

(5.1)
$$\lambda_{n,1} = \int_0^{2\pi} K_0\left(|2\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|\right)\cos(n\eta)\mathrm{d}\eta = -\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_0^{2\pi}\log\left(\sin\frac{\eta}{2}\right)\cos(n\eta)\mathrm{d}\eta \\ = \frac{1}{2n}$$

and

(5.2)
$$\Omega_{n,1}^0 = \lambda_{1,1} - \lambda_{n,1} = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{n} \right).$$

This is identical to the result in [7, 54]. Using Corollary 3.1, we deduce that

$$\lambda_{n,1} = \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{A_k}{n^{2k+1}} + \varepsilon_{n,N}$$

where A_k is independent of n given by (the function Ψ_k is defined by (3.10)-(3.11))

(5.3)
$$A_k = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^\infty \frac{\Psi_k(x)}{x} \mathrm{d}x, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}$$

and

$$|\varepsilon_{n,N}| \leqslant C_{N,\delta} \frac{1}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}}} \int_0^\infty \frac{x^{\delta-1}}{1+\frac{x}{n}} \mathrm{d}x \leqslant C'_{N,\delta} \frac{1}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}-\delta}}, \quad \delta \in (0, \frac{1}{3}).$$

From (5.1), we infer that

(5.4)
$$A_0 = \frac{1}{2}, \quad A_k = 0, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}^\star.$$

Note that the relations $A_0 = \frac{1}{2}$ and $A_1 = A_2 = 0$ can be easily justified from the formula (5.3), but it turns out to be not trivial to show the general case $A_k = 0$ from (5.3) by a direct calculation.

5.2. **gSQG equation in the whole space.** The generalized surface quasi-geostrophic equation in the plane, denoted by gSQG equation, corresponds to

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) = c_\beta |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|^{-\beta}, \quad c_\beta = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2})}{\pi 2^{2-\beta} \Gamma(1-\frac{\beta}{2})}, \quad \beta \in (0, 1).$$

Obviously, the function $t \in (0,\infty) \mapsto K_0(t) = c_\beta t^{-\beta}$ satisfies the fact that $-K'_0$ is completely monotone with

$$-K'_0(t) = \beta c_\beta t^{-\beta-1} = \frac{c_\beta}{\Gamma(\beta)} \int_0^\infty e^{-tx} x^\beta \mathrm{d}x = \int_0^\infty e^{-tx} \mathrm{d}\mu(x),$$

with the nonnegative measure μ given by $d\mu(x) = \frac{c_{\beta}}{\Gamma(\beta)} x^{\beta} dx$. Besides, the condition (1.8) holds true for any $\alpha \in (0, 1 - \beta]$. Consequently, Theorem 1.1 can be applied in this case leading to the result of [44], with b = 1.

Now, let us discuss some identities that will mainly follow from Corollary 3.1. The explicit computation of the spectrum, which will be detailed below, was conducted in [44]. For the sake of completeness, we shall outline the main steps. By using (2.13) and the following identity, see for example [71, page 4],

(5.5)
$$\forall \beta > -1, \ \forall \gamma \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \int_0^\pi (\sin \eta)^\beta e^{i\gamma\eta} \mathrm{d}\eta = \frac{\pi e^{i\frac{\gamma\pi}{2}} \Gamma(\beta+1)}{2^\beta \Gamma(1+\frac{\beta+\gamma}{2})\Gamma(1+\frac{\beta-\gamma}{2})},$$

we deduce that

$$\lambda_{n,1} = \frac{c_{\beta}}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{1}{|2\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|^{\beta}} \cos(n\eta) d\eta = \frac{c_{\beta}}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} \frac{1}{|2\sin\eta|^{\beta}} \cos(2n\eta) d\eta$$
$$= \frac{\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2})}{2^{1-\beta}\Gamma(1-\frac{\beta}{2})} \frac{(-1)^n \Gamma(1-\beta)}{\Gamma(n+1-\frac{\beta}{2})\Gamma(1-n-\frac{\beta}{2})}$$

$$=\!\frac{\Gamma(1-\beta)}{2^{1-\beta}\Gamma^2(1-\frac{\beta}{2})}\frac{\Gamma(n+\frac{\beta}{2})}{\Gamma(n+1-\frac{\beta}{2})},$$

where in the last line we have used the identity that (using the relation $\Gamma(1 + \mathbf{z}) = \mathbf{z}\Gamma(\mathbf{z})$)

$$\frac{(-1)^n}{\Gamma(1-n-\frac{\beta}{2})} = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2}+n)}{\Gamma(1-\frac{\beta}{2})\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2})}.$$

Thus from (1.9) we have

(5.6)
$$\Omega_{n,1}^{0} = \lambda_{1,1} - \lambda_{n,1} = \frac{\Gamma(1-\beta)}{2^{1-\beta}\Gamma^{2}(1-\frac{\beta}{2})} \left(\frac{\Gamma(1+\frac{\beta}{2})}{\Gamma(2-\frac{\beta}{2})} - \frac{\Gamma(n+\frac{\beta}{2})}{\Gamma(n+1-\frac{\beta}{2})}\right),$$

which recovers the rotating angular velocity of gSQG equation proposed in [12, 44]. Thanks to (2.14), Lemma 3.2 and the fact that (e.g. see the identity [42, 3.241.2])

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{s^\beta}{1+s^2} \mathrm{d}s = \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{1}{\sin\left(\frac{1+\beta}{2}\pi\right)} = \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{1}{\cos(\frac{\beta\pi}{2})},$$

we can deduce that

(5.7)
$$\frac{4n^2}{4n^2+1}\frac{A_{\beta,0}}{n^{1-\beta}} \leqslant \lambda_{n,1} \leqslant \frac{4n^2}{4n^2-1}\frac{A_{\beta,0}}{n^{1-\beta}},$$

with

(5.8)
$$A_{\beta,0} = \frac{2c_{\beta}}{\Gamma(\beta)} \int_0^\infty \frac{s^{\beta}}{1+s^2} ds = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2})}{2^{2-\beta}\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(1-\frac{\beta}{2})} \frac{1}{\cos(\frac{\beta\pi}{2})} = \frac{\Gamma(1-\beta)}{2^{1-\beta}\Gamma^2(1-\frac{\beta}{2})},$$

where in the last inequality we used the reflection formula of Gamma function

$$\Gamma(x)\Gamma(1-x) = \frac{\pi}{\sin(\pi x)}, \quad x \notin \mathbb{Z}$$

Using Proposition 3.2 and Corollary 3.1, we can easily deduce the formula of $\lambda_{n,1}$:

$$\lambda_{n,1} = \frac{2c_{\beta}}{\Gamma(\beta)} \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{1}{n^{2k+1}} \int_0^\infty \Psi_k(\frac{x}{n}) x^{\beta-1} \mathrm{d}x + \varepsilon_{n,N} = \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{A_{\beta,k}}{n^{2k+1-\beta}} + \varepsilon_{n,N},$$

where Ψ_k is given by (3.10)-(3.11) and

$$A_{\beta,k} = \frac{2c_{\beta}}{\Gamma(\beta)} \int_0^\infty \Psi_k(x) x^{\beta-1} \mathrm{d}x$$

where

$$|\varepsilon_{n,N}| \leqslant \frac{c_{\beta}C_N}{\Gamma(\beta)} \frac{1}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}}} \int_0^\infty \frac{x^{\beta-1}}{1+\frac{x}{n}} \mathrm{d}x \leqslant \frac{C_{N,\beta}}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}-\beta}}.$$

Note that for k = 0, $A_{\beta,0}$ has the explicit formula shown by (5.8). Therefore, we infer from the formula (5.6), the following asymptotic expansion of the Wallis quotient

(5.9)
$$\frac{\Gamma(n+\frac{\beta}{2})}{\Gamma(n+1-\frac{\beta}{2})} = \frac{1}{n^{1-\beta}} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{A_{\beta,k}}{A_{\beta,0}} \frac{1}{n^{2k+1-\beta}} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}-\beta}}\right).$$

On the other hand, recall that the Wallis quotient has the following expansion formula, see for instance [70, p. 34] or [9, Eq. (6.4)],

$$\frac{\Gamma(\mathbf{z}+a)}{\Gamma(\mathbf{z}+1-a)} = \mathbf{z}^{2a-1} \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{B_{2k}^{(2a)}(a)(1-2a)_{2k}}{(2k)!} \mathbf{z}^{-2k} + O(\mathbf{z}^{-2(N+1)+2a-1}), \quad |\arg \mathbf{z}| < \pi,$$

where $B_n^{(s)}(t)$ stands for the generalized Bernoulli polynomials given by the following generating function

$$\frac{x^s e^{tx}}{(e^x - 1)^s} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n^{(s)}(t) \frac{x^n}{n!}$$

and $(t)_n$ is the Pochhammer symbol defined as

$$(t)_n \triangleq \begin{cases} t(t+1)\cdots(t+n-1), & \text{if } n \in \mathbb{N}^*\\ 1, & \text{if } n = 0. \end{cases}$$

Thus we also have

(5.10)
$$\frac{\Gamma(n+\frac{\beta}{2})}{\Gamma(n+1-\frac{\beta}{2})} = \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{B_{2k}^{(\beta)}(\frac{\beta}{2})(1-\beta)_{2k}}{(2k)!} \frac{1}{n^{2k+1-\beta}} + O(n^{-2(N+1)+\beta-1}).$$

By comparing (5.9) and (5.10), we deduce the following interesting identity:

$$\frac{B_{2k}^{(\beta)}(\frac{\beta}{2})(1-\beta)_{2k}}{(2k)!}A_{\beta,0} = A_{\beta,k}, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

In addition, owing to (3.22) and (2.14), we find

(5.11)
$$\lambda_{n,1} - \lambda_{n+1,1} \approx \frac{2c_{\beta}}{\Gamma(\beta)} \int_0^\infty \frac{(2n+1)x^{\beta}}{(n^2+x^2)((n+1)^2+x^2)} \mathrm{d}x \approx_\beta \frac{1}{n^{2-\beta}}$$

Finally, applying Lemma 3.3 with $f(x) = \frac{c_{\beta}}{\Gamma(\beta)} x^{\beta-1}$ gives the convexity of $(\lambda_{n,1})_{n \ge 2}$, that is,

$$\lambda_{n+1,1} + \lambda_{n-1,1} - 2\lambda_{n,1} \ge 0, \quad \forall n \ge 2.$$

5.3. **QGSW equation in the whole space.** Consider the QGSW equation in the whole plane, then it reduces to the equation (1.1) with $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{R}^2$ and the stream function $\psi = (-\Delta + \varepsilon^2)^{-1}\omega$, with $\varepsilon > 0$ the deformation radius. According to [27], the kernel involved (1.2) takes the form

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \mathbf{K}_0(\varepsilon |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|),$$

where \mathbf{K}_0 is the modified Bessel function defined in Subsection 6.3. In view of (6.17),

$$K_0(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \mathbf{K}_0(\varepsilon t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_1^\infty \frac{e^{-\varepsilon xt}}{\sqrt{x^2 - 1}} \mathrm{d}x$$

we obviously note that $-K'_0$ is completely monotone and by change of variables

$$-K_0'(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_1^\infty \frac{\varepsilon x e^{-\varepsilon xt}}{\sqrt{x^2 - 1}} \mathrm{d}x = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_\varepsilon^\infty e^{-tx} \frac{x}{\sqrt{x^2 - \varepsilon^2}} \mathrm{d}x = \int_0^\infty e^{-tx} \mathrm{d}\mu(x),$$

with the nonnegative measure μ given by

$$d\mu(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{x}{\sqrt{x^2 - \varepsilon^2}} \mathbf{1}_{\{x > \varepsilon\}} dx$$

Besides, for $0 \leq \alpha < 1$,

$$\int_0^{a_0} |K_0(t)| t^{-\alpha+\alpha^2} dt = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_1^\infty \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2 - 1}} \int_0^{a_0} e^{-\varepsilon x t} t^{-\alpha+\alpha^2} dt dx$$
$$\leqslant C_\alpha \int_1^\infty \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2 - 1}} (\varepsilon x)^{-(1-\alpha+\alpha^2)} dx < \infty,$$

which ensures that the condition (1.8) is verified. Hence, Theorem 1.1 can be applied in this case with any $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ yielding to the result of [27]. Now, let us explore some other consequences. By using (1.9) and the identity (6.19), we can easily recover the result in [27], namely,

$$\Omega_{n,1}^{0} = \lambda_{1,1} - \lambda_{n,1} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{K}_0 \left(|2\varepsilon \sin \frac{\eta}{2}| \right) \cos \eta \mathrm{d}\eta - \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{K}_0 \left(|2\varepsilon \sin \frac{\eta}{2}| \right) \cos(n\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta$$

$$(5.12) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \mathbf{K}_{0}(2\varepsilon \sin \eta) \cos(2\eta) d\eta - \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \mathbf{K}_{0}(2\varepsilon \sin \eta) \cos(2n\eta) d\eta$$
$$= -\frac{2}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \mathbf{K}_{0}(2\varepsilon \cos \eta) \cos(2\eta) d\eta - \frac{2(-1)^{n}}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \mathbf{K}_{0}(2\varepsilon \cos \eta) \cos(2n\eta) d\eta$$
$$= \mathbf{I}_{1}(\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_{1}(\varepsilon) - \mathbf{I}_{n}(\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_{n}(\varepsilon).$$

Lemma 3.2 and (2.14) yield

$$\frac{4n^2}{4n^2+1}\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty}\frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2-\varepsilon^2}}\frac{x}{n^2+x^2}\mathrm{d}x \leqslant \lambda_{n,1} \leqslant \frac{4n^2}{4n^2-1}\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty}\frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2-\varepsilon^2}}\frac{x}{n^2+x^2}\mathrm{d}x.$$

From the explicit value

$$\int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2 - \varepsilon^2}} \frac{x}{n^2 + x^2} \mathrm{d}x = \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{n^2 + \varepsilon^2}}$$

we find that for $n \in \mathbb{N}^{\star}$,

(5.13)
$$\frac{2n^2}{4n^2+1}\frac{1}{\sqrt{n^2+\varepsilon^2}} \leqslant \lambda_{n,1} \leqslant \frac{2n^2}{4n^2-1}\frac{1}{\sqrt{n^2+\varepsilon^2}}.$$

The inequality (3.22) implies that for $n \in \mathbb{N}^{\star}$,

(5.14)
$$\lambda_{n,1} - \lambda_{n+1,1} \approx \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \frac{x}{\sqrt{x^2 - \varepsilon^2}} \frac{2n+1}{(n^2 + x^2)((n+1)^2 + x^2)} dx$$
$$\approx \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \frac{x}{\sqrt{x^2 - \varepsilon^2}} \frac{1}{n^2 + x^2} dx - \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \frac{x}{\sqrt{x^2 - \varepsilon^2}} \frac{1}{(n+1)^2 + x^2} dx$$
$$\approx \frac{1}{\sqrt{n^2 + \varepsilon^2}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{(n+1)^2 + \varepsilon^2}}.$$

According to Corollary 3.1, we infer that

(5.15)
$$\lambda_{n,1} = \mathbf{I}_n(\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_n(\varepsilon) = \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^N \frac{1}{n^{2k+1}} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \Psi_k(\frac{x}{n}) \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2 - \varepsilon^2}} dx + \varepsilon_{n,N}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^N \frac{1}{n^{2k+1}} \int_{\frac{\varepsilon}{n}}^{\infty} \Psi_k(x) \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2 - \varepsilon^2/n^2}} dx + \varepsilon_{n,N},$$

where Ψ_k is given by (3.10)-(3.11) and

$$|\varepsilon_{n,N}| \leqslant \frac{C_N}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}}} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1+\frac{x}{n}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2-\varepsilon^2}} \mathrm{d}x \leqslant \frac{C_{N,\varepsilon}(\log n+1)}{n^{2N+\frac{5}{3}}},$$

with some constant $C_{N,\varepsilon} > 0$ independent of n. Note that the first term on the right-hand side of (5.15) is $\frac{1}{2\sqrt{n^2+\varepsilon^2}}$, and direct calculations give $\Psi_1(x) = \frac{x(x^4-6x^2+1)}{4(1+x^2)^4}$,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\frac{\varepsilon}{n}}^{\infty} \Psi_1(x) \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2 - \varepsilon^2/n^2}} \mathrm{d}x &= \frac{n^3}{(\sqrt{n^2 + \varepsilon^2})^3} \Big(\frac{\pi}{16} - \frac{3\pi}{8} \frac{n^2}{n^2 + \varepsilon^2} + \frac{5\pi}{16} \frac{n^4}{(n^2 + \varepsilon^2)^2} \Big) \\ &= \frac{n^3}{(\sqrt{n^2 + \varepsilon^2})^3} \Big(- \frac{\pi}{8} \frac{\varepsilon^2}{n^2 + \varepsilon^2} + \frac{5\pi}{16} \frac{\varepsilon^4}{(n^2 + \varepsilon^2)^2} \Big), \end{split}$$

and

$$\int_{\frac{\varepsilon}{n}}^{\infty} \Psi_2(x) \frac{1}{\sqrt{x^2 - \varepsilon^2/n^2}} \mathrm{d}x = O\left(\frac{\varepsilon^2}{n^2 + \varepsilon^2}\right)$$

Thus we have

(5.16)
$$\lambda_{n,1} = \mathbf{I}_n(\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_n(\varepsilon) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{n^2 + \varepsilon^2}} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^5}\right)$$

Finally, let us make a remark on the convexity of the spectrum $(\lambda_{n,1})_{n\geq 2}$. First, Lemma 3.3 does not apply to this case due to jump of the measure density at ε , but through some numerical experiments one can conjecture that for $n \geq 2$,

$$\lambda_{n+1,1} + \lambda_{n-1,1} - 2\lambda_{n,1} \ge 0.$$

So far we do not know how to rigorously prove this result, but as a simple application of (5.16), we can show the convexity result for every $n \ge n_{\varepsilon}$ with some $n_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ sufficiently large.

5.4. Euler- α equation in the whole space. The Euler- α equation is a regularization of 2D Euler equation and it has been introduced in the context of averaged fluid models, see [57, 58]. By considering its vorticity form in the whole plane, it corresponds to the equation (1.1) with $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{R}^2$ and the stream function $\psi = (-\Delta)^{-1}\omega - (-\Delta + \frac{1}{\alpha^2})^{-1}\omega$, for $\alpha > 0$. The kernel involved in (1.2) takes the form

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}| - \frac{1}{2\pi} \mathbf{K}_0(\frac{1}{\alpha} |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|).$$

Thus, $K_0(t) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |t| - \frac{1}{2\pi} \mathbf{K}_0(\frac{1}{\alpha}|t|)$ satisfies that

$$-K_0'(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty e^{-tx} \left(1 - \frac{x\alpha \mathbf{1}_{\{x > \frac{1}{\alpha}\}}}{\sqrt{x^2\alpha^2 - 1}} \right) \mathrm{d}x,$$

which implies that $-K'_0$ is not completely monotone, and Theorem 1.1 cannot be applied for any symmetry $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$. However, this theorem occurs for higher symmetry m. Indeed, using (1.9), (5.2), (5.12) and (5.16), we can deduce that $(\Omega_{n,1})$ is strictly increasing for every $n \ge n_\alpha$ with some $n_\alpha \in \mathbb{N}$ large enough. Hence, we may check that all the assumptions of Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem work well. Note that, in a recent work [83] the strict monotonicity of $(\Omega_{n,1})$ is satisfied for all the range $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, and the author obtained the existence of *m*-fold symmetric V-states for the Euler- α equation. Actually, the monotonicity follows directly from the explicit formula of the spectrum which takes the following form

$$\Omega_{n,1} = \frac{2n-1}{2n} - \left(\mathbf{I}_1\left(\frac{1}{\alpha}\right)\mathbf{K}_1\left(\frac{1}{\alpha}\right) - \mathbf{I}_n\left(\frac{1}{\alpha}\right)\mathbf{K}_n\left(\frac{1}{\alpha}\right)\right).$$

5.5. **2D** Euler equation in the unit disc. Consider the 2D incompressible Euler equation in the vorticity form in the unit disc \mathbb{D} with rigid boundary condition (the non-penetration boundary condition), that is, the equation (1.1) in $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{D}$ with the stream function ψ solving the Dirichlet problem in the unit disc

(5.17)
$$-\Delta \psi = \omega, \quad \text{in } \mathbb{D}, \qquad \psi|_{\partial \mathbb{D}} = 0.$$

It is classical that the expression formula (1.2) holds with the Green function K given by

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log \frac{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|}{|1 - \mathbf{x}\overline{\mathbf{y}}|} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}| + \frac{1}{2\pi} \log |1 - \mathbf{x}\overline{\mathbf{y}}|, \quad \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{D}.$$

Clearly, $t \in (0, \infty) \mapsto K_0(t) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \log t$ satisfies the assumptions (A1)-(A2) with $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, and the perturbative kernel $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \in \mathbb{D}^2 \mapsto K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \log |1 - \mathbf{x}\overline{\mathbf{y}}|$ is smooth and satisfies the assumptions (A3)-(A4). Hence, Theorem 1.2 can be applied to the study of V-states around the Rankine vortices $\mathbf{1}_{b\mathbb{D}}$ (0 < b < 1) leading to the bifurcation for large symmetry m. Actually, as we shall see below, we are able to retrieve all the symmetry $m \ge 1$. This allows to replicate the full result obtained in [23]. To start, we note that the quantity

$$G_1(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta) = K_1(\rho_1 e^{i\theta}, \rho_2 e^{i\eta}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \log \left(|\rho_1 \rho_2 e^{i\theta} - e^{i\eta}| \right)$$

satisfies the property that $\partial_{\rho_1} G_1(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta) = \frac{\rho_2}{\rho_1} \partial_{\rho_2} G_1(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta)$, and owing to (1.11), (5.1) and the following fact (see e.g. 4.397 of [42])

1,

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \log(1 - 2a\cos\eta + a^2)\cos(n\eta)d\eta = -\frac{2\pi}{n}a^n, \quad |a| < \int_{0}^{2\pi} \log(1 - 2a\cos\eta + a^2)d\eta = 0, \quad |a| \le 1,$$

we obtain through integration by parts

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{n,b} &= \frac{n-1}{2n} - b^{-1} \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^b \partial_{\rho_1} G_1(b,0,\rho,\eta) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta - \int_0^{2\pi} G_1(b,0,b,\eta) \cos(n\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &= \frac{n-1}{2n} - b^{-2} \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^b \partial_{\rho} G_1(b,0,\rho,\eta) \rho^2 \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta - \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log\left(b^4 + 1 - 2b^2 \cos\eta\right) \cos(n\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &= \frac{n-1+b^{2n}}{2n} - \int_0^{2\pi} G_1(b,0,b,\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta + 2b^{-2} \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^b G_1(b,0,\rho,\eta) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta, \end{split}$$

implying that

$$\Omega_{n,b} = \frac{n-1+b^{2n}}{2n} - \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log(b^4 + 1 - 2b^2 \cos\eta) d\eta$$
$$+ \frac{b^{-2}}{2\pi} \int_0^b \int_0^{2\pi} \log(b^2\rho^2 + 1 - 2b\rho\cos\eta) d\eta \,\rho d\rho$$
$$= \frac{n-1+b^{2n}}{2n}.$$

This formula coincides with the rotating angular velocity established in [23]. Direct calculation shows that $(\Omega_{n,1})_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ is strictly increasing, thus we can remove the restriction on m in Theorem 1.2 and recover the existence of m-fold symmetric V-states with $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ for the 2D Euler equation in the unit disc as in [23, Theorem 1].

5.6. **gSQG equation in the unit disc.** If we consider the gSQG equation in the unit disc \mathbb{D} with rigid boundary, it corresponds to the equation (1.1) with $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{D}$ and the stream function ψ solving

$$\psi = (-\Delta)^{-1 + \frac{\beta}{2}} \omega$$
, in \mathbb{D} , $\psi|_{\partial \mathbb{D}} = 0$, $\beta \in (0, 1)$.

Equivalently, ψ satisfies

(5.18)
$$\psi(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\frac{\beta}{2})} \int_0^\infty t^{-\frac{\beta}{2}} e^{t\Delta} \omega(\mathbf{x}) dt = \int_\mathbf{D} K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \omega(\mathbf{y}) d\mathbf{y},$$

where the Laplacian Δ is defined on \mathbb{D} with Dirichlet boundary condition. According to [56, Lemma 2.3], the spectral Green function K satisfies

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) + K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2})}{2^{2-\beta}\pi\Gamma(1-\frac{\beta}{2})}|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|^{-\beta} + K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}),$$

and $K_1 \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{D} \times \mathbb{D})$. In view of Lemma 2.4 of [56], $K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$ satisfies the assumptions (A3)-(A4). Hence, Theorem 1.2 can be applied in this case to show the existence of *m*-fold symmetric rotating patch solutions around trivial solution $\mathbf{1}_{b\mathbb{D}}$ (0 < b < 1) with sufficiently large *m*, which is one of the main result in [56]. On the other hand, by virtue of Lemma 6.6 and (5.18), we have

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^{\star}} x_{n,k}^{\alpha - 2} \Big(\phi_{n,k}^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}) \phi_{n,k}^{(1)}(\mathbf{y}) + \phi_{n,k}^{(2)}(\mathbf{x}) \phi_{n,k}^{(2)}(\mathbf{y}) \Big).$$

For $\mathbf{x} = \rho_1 e^{i\theta} \in \mathbb{D}$, $\mathbf{y} = \rho_2 e^{i\eta} \in \mathbb{D}$, and using the notation (4.1), we also have

(5.19)
$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = G(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^*} x_{n,k}^{\alpha - 2} A_{n,k}^2 J_n(x_{n,k}\rho_1) J_n(x_{n,k}\rho_2) \cos(n(\theta - \eta)).$$

Recall that in Subsection 2.2 the spectrum $\Omega_{n,b} = -V[0] - \Lambda_{n,b}$ with

(5.20)
$$V[0] = b^{-1} \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^b \left(\nabla_{\mathbf{x}} K(be^{i\theta}, \rho e^{i\eta}) \cdot e^{i\theta} \right) \rho \mathrm{d}\rho \mathrm{d}\eta, \quad \Lambda_{n,b} = \int_0^{2\pi} K(b, be^{i\eta}) e^{in\eta} \mathrm{d}\eta,$$

we can argue as [56] to show that

$$V[0] = -2\sum_{k\geq 1} x_{0,k}^{\alpha-2} \frac{J_1^2(x_{0,k}b)}{J_1^2(x_{0,k})}, \quad \Lambda_{n,b} = 2\sum_{k\geq 1} x_{m,k}^{\alpha-2} \frac{J_m^2(x_{m,k}b)}{J_{m+1}^2(x_{m,k})}$$

By using Sneddon's formula, Lemma 5.1 of [56] proves the strict monotonicity of $n \mapsto \Omega_{n,b}$ in either small b case or small α case, and it further implies the existence of m-fold symmetric V-states around $\mathbf{1}_{b\mathbb{D}}$ (0 < b < 1) in both cases.

5.7. **QGSW equation in the unit disc.** Consider the QGSW model in the unit disc \mathbb{D} with rigid boundary, and it corresponds to the equation (1.1) with $\mathbf{D} = \mathbb{D}$ and the relationship between ψ and ω can be expressed by

$$\psi = (-\Delta + \varepsilon^2)^{-1} \omega_{\varepsilon}$$

which denotes the unique solution to the following Dirichlet problem,

$$(-\Delta + \varepsilon^2)\psi = \omega \text{ in } \mathbb{D}, \quad \psi|_{\partial \mathbb{D}} = 0.$$

In order to describe the associated Green function, we need to solve the equation for every $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{D}$,

$$-\Delta_{\mathbf{y}} K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) + \varepsilon^2 K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \delta_{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{y}) \text{ in } \mathbb{D}, \quad K(\mathbf{x}, \cdot)|_{\partial \mathbb{D}} = 0,$$

where $\delta_{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{y})$ is the Dirac measure centered at the point \mathbf{x} . According to the spectral theory of elliptic problems, for example [28, Sec. 6.2 and Sec. 6.3], we infer that $(-\Delta + \varepsilon^2)^{-1}$ is well-defined and bounded from $L^2(\mathbb{D})$ to $H^2(\mathbb{D})$. In addition, we can split the kernel as follows

$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) + K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \quad \text{with} \quad K_0(|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \mathbf{K}_0(\varepsilon |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|)$$

and K_1 solves the elliptic problem

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{y}} K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) + \varepsilon^2 K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = 0, \text{ in } \mathbb{D}, \quad K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})|_{\mathbf{y} \in \partial \mathbb{D}} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \mathbf{K}_0(\varepsilon |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}|)$$

Since \mathbf{K}_0 is smooth except at $\mathbf{x} = 0$, by the classical regularity theory of elliptic PDE, we have that $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{D} \mapsto K_1(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$ is smooth for any $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{D}$. Following exactly the same argument in [28, p. 39], we find $K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = K(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x})$. Thus K_1 belongs to $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{D} \times \mathbb{D})$ and moreover the geometric properties (1.3) and (1.4) in \mathbb{D} can be easily checked by arguing as [56, Lemma 2.4]. Hence, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $b \in (0, 1)$, we can apply Theorem 1.2 to show the existence of *m*-fold symmetric V-states for the QGSW equation in the unit disc \mathbb{D} with *m* large enough.

On the other hand, according to the work developed on the unit disc \mathbb{D} , we actually obtain an explicit formula for K expressed by series in terms of the eigenvalue-eigenfunction pairs of spectral problem (6.20). According to the spectral theory of second order elliptic PDE, e.g. see [28, Sec. 6.5], the eigenfunctions $(\phi_{n,k}^{(1)}, \phi_{n,k}^{(2)})_{n \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^{\star}}$ in Lemma 6.6 form an orthonormal basis in $L^2(\mathbb{D})$ and belong to $H_0^1(\mathbb{D})$. Then via a simple calculation, we infer that

$$\psi(\mathbf{x}) = \int_{\mathbb{D}} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^{\star}} \frac{1}{x_{n,k}^2 + \varepsilon^2} \Big(\phi_{n,k}^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}) \phi_{n,k}^{(1)}(\mathbf{y}) + \phi_{n,k}^{(2)}(\mathbf{x}) \phi_{n,k}^{(2)}(\mathbf{y}) \Big) \omega(\mathbf{y}) \mathrm{d}\mathbf{y}.$$

Comparing with (1.2) leads to

(5.21)
$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^{\star}} \frac{1}{x_{n,k}^2 + \varepsilon^2} \Big(\phi_{n,k}^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}) \phi_{n,k}^{(1)}(\mathbf{y}) + \phi_{n,k}^{(2)}(\mathbf{x}) \phi_{n,k}^{(2)}(\mathbf{y}) \Big).$$

Similarly to (5.19), we find

(5.22)
$$K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = G(\rho_1, \theta, \rho_2, \eta) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^*} \frac{1}{x_{n,k}^2 + \varepsilon^2} A_{n,k}^2 J_n(x_{n,k}\rho_1) J_n(x_{n,k}\rho_2) \cos\left(n(\theta - \eta)\right),$$

with $A_{n,k}$ given by (6.22). Concerning the spectrum $\Omega_{n,b} = -V[0] - \Lambda_{n,b}$, in view of (5.20) and (5.22), and arguing as [56, Eq. (113)], we can show that

(5.23)
$$V[0] = -2\sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}^{\star}} \frac{1}{x_{0,k}^2 + \varepsilon^2} \frac{J_1^2(bx_{0,k})}{J_1^2(x_{0,k})},$$

and

$$\Lambda_{n,b} = \int_0^{2\pi} \bigg(\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^\star} \frac{1}{x_{\ell,k}^2 + \varepsilon^2} A_{\ell,k}^2 J_\ell^2(bx_{\ell,k}) \cos(\ell\eta) \bigg) e^{in\eta} \mathrm{d}\eta$$

(5.24)
$$= 2 \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}^*} \frac{1}{x_{n,k}^2 + \varepsilon^2} \frac{J_n^2(bx_{n,k})}{J_{n+1}^2(x_{n,k})}.$$

Interestingly, as the Sneddon's formula used in [56], there is also a suitable summation formula for (5.24). Choosing X = Y = b, $\nu = n$ and $\mathbf{z} = \varepsilon$ in the Kneser-Sommerfeld expansion (6.23), we obtain

(5.25)
$$\Lambda_{n,b} = \mathbf{I}_n(b\varepsilon)\mathbf{K}_n(b\varepsilon) - \frac{\mathbf{K}_n(\varepsilon)}{\mathbf{I}_n(\varepsilon)}\mathbf{I}_n^2(b\varepsilon).$$

As $\varepsilon \to 0$, noting that $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{x_{0,k}^2} \frac{J_1^2(bx_{0,k})}{J_1^2(x_{0,k})} = \frac{1}{4}$ (using Sneddon's formula, e.g. see [56, Eq. (29)]), and applying the asymptotics of $\mathbf{I}_n(x)$ and $\mathbf{K}_n(x)$ in (6.18), we deduce that the spectrum $\Omega_{n,b}$ in QGSW equation in the unit disc satisfies

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \Omega_{n,b} = 2 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{x_{0,k}^2} \frac{J_1^2(bx_{0,k})}{J_1^2(x_{0,k})} - \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \Lambda_{n,b} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1 - b^{2n}}{2n},$$

which coincides with the spectrum of 2D Euler equation in the unit disc.

The monotonicity of $(\Lambda_{n,b})_{n\in\mathbb{N}^{\star}}$ given by (5.25) for every $b \in (0,1)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ is a crucial property and seems not easy to achieve. Below, we show that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $b \in (0, b_*)$ with some small $b_* \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ depending only on ε , such a sequence $(\Lambda_{n,b})_{n\in\mathbb{N}^{\star}}$ is strictly increasing with respect to n. Notice that

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{n,b} - \Lambda_{n+1,b} &= \left(\mathbf{I}_n(b\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_n(b\varepsilon) - \mathbf{I}_{n+1}(b\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_{n+1}(b\varepsilon) \right) \left(1 - \frac{\mathbf{I}_n(\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_n(\varepsilon)}{\mathbf{I}_n(b\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_n(b\varepsilon)} \frac{\mathbf{I}_n^2(b\varepsilon)}{\mathbf{I}_n^2(\varepsilon)} \right) \\ &- \mathbf{I}_{n+1}(b\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_{n+1}(b\varepsilon) \left(\frac{\mathbf{I}_n(\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_n(\varepsilon)}{\mathbf{I}_n(b\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_n(b\varepsilon)} \frac{\mathbf{I}_n^2(b\varepsilon)}{\mathbf{I}_n^2(\varepsilon)} - \frac{\mathbf{I}_{n+1}(\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_{n+1}(\varepsilon)}{\mathbf{I}_{n+1}(b\varepsilon) \mathbf{K}_{n+1}(b\varepsilon)} \frac{\mathbf{I}_{n+1}^2(b\varepsilon)}{\mathbf{I}_{n+1}^2(\varepsilon)} \right). \end{split}$$

By using (5.13), (5.14) and the following fact

$$\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*, x > 0, b \in (0, 1), \quad \mathbf{K}_n(x) > 0, \text{ and } 0 < \mathbf{I}_n(bx) \leq b^n \mathbf{I}_n(x),$$

we deduce that

$$\frac{\mathbf{I}_n(\varepsilon)\mathbf{K}_n(\varepsilon)}{\mathbf{I}_n(b\varepsilon)\mathbf{K}_n(b\varepsilon)} \leqslant \frac{4n^2+1}{4n^2-1} \frac{\sqrt{n^2+(b\varepsilon)^2}}{\sqrt{n^2+\varepsilon^2}} \leqslant \frac{5}{3},$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{n,b} - \Lambda_{n+1,b} &\geq \frac{1}{4} \bigg(\frac{1}{\sqrt{n^2 + (b\varepsilon)^2}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{(n+1)^2 + (b\varepsilon)^2}} \bigg) \bigg(1 - \frac{5}{3} b^{2n} \bigg) - \frac{8}{17} \frac{1}{\sqrt{(n+1)^2 + (b\varepsilon)^2}} \frac{5}{3} b^{2n} \\ &\geq \frac{2n+1}{\sqrt{n^2 + (b\varepsilon)^2} ((n+1)^2 + (b\varepsilon)^2)} \bigg(\frac{1}{8} - \frac{5}{6} b^{2n} - \frac{40}{51} \frac{(n+1)^2 + (b\varepsilon)^2}{2n+1} b^{2n} \bigg). \end{split}$$

Thus, by taking $b \leq \frac{1}{2}$, and setting $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*} \frac{((n+1)^2 + (\varepsilon/2)^2)}{2n+1} \frac{1}{2^n} = C(\varepsilon)$, we deduce that

$$\Lambda_{n,b} - \Lambda_{n+1,b} \ge \frac{2n+1}{\sqrt{n^2 + (b\varepsilon)^2}((n+1)^2 + (b\varepsilon)^2)} \left(\frac{1}{8} - \frac{5}{6}b^{2n} - \frac{40}{51}C(\varepsilon)b^n\right).$$

Hence, there exists a small constant $b_* \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ depending only on ε so that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $b \in (0, b_*)$ the sequence $(\Lambda_{n,b})_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ is strictly increasing with respect to n. With this property at hand, and for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and $b \in (0, b_*)$, we can show the existence of m-fold $(m \in \mathbb{N}^*)$ symmetric rotating solutions around $\mathbf{1}_{b\mathbb{D}}(\mathbf{x})$ for the QGSW equation in the unit disc. This result is completely new, in contrast to the models discussed before.

6. Tools

In this section we shall collect some useful results used along the paper.

6.1. **Completely monotone functions.** This subsection is devoted to outlining some properties of completely monotone functions. We start with the following definition.

Definition 6.1. A function $f:(0,\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be completely monotone if it is of class C^{∞} and it satisfies

$$(-1)^n f^{(n)}(t) \ge 0 \qquad \forall t > 0, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The typical example is $f(t) = t^{-\alpha}$, with $\alpha \ge 0$. One can refer for instance to [79] for various examples of completely monotone functions.

The following result is fundamental in the theory of completely monotone functions. It gives a useful characterization through Laplace transform of Borel measure. For more details, see for example Theorem 1.4 in [79].

Theorem 6.1 (Bernstein's theorem). Let $f : (0, \infty) \mapsto \mathbb{R}$ be a completely monotone function. Then it is the Laplace transform of a unique nonnegative measure μ on $[0, \infty)$, that is,

$$\forall t > 0, \quad f(t) = \int_0^\infty e^{-tx} \mathrm{d}\mu(x) \triangleq \mathcal{L}(\mu)(t)$$

Conversely, whenever $\mathcal{L}(\mu)(t) < \infty$ for every t > 0, the function $t \mapsto \mathcal{L}(\mu)$ is a completely monotone function.

The next goal is to discuss useful pointwise estimates on completely monotone functions.

Lemma 6.1. The following assertions hold true.

(1) Let $f: (0, \infty) \mapsto \mathbb{R}$ be a completely monotone function. Then, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ we have

$$\forall t > 0, \quad t^n |f^{(n)}(t)| \leq (\frac{n}{1-\alpha})^n f(\alpha t).$$

(2) Consider $f:(0,\infty)\mapsto \mathbb{R}$ such that -f' is completely monotone. Then, we have

$$\forall 0 < t_1 \leq t_2, \quad 0 \leq f(t_1) - f(t_2) \leq (t_1 - t_2)f'(t_1).$$

Proof of Lemma 6.1. (1) By differentiation, we get

$$t^n f^{(n)}(t) = (-1)^n \int_0^\infty (tx)^n e^{-tx} \mathrm{d}\mu(x).$$

Now, we use the inequality

$$\forall s \ge 0, \quad s^n \leqslant \left(\frac{n}{1-\alpha}\right)^n e^{(1-\alpha)s},$$

in order to get

$$t^{n}|f^{(n)}(t)| \leq \left(\frac{n}{1-\alpha}\right)^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\alpha tx} \mathrm{d}\mu(x)$$
$$\leq \left(\frac{n}{1-\alpha}\right)^{n} f(\alpha t).$$

(2) Using the identity (2.17) yields for any a > 0 and t > 0,

$$f(t) = f(a) + \int_0^\infty \frac{e^{-tx} - e^{-ax}}{x} d\mu(x).$$

Let $0 < t_1 \leq t_2$, then

$$f(t_1) - f(t_2) = \int_0^\infty e^{-t_1 x} \frac{1 - e^{-(t_2 - t_1)x}}{x} d\mu(x).$$

At this stage we use the inequality

$$\forall s \ge 0, \quad 0 \leqslant 1 - e^{-s} \leqslant s,$$

which implies that

$$0 \leqslant f(t_1) - f(t_2) \leqslant (t_2 - t_1) \int_0^\infty e^{-t_1 x} \mathrm{d}\mu(x) = (t_1 - t_2) f'(t_1).$$

This achieves the proof of the desired result.

Next, we intend to discuss the propagation of higher regularity/integrability of completely monotone functions, that will be used later.

Lemma 6.2. The following statements hold true.

(1) Assume that f is a completely monotone function satisfying

(6.1)
$$\int_0^{t_0} |f(t)| t^\beta dt < \infty, \quad \text{for some } \beta \in (-1,\infty) \text{ and } t_0 > 0$$

then we have

$$\int_0^{t_0} |f^{(k)}(t)| t^{k+\beta} \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C_{k,\beta} \int_0^{t_0} f(t) t^\beta \mathrm{d}t, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

(2) Assume that f is a smooth function satisfying (6.1) and f' is with constant sign, then we have

(6.2)
$$\int_0^{t_0} |f'(t)| t^{1+\beta} dt \leq (1+\beta) \int_0^{t_0} |f(t)| t^\beta dx + |f(t_0)| t_0^{1+\beta} dx$$

Proof of Lemma 6.2. (1) By virtue of Lemma 6.1-(1) and the decreasing of f, we infer

$$\int_0^{t_0} |f^{(k)}(t)| t^{k+\beta} \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C_k \int_0^{t_0} f(\frac{t}{2}) t^\beta \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C_{k,\beta} \int_0^{t_0} f(t) t^\beta \mathrm{d}t.$$

Without loss of generality, we may suppose that f' is non-positive, then f is non-increasing. If $\lim_{t\to 0^+} f(t) < \infty$, then $\lim_{t\to 0^+} f(t)t^{1+\beta} = 0$. However if $\lim_{t\to 0^+} f(t) = \infty$, then f(t) > 0 for sufficiently small t > 0, and thus

$$0 \leq \lim_{t \to 0^+} f(t)t^{1+\beta} \leq \lim_{t \to 0^+} (1+\beta) \int_0^t f(s)s^\beta \mathrm{d}s = 0.$$

Using integration by parts we see that

$$-\int_{0}^{t_{0}} f'(t)t^{1+\beta} dt = -t_{0}^{1+\beta}f(t_{0}) + \lim_{t \to 0^{+}} t^{1+\beta}f(t) + (1+\beta)\int_{0}^{t_{0}} f(t)t^{\beta} dt$$
$$\leq |f(t_{0})|t_{0}^{1+\beta} + (1+\beta)\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f(t)|t^{\beta} dt,$$

which yields the desired estimate (6.2).

Next, we shall discuss a result which will be used frequently in the paper.

Lemma 6.3. If -f' is a completely monotone function on $(0, \infty)$ and f satisfies (6.1), then for any $\alpha \in [0, 1]$, $m, n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $t_0, c_1, c_2 > 0$, we have

(6.3)
$$\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f^{(m)}(c_{1}t)|^{\alpha} |f^{(n)}(c_{2}t)|^{1-\alpha} t^{m\alpha+n(1-\alpha)+\beta} dt \leq C \left(\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f(t)| t^{\beta} dt + |f(t_{0})| t_{0}^{1+\beta} \right),$$

and

(6.4)
$$\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f(c_{1}t)|^{\alpha} |f^{(n)}(c_{2}t)|^{1-\alpha} t^{n(1-\alpha)+\beta} \mathrm{d}t \leq C \bigg(\int_{0}^{(c_{1}\vee1)t_{0}} |f(t)|t^{\beta} \mathrm{d}t + |f(t_{0})|t_{0}^{1+\beta} \bigg),$$

with $c_1 \vee 1 \triangleq \max\{c_1, 1\}$ and the constant C > 0 depends on $m, n, \alpha, \beta, c_1, c_2$. Proof of Lemma 6.3. First, by virtue of Lemma 6.2, we have that for $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$,

(6.5)
$$\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f^{(k)}(t)| t^{k+\beta} \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C \int_{0}^{t_{0}} \left(-f'(t) \right) t^{1+\beta} \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C \left(\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f(t)| t^{\beta} \mathrm{d}t + t_{0}^{1+\beta} |f(t_{0})| \right).$$

Since $(-1)^k f^{(k)}$ is non-negative and non-increasing, then we get for $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $c_1 > 0$,

(6.6)
$$\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f^{(k)}(c_{1}t)| t^{k+\beta} dt \leq \begin{cases} \int_{0}^{t_{0}} (-1)^{k} f^{(k)}(t) t^{k+\beta} dt, & \text{if } c_{1} \geq 1, \\ c_{1}^{-k-1-\beta} \int_{0}^{c_{1}t_{0}} (-1)^{k} f^{(k)}(t) t^{k+\beta} dt, & \text{if } c_{1} \leq 1, \end{cases}$$
$$\leq \max\left\{1, c_{1}^{-k-1-\beta}\right\} \int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f^{(k)}(t)| t^{k+\beta} dt,$$

and

$$\int_0^{t_0} |f(c_1t)| t^\beta \mathrm{d}t = c_1^{\beta-1} \int_0^{c_1t_0} |f(t)| t^\beta \mathrm{d}t.$$

Choosing $c = \frac{1}{2} \min\{c_1, c_2\}$, by Lemma 6.1-(1) and the fact that |f'(t)| is non-increasing, we have

$$|f^{(m)}(c_1t)|^{\alpha}|f^{(n)}(c_2t)|^{1-\alpha}t^{m\alpha+n(1-\alpha)+\beta} \leq C_{m,n}|f'(ct)|t^{\beta}$$

Then (6.3) is a consequence of (6.5) and (6.6).

Now, we move to the proof of (6.4). Using Hölder's inequality and Lemma 6.1, we can deduce that for every $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f(c_{1}t)|^{\alpha} |f^{(n)}(c_{2}t)|^{1-\alpha} t^{n(1-\alpha)+\beta} \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leqslant \left(\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f(c_{1}t)t^{\beta}| \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\alpha} \left(\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f^{(n)}(c_{2}t)| t^{n+\beta} \mathrm{d}t\right)^{1-\alpha} \\ &\leqslant C \left(\int_{0}^{c_{1}t_{0}} |f(t)| t^{\beta} \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\alpha} \left(\int_{0}^{t_{0}} |f^{(n)}(t)| t^{n+\beta} \mathrm{d}t\right)^{1-\alpha} \\ &\leqslant C \left(|t_{0}^{1+\beta}f(t_{0})| + \int_{0}^{(c_{1}\vee1)t_{0}} |f(t)t^{\beta}| \mathrm{d}t\right), \end{split}$$

which corresponds to (6.4).

6.2. Boundedness property of some operators on the torus. In this subsection, we give useful estimates for the following integral operator

(6.7)
$$\mathcal{T}f(\theta) \triangleq \int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathbb{K}(\theta, \eta) f(\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta,$$

where $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ is the torus, $\mathbb{K} : \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{C}$ is the kernel function, and f is a 2π -periodic function.

Lemma 6.4. Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Assume the existence of C > 0 and functions $H_1(\cdot), \cdots, H_{n+1}(\cdot)$ satisfying

(6.8)
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} H_k(\left|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}\right|) \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant C, \quad \forall k = 1, 2, \cdots, n, \\ \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left|H_n(\left|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}\right|)\right|^{\alpha} \left|H_{n+1}(\left|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}\right|)\right|^{1-\alpha} \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant C,$$

such that $\mathbb{K}: \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfy the following properties.

(1) \mathbb{K} is measurable on $\mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T} \setminus \{(\theta, \theta), \theta \in \mathbb{T}\}$ and

$$|\mathbb{K}(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \leq H_1(|\sin \frac{\eta}{2}|).$$

(2) For each $\eta \in \mathbb{T}$, the mapping $\theta \mapsto \mathbb{K}(\theta, \theta + \eta)$ is n-times differentiable in \mathbb{T} and

$$\partial_{\theta}^{k} (\mathbb{K}(\theta, \theta + \eta)) | \leq H_{k+1} (|\sin \frac{\eta}{2}|), \quad \forall k = 1, \cdots, n.$$

Then the linear integral operator \mathcal{T} given by (6.7) is continuous from $C^{n-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$ to $C^{n-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$ and (6.9) $\|\mathcal{T}f\|_{C^{n-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})} \leq C_n C\|f\|_{C^{n-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})}.$

Proof of Lemma 6.4. The proof is by the induction method. Making change of variables gives

(6.10)
$$\mathcal{T}f(\theta) = \int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathbb{K}(\theta, \theta + \eta) f(\theta + \eta) \mathrm{d}\eta$$

First, we start with the case n = 1. From (6.8) we have

$$\mathcal{T}f(\theta) \leq ||f||_{L^{\infty}} \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\mathbb{K}(\theta, \theta + \eta)| \mathrm{d}\eta$$

$$\leqslant \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_{\mathbb{T}} H_1(\left|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}\right|) \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant C \|f\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

By using interpolation inequalities together with the mean value theorem, we infer

$$\begin{split} &|\mathbb{K}(\theta_{1},\theta_{1}+\eta)-\mathbb{K}(\theta_{2},\theta_{2}+\eta)|\\ &\leqslant \left(|\mathbb{K}(\theta_{1},\theta_{1}+\eta)|^{\alpha}+|\mathbb{K}(\theta_{2},\theta_{2}+\eta)|^{\alpha}\right)|\mathbb{K}(\theta_{1},\theta_{1}+\eta)-\mathbb{K}(\theta_{2},\theta_{2}+\eta)|^{1-\alpha}\\ &\leqslant \left(|\mathbb{K}(\theta_{1},\theta_{1}+\eta)|^{\alpha}+|\mathbb{K}(\theta_{2},\theta_{2}+\eta)|^{\alpha}\right)\left(\int_{0}^{1}\left|\partial_{\theta_{\tau}}\left(\mathbb{K}(\theta_{\tau},\theta_{\tau}+\eta)\right)\left|\mathrm{d}\tau\right)^{1-\alpha}|\theta_{1}-\theta_{2}|^{1-\alpha}\right.\\ &\leqslant 2\left|H_{1}\left(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|\right)\right|^{\alpha}\left|H_{2}\left(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|\right)\right|^{1-\alpha}|\theta_{1}-\theta_{2}|^{1-\alpha}, \end{split}$$

with $\theta_{\tau} = \tau \theta_1 + (1 - \tau) \theta_2$. It follows that

$$\mathcal{T}f(\theta_1) - \mathcal{T}f(\theta_2) \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\mathbb{K}(\theta_1, \theta_1 + \eta)| |f(\theta_1 + \eta) - f(\theta_2 + \eta)| d\eta$$
$$+ \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\mathbb{K}(\theta_1, \theta_1 + \eta) - \mathbb{K}(\theta_2, \theta_2 + \eta)| f(\theta_2 + \eta) d\eta.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{T}f(\theta_1) - \mathcal{T}f(\theta_2)| &\leq |\theta_1 - \theta_2|^{1-\alpha} \|f\|_{C^{1-\alpha}} \int_{\mathbb{T}} H_1(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|) d\eta \\ &+ 2|\theta_1 - \theta_2|^{1-\alpha} \|f\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{T}} |H_1(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|)|^{\alpha} |H_2(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}|)|^{1-\alpha} d\eta \\ &\leq 2C|\theta_1 - \theta_2|^{1-\alpha} \|f\|_{C^{1-\alpha}}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, combining the above estimates yields the desired inequality (6.9) with n = 1. Now assuming that Lemma 6.4 is true for n = j and for the operator \mathcal{T} given by (6.10), we prove that it also holds for n = j + 1. Observe that

(6.11)
$$\partial_{\theta}(\mathcal{T}f)(\theta) = \int_{\mathbb{T}} \partial_{\theta}(\mathbb{K}(\theta, \theta + \eta))f(\theta + \eta)d\eta + \int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathbb{K}(\theta, \theta + \eta)\partial_{\theta}f(\theta + \eta)d\eta.$$

In view of the fact that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| H_j \left(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}| \right) \right|^{\alpha} \left| H_{j+1} \left(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}| \right) \right|^{1-\alpha} \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| H_j \left(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}| \right) \left| \mathrm{d}\eta + \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| H_{j+1} \left(|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}| \right) \right| \mathrm{d}\eta \leqslant C,$$

and by the inductive hypothesis, we have $\|\mathcal{T}(f)\|_{C^{j-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})} \leq C_j C \|f\|_{C^{j-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})}$ and

$$\left\|\int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathbb{K}(\theta, \theta+\eta) \partial_{\theta} f(\theta+\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta\right\|_{C^{j-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})} = \|\mathcal{T}(\partial_{\eta} f)\|_{C^{j-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})} \leqslant C_j C \|f\|_{C^{j+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})}.$$

Noting that $\widetilde{\mathbb{K}}(\theta, \theta + \eta) = \partial_{\theta}(\mathbb{K}(\theta, \theta + \eta))$ satisfies

$$\left|\partial_{\theta}^{k}\widetilde{\mathbb{K}}(\theta,\theta+\eta)\right| \leqslant H_{k+2}\left(\left|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}\right|\right) \triangleq \widetilde{H}_{k+1}\left(\left|\sin\frac{\eta}{2}\right|\right), \quad \forall k=0,1,\cdots,j,$$

and \widetilde{H}_k $(k = 1, 2, \dots, j+1)$ satisfies (6.8) with n = j and \widetilde{H}_k in place of H_k , we use the induction hypothesis to deduce that

$$\left\|\int_{\mathbb{T}} \partial_{\theta} (\mathbb{K}(\theta, \theta + \eta)) f(\theta + \eta) \mathrm{d}\eta\right\|_{C^{j-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})} = \left\|\int_{\mathbb{T}} \widetilde{\mathbb{K}}(\theta, \theta + \eta) f(\theta + \eta) \mathrm{d}\eta\right\|_{C^{j-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})} \leq C_j C \|f\|_{C^{j-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})}.$$

Hence, we prove that

$$\|\mathcal{T}f\|_{C^{j+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})} = \|\mathcal{T}f\|_{C^{j-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})} + \|\partial_{\theta}\mathcal{T}f\|_{C^{j-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})} \leqslant 3C_{j}C\|f\|_{C^{j+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{T})}.$$

The induction method guarantees that Lemma 6.4 holds for every $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. \Box

In the study of the linearized operator done before, we used the following Mikhlin multiplier type theorem for an operator defined on a periodic function, see for instance [3, Theorem 4.5].

Lemma 6.5. Given $\{a_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$ and $h\in L^1(\mathbb{T})$, and define the operator

$$Th(\theta) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} a_n \widehat{h}(n) e^{in\theta}$$

where $\hat{h}(n) = \int_{\mathbb{T}} h(\theta) e^{-in\theta} d\theta$ is the n-th Fourier coefficient of h. Assume that $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} |a_n| < \infty$, and $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} |n(a_{n+1} - a_n)| < \infty$, then the operator T is bounded in $C^{k+\alpha}(\mathbb{T})$, for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1)$.

6.3. Bessel functions and Hankel transform. In this subsection we collect some useful properties about Bessel functions and Hankel transform. We recall for instance from [87, Chapter 3] that

(6.12)
$$J_{\nu}(\mathbf{z}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n (\frac{\mathbf{z}}{2})^{\nu+2n}}{n! (\Gamma(\nu+n+1))}, \quad \forall \mathbf{z}, \nu \in \mathbb{C}.$$

(6.13)
$$J_{\nu-1}(\mathbf{z}) - J_{\nu+1}(\mathbf{z}) = 2J'_{\nu}(\mathbf{z}), \quad \forall \mathbf{z}, \nu \in \mathbb{C},$$

(6.14)
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{z}}(\mathbf{z}^{\nu}J_{\nu}(\mathbf{z})) = \mathbf{z}^{\nu}J_{\nu-1}(\mathbf{z}), \quad \forall \mathbf{z}, \nu \in \mathbb{C}.$$

In particular, when $\nu = n$ is an integer, then we have according to [87, Chapter 2]

$$J_n(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \cos(n\theta - \mathbf{z}\sin\theta) d\theta, \quad \forall \mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{C},$$

$$J_{-n}(\mathbf{z}) = (-1)^n J_n(\mathbf{z}), \quad \forall \mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{C}.$$

Next, we shall introduce Bessel functions of imaginary argument also called modified Bessel functions of first and second kind, see for instance [71, p. 66],

(6.15)
$$\mathbf{I}_{\nu}(\mathbf{z}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left(\frac{\mathbf{z}}{2}\right)^{\nu+2n}}{n!\Gamma(\nu+n+1)}, \quad \nu \in \mathbb{C}, \, |\mathrm{arg}(\mathbf{z})| < \pi$$

and

$$\mathbf{K}_{\nu}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{\mathbf{I}_{-\nu}(\mathbf{z}) - \mathbf{I}_{\nu}(\mathbf{z})}{\sin(\nu\pi)}, \quad \nu \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}, \, |\arg(\mathbf{z})| < \pi.$$

When $\nu = j \in \mathbb{Z}$, \mathbf{K}_j is defined through the formula $\mathbf{K}_j(\mathbf{z}) = \lim_{\nu \to j} \mathbf{K}_{\nu}(\mathbf{z})$. From [42, 8.432.1], we recall the following integral representation

(6.16)
$$\mathbf{K}_{\nu}(\mathbf{z}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\mathbf{z}\cosh s} \cosh(\nu s) \mathrm{d}s, \quad \forall \nu \in \mathbb{C}, \, |\mathrm{arg}(\mathbf{z})| < \frac{\pi}{2}.$$

Another useful identity that can be found in [42, 8.432.3] deals with the representation in terms of Laplace transform,

(6.17)
$$\mathbf{K}_{\nu}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{\left(\frac{\mathbf{z}}{2}\right)^{\nu} \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(\nu + \frac{1}{2})} \int_{1}^{\infty} e^{-s\mathbf{z}} (s^{2} - 1)^{\nu - \frac{1}{2}} \mathrm{d}s > 0, \quad \operatorname{Re}\left(\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right) > 0, \, |\operatorname{arg}(\mathbf{z})| < \frac{\pi}{2}.$$

For $\mathbf{I}_n(x)$ and $\mathbf{K}_n(x)$, we have the asymptotic expansion of small argument (e.g. see [1, p. 375])

(6.18)
$$\forall n \in \mathbb{N}^{\star}, \quad \mathbf{I}_n(x) \stackrel{x \to 0}{\sim} \frac{(\frac{1}{2}x)^n}{\Gamma(n+1)}, \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{K}_n(x) \stackrel{x \to 0}{\sim} \frac{\Gamma(n)}{2(\frac{1}{2}x)^n}$$

The following Nicholson's integral representation of $\mathbf{I}_n(\mathbf{z})\mathbf{K}_n(\mathbf{z})$ is useful in the sequel, see for instance [87, p. 441]. For $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

(6.19)
$$\mathbf{I}_n(\mathbf{z})\mathbf{K}_n(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{2(-1)^n}{\pi} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \mathbf{K}_0(2\mathbf{z}\cos\theta)\cos(2n\theta)d\theta.$$

The following useful result states that the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of the spectral Laplacian $-\Delta$ on the unit disc $\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ have precise expression formula through Bessel functions (e.g. see Section 5.5 of Chapter V in [20]).

Lemma 6.6. The eigenvalues and the eigenfunctions solving the spectral problem

(6.20) for
$$j \ge 1$$
, $-\Delta \phi_j = \lambda_j \phi_j$, $\phi_j|_{\partial \mathbb{D}} = 0$, $\int_{\mathbb{D}} \phi_j^2(x) dx = 1$

are described by double index families $(\lambda_{n,k})_{n\in\mathbb{N},k\in\mathbb{N}^{\star}}$ and $\left((\phi_{n,k}^{(1)},\phi_{n,k}^{(2)})\right)_{n\in\mathbb{N},k\in\mathbb{N}^{\star}}$ such that

(6.21) $\lambda_{n,k} = x_{n,k}^2, \quad \phi_{n,k}^{(1)}(x) = J_n(x_{n,k}|x|)A_{n,k}\cos(n\theta), \quad \phi_{n,k}^{(2)}(x) = J_n(x_{n,k}|x|)A_{n,k}\sin(n\theta),$ where

(6.22)
$$\pi A_{0,k}^2 = \frac{1}{J_1^2(x_{0,k})} \quad and \quad \pi A_{n,k}^2 = \frac{2}{J_{n+1}^2(x_{n,k})}, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}^\star,$$

and J_n denotes the Bessel function of order n and $(x_{n,k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ are its zeroes.

We also have the following Kneser-Sommerfeld expansion (e.g. see [75, Eq. (12)] or [71, p. 134]) involving the zeros of Bessel functions:

(6.23)
$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\mathbf{z}^2 + x_{\nu,k}^2} \frac{J_{\nu}(Xx_{\nu,k})J_{\nu}(Yx_{\nu,k})}{J_{\nu+1}^2(x_{\nu,k})} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathbf{I}_{\nu}(X\mathbf{z})}{\mathbf{I}_{\nu}(\mathbf{z})} \Big(\mathbf{I}_{\nu}(z)\mathbf{K}_{\nu}(Y\mathbf{z}) - \mathbf{K}_{\nu}(\mathbf{z})\mathbf{I}_{\nu}(Y\mathbf{z}) \Big),$$

where $(x_{\nu,k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ are k-th zeros of $J_{\nu}(x)$ on the positive real axis and $\nu \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{-\mathbb{N}^*\}, 0 \leq X \leq Y \leq 1, \mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{C}.$

In what follows we shall discuss some basic properties of the Hankel transform, and we refer the readers for instance to [78, Chap. 9]. First, recall that the ν -th order Hankel transform of $f: (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined as

(6.24)
$$\forall r > 0, \quad \mathcal{H}_{\nu}f(r) \triangleq \int_{0}^{\infty} x f(x) J_{\nu}(rx) \mathrm{d}x.$$

This transformation is well-defined for example when f is piecewise continuous and subject to the integrability condition $\int_0^\infty |f(r)|\sqrt{r} dr$. Furthermore, under the following assumptions that f is of class C^2 and

(6.25)
$$\lim_{x \to \infty} x^{\frac{1}{2}} f(x) = 0, \quad \lim_{x \to \infty} x^{\frac{1}{2}} f'(x) = 0, \quad \lim_{x \to 0} x f(x) = 0,$$

we have

(6.26)
$$\mathcal{H}_{\nu}\left(\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}x^2} + \frac{1}{x}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} - \frac{\nu^2}{x^2}\right)f(x)\right) = -r^2\mathcal{H}_{\nu}f(r)$$

For $\nu > -\frac{1}{2}$, we also have

(6.27)
$$\mathcal{H}^2_{\nu}f(x) = f(x)$$

6.4. Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem. The Crandall-Rabinowitz theorem from the local bifurcation theory plays a fundamental role in our paper, and for the proof we refer to [21].

Theorem 6.2 (Crandall-Rabinowitz's theorem). Let X and Y be two Banach spaces, V a neighborhood of 0 in X and let $F : \mathbb{R} \times V \to Y$ be with the following properties:

- (1) $F(\lambda, 0) = 0$ for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (2) The partial derivatives $\partial_{\lambda}F$, $\partial_{x}F$ and $\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{x}F$ exist and are continuous.
- (3) $N(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and $Y/R(\mathcal{L}_0)$ are one-dimensional.
- (4) Transversality assumption: $\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{x}F(0,0)x_{0} \notin R(\mathcal{L}_{0})$, where

$$N(\mathcal{L}_0) = \operatorname{span}\{x_0\}, \quad \mathcal{L}_0 \triangleq \partial_x F(0,0)$$

If Z is any complement of $N(\mathcal{L}_0)$ in X, then there is a neighborhood U of (0,0) in $\mathbb{R} \times X$, an interval (-a, a), and continuous functions $\varphi : (-a, a) \to \mathbb{R}$, $\psi : (-a, a) \to Z$ such that $\varphi(0) = 0$, $\psi(0) = 0$ and

$$F^{-1}(0) \cap U = \Big\{ \big(\varphi(\xi), \xi x_0 + \xi \psi(\xi)\big) : |\xi| < a \Big\} \cup \Big\{ (\lambda, 0) : (\lambda, 0) \in U \Big\}.$$

References

- M. Albramowitz and I. A. Stegun, Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables. Vol. 55 of National Bureau of Standards Applied Mathematics Series, (1964).
- [2] W. Ao, J. Dávila, M. del Pino, M. Musso and J. Wei, Traveling and rotating solutions to the generalized inviscid surface quasi-geostrophic equation. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 374 (2021), no. 9, 6665–6689.
- [3] W. Arendt and S. Bu, Operator-valued Fourier multipliers on periodic Besov spaces and applications. Proceedings of the Edinburgh Mathematical Society, 47 (2004), no. 1, 15–33.
- [4] M. Berti, Z. Hassainia and N. Masmoudi, Time quasi-periodic vortex patches of Euler equation in the plane. Invent. Math., 233 (2023), no. 3, 1279–1391.
- [5] M. Berti, S. Cuccagna, F. Gancedo and S. Scrobogna, Paralinearization and extended lifespan for solutions of the α-SQG sharp front equation. ArXiv:2310.15963 (2023).
- [6] A. L. Bertozzi and P. Constantin, Global regularity for vortex patches, Comm. Math. Phys., 152 (1993), 19–28.
- [7] J. Burbea, Motions of vortex patches. Letters in Mathematical Physics, 6 (1982), no. 1, 1–16.
- [8] T. Buckmaster, S. Shkoller and V. Vicol. Nonuniqueness of weak solutions to the SQG equation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 72 (2019), no. 9, 1809–1874.
- [9] T. Burić and N. Elezović, Bernoulli polynomials and asymptotic expansions of the quotient of gamma functions. J. Comp. Appl. Math., 235 (2011), 3315–3331.
- [10] D. Cao, G. Qin, W. Zhan and C. Zou, Existence and regularity of co-rotating and traveling-wave vortex solutions for the generalized SQG equation. J. Differential Equations, 299 (2021), 429–462.
- [11] A. Castro, D. Córdoba and J. Gómez-Serrano, Existence and regularity of rotating global solutions for the generalized surface Quasi-Geostrophic equations. Duke Mathematical Journal, 165 (2016), no. 5, 935–984.
- [12] A. Castro, D. Córdoba and J. Gómez-Serrano, Uniformly rotating analytic global patch solutions for active scalars. Annals of PDE, 2 (2016), no. 1, Art. 1.
- [13] D. Chae, P. Constantin, D. Córdoba, F. Gancedo and J. Wu, Generalized surface quasi-geostrophic equations with singular velocities. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 65 (2012), no. 8, 1037–1066.
- [14] J.-Y. Chemin, Persistance de structures géométriques dans les fluides incompressibles bidimensionnels. Annales Scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure, 26 (1993), no. 4, 517–542.
- [15] P. Constantin and H. Q. Nguyen, Local and global strong solutions for SQG in bounded domains. Phys. D, 376/377 (2018), 195–203.
- [16] P. Constantin, and H. Q. Nguyen, Global weak solutions for SQG in bounded domains. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 71 (2018), no. 11, 2323–2333.
- [17] D. Córdoba, M. A. Fontelos, A. M. Mancho and J. L. Rodrigo, Evidence of singularities for a family of contour dynamics equations. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, **102** (2005), 5949–5952.
- [18] D. Córdoba and L. Martínez-Zoroa, Non existence and strong ill-posedness in C^k and sobolev spaces for SQG. Adv. Math., 407 (2022), Art. no. 108570.
- [19] D. Córdoba and L. Martínez-Zoroa, Non-existence and strong ill-posedness in $C^{k,\beta}$ for the generalized surface quasi-geostrophic equation. ArXiv:2207.14385 (2022).
- [20] R. Courant and D. Hilbert, Methods of Mathematical Physics. Vol. 1., Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, (2009).
- [21] M. G. Crandall and P. H. Rabinowitz, Bifurcation from simple eigenvalues. J. Funct. Anal., 8 (1971), 321–340.
- [22] F. De la Hoz, Z. Hassainia and T. Hmidi, Doubly connected V-states for the generalized surface Quasi-Geostrophic equations. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal., 220 (2016), no. 3, 1209–1281.
- [23] F. De la Hoz, Z. Hassainia, T. Hmidi and J. Mateu, An analytcal and numerical study of steady paches in the disc. Analysis & PDE, 9 (2016), no. 7, 1609–1670.
- [24] G. S. Deem and N. J. Zabusky, Vortex waves: stationary "V-states", interactions, recurrence, and breaking. Phys. Rev. Lett., 40 (1978), no. 13, 859–862.
- [25] F. De la Hoz, T. Hmidi, J. Mateu and J. Verdera, Doubly connected V-states for the planar Euler equations. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 48 (2016), no. 3, 1892–1928.
- [26] N. Depauw, Poche de tourbillon pour Euler 2D dans un ouvert à bord. J. Math. Pures Appl., 78 (1999), no. 3, 313–351.
- [27] D. G. Dritschel, T. Hmidi and C. Renault, Imperfect bifurcation for the quasi-geostrophic shallow-water equations. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 231 (2019), no. 3, 1853–1915.
- [28] L. C. Evans. Partial Differential Equations, 2nd ed., Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 19, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, (2010).
- [29] F. Gancedo, Existence for the α-patch model and the QG sharp front in Sobolev spaces. Adv. Math., 217 (2008), no. 6, 2569–2598.
- [30] F. Gancedo and N. Patel, On the local existence and blow-up for generalized SQG patches. Annals of PDE, 7 (2021), no. 1, Art. 4.
- [31] C. García, Vortex patches choreography for active scalar equations. J. Nonlinear Sci., 31 (2021), no. 5, Paper No. 75.
- [32] C. García, Kármán vortex street in incompressible fluid models. Nonlinearity, 33 (2020), no. 4, 1625–1676.

- [33] C. García and S. V. Haziot, Global bifurcation for corotating and counter-rotating vortex pairs. Comm. Math. Phys., 402 (2023), 1167–1204.
- [34] C. García, T. Hmidi and J. Mateu, Time periodic solutions for 3D quasi-geostrophic model. Comm. Math. Phys., 390 (2022), no. 2, 617–756.
- [35] C. García, T. Hmidi and J. Soler, Non uniform rotating vortices and periodic orbits for the two-dimensional Euler equations. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 238 (2020), no. 2, 929–1085.
- [36] C. García, Z. Hassainia and E. Roulley. Dynamics of vortex cap solutions on the rotating unit sphere. ArXiv:2306.00154 (2023).
- [37] C. García, T. Hmidi and J. Mateu, Time periodic solutions close to localized radial monotone profiles for the 2D Euler equations. ArXiv:2302.01279 (2023), to appear in Annals of PDE.
- [38] G.-M. Gie, M. Hamouda, C.-Y. Jung and R. M. Temam, Singular Perturbations and Boundary Layers. Vol. 200. Applied Mathematical Sciences. Cham: Springer International Publishing, (2018).
- [39] J. Gómez-Serrano, On the existence of stationary patches. Adv. Math., **343** (2019), 110–140.
- [40] J. Gómez-Serrano, J. Park, J. Shi and Y. Yao, Symmetry in stationary and uniformly rotating solutions of active scalar equations. Duke Math. J., 170 (2021), no. 13, 2957–3038.
- [41] J. Gómez-Serrano, A. D. Ionescu, J. Park, Quasiperiodic solutions of the generalized SQG equation. arXiv:2303.03992 (2023).
- [42] I. S. Gradshteyn, and I. M. Ryzhik. Table of Integrals, Series, and Products. Translated from the Russian. Translation edited and with a preface by Daniel Zwillinger and Victor Moll. Eighth edition. Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam, (2015).
- [43] Ph. Gravejat, D. Smets, Smooth traveling-wave solutions to the inviscid surface quasi-geostrophic equation. Int. Math. Res. Not., 2019 (2019), no. 6, 1744–1757.
- [44] Z. Hassainia and T. Hmidi, On the V-states for the generalized quasi-geostrophic equations. Comm. Math. Phys., 337 (2015), no. 1, 321–377.
- [45] Z. Hassainia, T. Hmidi and N. Masmoudi, KAM theory for active scalar equations. ArXiv:2110.08615v2 (2023). To appear in Memoirs Amer. Math. Soc.
- [46] Z. Hassainia, N. Masmoudi and M. H. Wheeler, Global bifurcation of rotating vortex patches. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 73 (2020), no. 9, 1933–1980.
- [47] Z. Hassainia and E. Roulley, Boundary effects on the emergence of quasi-periodic solutions for Euler equations. ArXiv:2202.10053 (2022).
- [48] Z. Hassainia, T. Hmidi and E. Roulley, Invariant KAM tori around annular vortex patches for 2D Euler equations. ArXiv:2302.01311 (2023).
- [49] Z. Hassainia and M. H. Wheeler, Multipole vortex patch equilibria for active scalar equations. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 54 (2022), no. 6, 6054–6095.
- [50] I. Held, R. Pierrehumbert, S. Garner and K. Swanson, Surface quasi-geostrophic dynamics. J. Fluid Mech., 282 (1995), 1–20.
- [51] T. Hmidi and J. Mateu, Bifurcation of rotating patches from Kirchhoff vortices. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 36 (2016), no. 10, 5401–5422.
- [52] T. Hmidi and J. Mateu, Degenerate bifurcation of the rotating patches. Adv. Math., 302 (2016), 799–850.
- [53] T. Hmidi and J. Mateu, Existence of corotating and counter-rotating vortex pairs for active scalar equations. Comm. Math. Phys., 350 (2017), no. 2, 699–747.
- [54] T. Hmidi, J. Mateu and J. Verdera, Boundary regularity of rotating vortex patches. Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 209 (2013), no. 1, 171–208.
- [55] T. Hmidi and E. Roulley, Time quasi-periodic vortex patches for quasi-geostrophic shallow-water equations. ArXiv:2110.13751 (2023). To appear in Mémoires de la SMF.
- [56] T. Hmidi, L. Xue and Z. Xue. Emergence of time periodic solutions for the generalized surface quasigeostrophic equation in the disc. J. Functional Analysis, 285 (2023), no. 10, Paper no. 110142.
- [57] D. D. Holm, J. E. Marsden and T. S. Ratiu, Euler-Poincaré models of ideal fluids with nonlinear dispersion. Phys. Rev. Lett., 80 (1998), 4173–4176.
- [58] D. D. Holm, J. E. Marsden and T. S. Ratiu, The Euler-Poincaré equations and semidirect products with applications to continuum theories. Adv. Math., 137 (1998), 1–81.
- [59] P. Isett and A. Ma, A direct approach to nonuniqueness and failure of compactness for the SQG equation. Nonlinearity, 34 (2021), no. 5, 3122–3162.
- [60] G. Kirchhoff, Vorlesungen uber Mathematische Physik, Leipzig (1874).
- [61] A. Kiselev and C. Li, Global regularity and fast small-scale formation for Euler patch equation in a smooth domain. Comm. Part. Diff. Equ., 44 (2019), no. 4, 279–308.
- [62] A. Kiselev, L. Ryzhik, Y. Yao and A. Zlatoš, Finite time singularity for the modified SQG patch equation. Ann. Math., 184 (2016), no. 3, 909–948.
- [63] A. Kiselev, Y. Yao and A. Zlatoš, Local regularity for the modified SQG patch equation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 70 (2017), no. 7, 1253–1315.
- [64] A. Kiselev and X. Lue, Illposedness of C^2 vortex patches. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal., 247 (2023), Art. no. 57.
- [65] A. Kiselev and X. Luo, The α -SQG patch problem is ill-posed in $C^{2,\beta}$ and $W^{2,p}$. ArXiv:2306.04193 (2023).
- [66] H. Lamb, Hydrodynamics. Dover Publications, New York (1945).

- [67] L. J. Landau. Bessel functions: monotonicity and bounds. J. London Math. Soc., 61 (2000), no. 1, 197–215.
- [68] G. Lapeyre and P. Klein, Dynamics of the upper oceanic layers in terms of surface quasigeostrophic theory. J. Phys. Oceanogr., 36 (2006), 165–176.
- [69] O. Lazar and L. Xue, Regularity results for a class of generalized surface quasi-geostrophic equations. J. Math. Pures Appl., 130 (2019), 200–250.
- [70] Y. L. Luke, The Special Functions and Their Approximations. Academic Press, (1969).
- [71] W. Magnus, F. Oberhettinger, and R. P. Soni. Formulas and Theorems for the Special Functions of Mathematical Physics. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, (1966).
- [72] A. J. Majda and A. L. Bertozzi, Vorticity and Incompressible Flow. Cambridge Texts in Applied Mathematics, 27. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, (2002).
- [73] F. Marchand, Existence and regularity of weak solutions to the Quasi-Geostrophic equations in the spaces L^p or $\dot{H}^{-1/2}$. Comm. Math. Phys., **277** (2008), 45–67.
- [74] C. Marchioro and M. Pulvirenti, Mathematical theory of incompressible nonviscous fluids. Vol. 96. Applied Mathematical Sciences, New York, Springer New York, (1994).
- [75] P. A. Martin, On Fourier-Bessel series and Kneser-Sommerfeld expansion. Math. Mech. Appl. Sci., 45 (2022), 1145–1152.
- [76] H. Q. Nguyen, Global weak solutions for generalized SQG in bounded domains. Analysis & PDE, 11 (2018), no. 4, 1029–1047.
- [77] A. Y. Olenko, Upper bound on $\sqrt{x}J_{\nu}(x)$ and its applications. Integral Transforms and Special Functions, **17** (2006), no. 6, 455–467.
- [78] A. D. Poularikas, ed. Transforms and Applications Handbook. The Electrical Engineering Handbook Series. Boca Raton Fla: CRC Press, (1996).
- [79] R. L. Schilling, R. Song and Z. Vondraĕk, Bernstein Functions: Theory and Applications. De Gruyter Studies in Mathematics 37. Berlin: De Gruyter, (2010).
- [80] S. Resnick, Dynamical problems in nonlinear advective partial differential equations, Ph.D.thesis, University of Chicago, 1995.
- [81] J. L. Rodrigo, On the evolution of sharp fronts for the quasi-geostrophic equation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 58 (2005), no. 6, 821–866.
- [82] E. Roulley, Vortex rigid motion in quasi-geostrophic shallow-water equations. Asymptot. Anal., 133 (2023), no. 3, 397–446.
- [83] E. Roulley, Periodic and quasi-periodic Euler- α flows close to Rankine vortices. Dynamics of PDE, **20** (2023), no. 4, 311–366.
- [84] R. K. Scott and D. G. Dritschel, Numerical simulation of a self-similar cascade of filament instabilities in the surface quasigeostrophic system. Phys. Rev. Lett., **112** (2014), Art. 144505.
- [85] R. K. Scott and D. G. Dritschel, Scale-invariant singularity of the surface quasigeostrophic patch. Journal of Fluid Mechanics, 863 (2019), Art. R2, pp. 12.
- [86] G. K. Vallis, Atmospheric and Oceanic Fluid Dynamics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, (2008).
- [87] G. N. Watson, A Treatise on the Theory of Bessel Functions. 02 ed. Cambridge Mathematical Library Series. Cambridge Cambridge university press, (1996).
- [88] V. I. Yudovich, Non-stationary flow of an ideal incompressible liquid. USSR Computational Mathematics and Mathematical Physics, 3 (1963), no. 6, 1407–1456.

IRMAR, UNIVERSITÉ DE RENNES 1, CAMPUS DE BEAULIEU, 35042 RENNES CEDEX, FRANCE *E-mail address*: thmidi@univ-rennes1.fr

LABORATORY OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPLEX SYSTEMS (MOE), SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, BEIJING NORMAL UNIVERSITY, BEIJING 100875, P.R. CHINA

E-mail address: xuelt@bnu.edu.cn

LABORATORY OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPLEX SYSTEMS (MOE), SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, BEIJING NORMAL UNIVERSITY, BEIJING 100875, P.R. CHINA *E-mail address*: zhilongxue@mail.bnu.edu.cn